
 
 

 
eastsussex.gov.uk 

CABINET 
 
TUESDAY, 15 JULY 2025 
 
10.00 AM COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, LEWES 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP -  Councillor Keith Glazier, OBE (Chair), Nick Bennett (Vice Chair), 

Bob Bowdler, Penny di Cara, Claire Dowling, Carl Maynard and Bob Standley 
 

 
A G E N D A  
 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 24 June 2025  (Pages 3 - 4) 

 
2.   Apologies for absence   

 
3.   Disclosures of interests   

Disclosures by all members present of personal interests in matters on the agenda, the 
nature of any interest and whether the member regards the interest as prejudicial under 
the terms of the Code of Conduct. 

 
4.   Urgent items   

Notification of items which the Chair considers to be urgent and proposes to take at the 
appropriate part of the agenda. Any members who wish to raise urgent items are asked, 
wherever possible, to notify the Chair before the start of the meeting. In so doing, they 
must state the special circumstances which they consider justify the matter being 
considered urgent. 

 
5.   Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning disability  (Pages 5 - 148) 

Report by the Director of Adult Social Care and Health 
 

6.   Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2024/25  (Pages 149 - 164) 
Report by the Chief Operating Officer 
 

7.   Any other items considered urgent by the Chair   
 

8.   To agree which items are to be reported to the County Council   
 

 
 
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Deputy Chief Executive   
County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent 
LEWES BN7 1UE 7 July 2025 
 
Contact Hannah Matthews, Governance and Democracy Manager,  
Email: hannah.matthews@eastsussex.gov.uk  
 
 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website and the record archived. The live broadcast is 
accessible at: https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/your-council/videos-of-council-meetings/webcasts

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/your-council/videos-of-council-meetings/webcasts


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet held on 24 June 2025 at Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Lewes 

 

PRESENT Councillors Keith Glazier (Chair), Councillors Nick Bennett (Vice Chair), 
Bob Bowdler, Penny di Cara, Carl Maynard and Bob Standley 

 Members spoke on the items indicated: 

Councillor Beaver  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Bennett  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Cross  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Collier  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Daniel  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Field  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Glazier   - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Hollidge  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Howell  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Maples  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Maynard  - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Swansborough - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
Councillor Tutt   - item 5 and 6 (minute 4 and 5) 
 
 

1. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 22 APRIL 2025  

1.1  The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 22 April 2025 were agreed as a correct 
record. 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

2.1 Apologies for absence were received for Councillor Claire Dowling.  

3. REPORTS  

3.1 Copies of the reports referred to below are included in the minute book. 

4. COUNCIL MONITORING REPORT - END OF YEAR 2024/25  

4.1 The Cabinet considered a report by the Chief Executive.  

4.2 It was RESOLVED to note the latest monitoring position for the Council.  

Reason  

4.3 The report sets out the Council’s position and year-end projections for the Council Plan 
targets, Revenue Budget, Capital Programme, and Savings Plan, together with Risks at the end 
of March 2025. 

5. RECONCILING POLICY, PERFORMANCE AND RESOURCES (RPPR) - STATE OF 
THE COUNTY  

5.1 The Cabinet considered a report by the Chief Executive.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



5.2 It was RESOLVED to: 

1) note the evidence base on demographics (Appendix 1 of the report) and the national 
and local policy outlook (Appendix 2 of the report);  

2) review the priority outcomes and delivery outcomes (Appendix 3 of the report) and 
agree these as the basis of the Council’s business and financial planning;  

3) agree officers update the Medium Term Financial Plan as the basis for financial 
planning when more information is available, as set out in paragraph 5 of the report;  

4) agree officers identify areas of search for further savings as set out in paragraph 5 of 
the report;  

5) agree officers update the Capital Strategy and programme (Appendix 4 of the report) 
as set out in paragraph 6 of the report; and  

6) receive reports on more detailed plans for 2026/27 and beyond in the autumn when 
there is more information about future resources. 

Reason 

5.3 The State of the County report is a key annual milestone in the County Council’s 
Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources (RPPR) process, our integrated business and 
financial planning cycle. The report provides an overview of the current operating context for the 
Council to begin the process of more detailed planning for 2026/27 and beyond. Alongside the 
2024/25 year end monitoring report, it reflects on our achievements over the last year and the 
challenges we expect in the year ahead arising from both local and national factors. This 
analysis helps us start to refine our plans and to guide our business planning and budget setting 
processes. 

5.4 Work will continue over the summer to refine our understanding of the medium term 
impacts on our services of national reforms, changing demand for services and the financial 
resources that will be available to us in the coming years. We will also develop proposals for 
closing the financial gap.  

5.5 We will report back to Members in the autumn with an updated assessment of our 
service demand, funding expectations and proposed actions to inform more detailed business 
and budget planning for 2026/27 and beyond. We will use our RPPR process to plan for the 
future as best we can in the context of the considerable uncertainty we face.  

5.6 Members will continue to be consulted on plans as they are developed through Cabinet, 
County Council, Scrutiny Committees, Whole Council Forums and specific engagement 
sessions throughout the 2025/26 Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources process. 

6. TO AGREE WHICH ITEMS ARE TO BE REPORTED TO THE COUNTY COUNCIL  

6.1 It was agreed that items 5 and 6 should be reported to the County Council.  

[Note: the items being reported to the County Council refer to minute numbers 4 and 5] 

 

 

Page 4



Report to:  Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 15 July 2025 

By:   Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

Title: Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning 
disability 

Purpose: To reconsider the decision made by Cabinet on 25 February 
2025 in relation to the future of the Linden Court Day 
Service, in accordance with the motion passed at Full 
Council on 20 May 2025 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Cabinet is recommended to: 

1) Note the significant work that has been undertaken in relation to Linden 
Court;  

2) Agree to retain a day service at Linden Court for Adults with Learning 
Disabilities, capped at the current, actual maximum occupancy level of 
25 adults per day; and  

3) Delegate authority to the Director of Adult Social Care and Health to 
agree revised session times (if required) for the Linden Court Day 
Service. 

 

 

1. Background 

1.1 Despite maximising lobbying opportunities and driving budgetary efficiencies 
and savings, across the whole council, for over a decade, the challenge of balancing 
need against available funding continues to increase.  

1.2 This ongoing tension means that we need to consider every possible option to 
continue to meet eligible need within the resources available, including those that 
would rather be avoided or will have a negative impact on our residents.  

1.3 The Care Act 2014 sets out the requirement to undertake planned, annual 
reviews for all individuals in receipt of adult social care services, including the adults 
and their relatives and carers who attend Linden Court.  

1.4 This requirement ensures we have a robust and up to date picture of current 
and future eligible need. We are able to use the insight, together with the nature and 
cost of the services and support that could meet those eligible needs, to plan 
provision and manage local markets as well as how needs are met for individuals.  

1.5 Having a clear understanding of eligible needs ensures we can meet them 
and also enables us to explore alternative, potentially more cost effective ways of 
meeting residents needs within the funding available. The regular assessments are 
the foundation of the approach we take and by their nature will sometimes reveal 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



changes in needs. Regular reviews as well as consultation on proposals for Linden 
Court have all provided valuable evidence to inform decision making.  

1.6 At its meeting on 25 February 2025, as part of the Council’s Reconciling, 
Policy Performance and Resources process, Cabinet considered a range of savings 
proposals relating to Adult Social Care and Health. This included a proposal to close 
the day service for adults with a learning disability provided at Linden Court, in 
Eastbourne, and to reprovision the services elsewhere including in the independent 
sector. As part of the proposal, it was recommended that the existing local authority 
day service at Beeching Park, in Bexhill, be expanded to accommodate adults 
currently at Linden Court and to establish a satellite service in Eastbourne for two 
days per week for up to fifteen individuals. Beeching Park already offers a satellite 
service in Hastings (from Working Wonders) and the Eastbourne satellite would 
operate in a similar manner. The Cabinet papers including the Equality Impact 
Assessment and Consultation Summary are contained in Appendix 1.  

1.7 Prior to the Cabinet meeting, a People Scrutiny Committee Pre-decision 
Board was held on 20 February 2025.  A summary of comments from that meeting 
were provided to Cabinet for consideration as part of their decision making process.  
These are set out in Appendix 2. 

1.8 At their meeting on 25 February 2025, Cabinet agreed to close current 
services at Linden Court and re-provision services as summarised above. 

1.9 On 4 March 2025, Cabinet’s decision on Linden Court was ‘called in’ by four 
members of the People Scrutiny Committee. 

1.10 The People Scrutiny Committee referred the decision to Full Council who 
considered a report from the Committee (Appendix 3) at a meeting on 20 May 2025.  

1.11 The People Scrutiny Committee recommended the County Council to: 

“consider the matter in relation to the decision made by Cabinet on 25 
February to close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning 
disability and merge it with Beeching Park day service and what action, if any, 
to take.” 

1.12 At its meeting on 20 May 2025 the Council resolved the following:  

“Council wishes to thank the parents and carers of the Linden Court 
Community for the work that they have done in surveying the families of the 
users of this facility and for presenting their findings to them. In light of this 
information and the possible increase in costs to the Authority should Linden 
Court close, Council resolves this facility should be kept open pending work 
with the families, to assess the cost implications and that the outcome of 
these be reported to Cabinet as part of its reconsideration.” 

1.13 This report provides Cabinet with: 

 an update on the further work undertaken with the relatives and carers of 
the adults attending Linden Court; and  

 further information in respect of the risks and financial modelling regarding 
savings and potential costs associated with the proposal for Linden Court.  

Page 6



1.14 As a result of this further work, a revised proposal for Linden Court is put 
forward for Cabinet’s consideration. In addition, the Equality Impact Assessment 
(EqIA) has been updated to reflect the revised proposal. This is set out in Appendix 
4. Cabinet Members must read and have regard to the potential impacts of the 
revised proposal when making their decision.  

 

2. Meeting with parents / carers of adults attending Linden Court 

2.1 In response to the motion passed by Full Council and the additional 
considerations and questions fed into the process, officers organised a meeting with 
relatives and carers of adults attending Linden Court, which took place on 17 June 
2025. 

2.2 41 invitations were sent to parents and carers of adults attending Linden 
Court. Of these: 

 23 people replied to say they would attend; 

 32 people attended on the day, including 4 adults who attend Linden 
Court; 

 21 adults who attend Linden Court were represented at the meeting. 

2.3 The purpose of the meeting was to: 

 discuss with parents / carers the costings and concerns set out in 
documents that had been sent to all Councillors (as set out in Appendices 
5 and 6) to better understand and explore these concerns; and  

 to address any other questions or concerns that relatives and carers had. 

2.4 In support of the meeting a presentation was created which addressed the 
areas of concern raised by some relatives and carers. The presentation was 
structured setting out information for each area of concern, with an opportunity to ask 
questions after each section.  The presentation is contained in Appendix 7. 

2.5 The meeting with relatives and carers was particularly helpful in gaining a 
more detailed understanding of their concerns and current thinking.  Whilst some of 
these concerns could be addressed by Adult Social Care and Health officers, there 
were others that might be expected to have a material impact on the current 
proposal for Linden Court.   

3. Key messages from Linden Court parents / carers 

3.1 The future of Linden Court has now been under consideration for nine 
months, since the start of the consultation process in September 2024. 

3.2 The outcome of the planned individual and carer annual reviews undertaken 
so far, suggest that many, but not all, of the paid and unpaid carers remain accepting 
of the potential for alternative day service provision to meet individuals’ eligible care 
and support needs, if Linden Court were to close. However, some relatives and 
carers, notably those of adults who attend Linden Court three or four days per week 
and require full time care at home – have told us that they believe the closure of 

Page 7



Linden Court would cause them to question their continued ability to care for their 
loved one at home.  

3.3 The closure of Linden Court would not, of itself, change the eligible needs of 
the adults attending or necessarily create a requirement for the greater use of long 
term residential care. However, some parents and relatives told us that the potential 
significant change in a key element of their support, combined with other external 
factors such as ageing, their own long term health conditions and carer fatigue has 
resulted in them re-considering their ability to provide full time care and support at 
home. Given the needs of some of the adults, if they were no longer able to be cared 
for full-time at home, the most likely result is that they would move into long term 
residential care. Whilst this might be expected to happen over time in any 
circumstances, some carers and relatives have indicated that the closure of Linden 
Court would most likely be the catalyst for them bringing forward this difficult 
decision.  

3.4 Three families have stated that they would cease to be able to provide full 
time care at home if Linden Court were to close and several others have indicated 
that this would be a significant consideration. The potential costs of the additional 
requirement for residential care for three or more adults significantly impacts on the 
estimated savings from the Linden Court proposal.  

3.5 In light of the protracted period of uncertainty and this information, alternative 
options have been considered, alongside the original proposal to close and 
reprovision the service.  

 

4. Financial impact of options for Linden Court 

Option 1 – Continue with existing proposal to close Linden Court 

4.1 If a final decision to close Linden Court was taken by Cabinet on 15 July, it 
would be expected that Linden Court would close at the end of October 2025.  The 
financial consequence would be that the 2025/26 part-year saving would be 
estimated as £136,000 - a £64,000 shortfall on the £200,000 estimate built into the 
2025/26 revenue budget.  The full year saving of £327,000 could however, be 
achieved from 2026/27. 

4.2 Proceeding to close any service involves completing adult and carer reviews 
and until these have been completed it is never possible to have a definitive position 
of who might move into a residential setting as an indirect result of the closure of 
Linden Court or what the exact costs of this would be. It now seems likely, given 
most recent discussions and reviews, that once completed, the increased cost of 
residential care will make the net savings from closure very marginal. 

4.3 A provisional estimated average cost of residential care for the high needs 
individuals currently attending Linden Court is in the region of £75,000 per person 
per annum; noting that this could vary significantly depending upon individual need. 
If three individuals moved into residential settings earlier, as a result of the closure of 
Linden Court, the estimated full year saving of £327,000 could be reduced by 
approximately £225,000.   

Page 8



 
Option 2 - Delay decision on Linden Court pending Individual and Carers 
Reviews 

4.4 A decision on Linden Court could be delayed until all of the adult and carer 
Reviews and Assessments have been completed and an accurate estimate of the 
alternative service costs, if Linden Court were to close, ascertained. Whilst this 
would give a clear picture of needs, intentions, savings and costs, a further delay in 
the decision would mean:  

 Extending the period of uncertainty for individuals and their parents / 
carers, increasing stress and anxiety and making it more likely that some 
families will make the difficult decision to cease providing full time care at 
home; 

 Have a further negative impact on the wellbeing of Linden Court staff.  It is 
likely that more staff will leave the service and it will be challenging to 
recruit to a service facing possible closure;  

 The timescales for the reviews and agreeing and costing revised Support 
Plans mean that it is unlikely that Cabinet would have the information to 
make a decision before November 2025.  If a decision was made to close 
Linden Court, closure would be expected in February 2026. Consequently, 
very limited savings would be realised in 2025/26, although there would be 
potential for full year savings to be realised from 2026/27 onwards. The 
process of reviews and support planning may identify the need for an 
alternative proposal to be put forward for Linden Court in November 2025, 
if the current anticipated savings were found to be unachievable. 

 
Option 3 - Retain Linden Court with reduced capacity 

4.5 The most viable option, which is now recommended, is to retain the service at 
Linden Court with a reduced capacity of 25 adults per day rather than the current 
maximum capacity of 45 adults per day. This reflects the current actual attendance 
at Linden Court, which is a maximum of 25 adults on any one day. If this option were 
pursued, it is likely that there would need to be some relatively minor adjustments to 
session times but not to the overall opening pattern, running across four days a 
week.  

4.6 As set out in Appendix 6, the relatives of some adults who attend Linden 
Court submitted an alternative proposal for retaining a service at Linden Court, 
based on reducing capacity to accommodate 30 adults. As part of reviewing the 
proposal submitted in Appendix 6, officers reviewed the estimated costings put 
forward in that proposal. These figures did not reconcile with the cost estimates that 
officers have identified. Nonetheless, whilst the proposal set out in this report is to 
retain a service with capacity for 25 adults, to align with current actual attendance 
rates, this has a high degree of alignment with the relatives’ proposal and would 
address many of the concerns raised by relatives and carers. Further information on 
this can be found in Appendix 5. 

4.7 Cabinet will recall that a similar approach to Linden Court was successfully 
applied to day services at Hookstead in Crowborough, as part of the Adult Social 

Page 9



Care and Health savings proposals agreed in February 2025. The service at 
Hookstead was retained but with a reduced capacity which better reflected actual 
attendance levels. Again, as achieved at Hookstead day service, ASCH is confident 
that if session times are slightly amended this can be done without disrupting 
existing routines for adults and their parents/ carers.  For example, whilst morning 
session start times changed from 09:00 to 09:30 at Hookstead, adults were still able 
to arrive at the centre and be supported from 08:30. 

4.8 At Linden Court, this option would deliver an estimated saving of just under 
50% of the planned savings, leaving a recurring shortfall of approximately £182,000 
per annum which will need to be managed within the Adult Social Care and Health 
annual revenue budget allocation.  

5. Conclusions and reasons for Recommendations 

5.1 The Council is legally required to set a balanced budget. As part of the 
2025/26 Reconciling Policy Performance and Resources process, a proposal to 
close and reprovision day services at Linden Court in order to contribute towards the 
required savings was subject to public consultation (from 3 October to 28 November 
2024). As a result of the feedback received through the consultation period, the initial 
proposal was amended to include a satellite service to be provided in Eastbourne. 
On 25 February 2025, Cabinet agreed to close the current provision at Linden Court, 
to reprovision the service at an alternative Council-run day service at Beeching Park 
in Bexhill (or, where more suitable, alternative independent sector provision) and to 
continue to provide a day opportunity in Eastbourne via the satellite service, which 
would help to minimise the impact of the proposal. 

5.2 Since February 2025, significant additional activity has been undertaken, both 
internally and with the relatives and carers of adults attending Linden Court, in order 
to ensure that the amended proposal would deliver the expected savings.  This 
included answering the key questions: 

 Are we confident that the proposal for Linden Court can deliver the 
projected savings? 

 Can we continue to meet eligible needs if Linden Court current provision 
closes, in ways that are feasible and without incurring additional cost such 
that it would negate the savings? 

 Is there an alternative option that could deliver the required savings? 

5.3 Although it is not possible to have a definitive view until all adult and carer 
reviews have been completed, recent work with relatives and carers has highlighted 
that the current proposal for Linden Court may not achieve the required savings. 
Although the closure of Linden Court would not of itself change eligible needs, 
relatives and carers have clearly stated that the extended period of uncertainty and 
the potential significant disruption to current care and support arrangements has 
caused them to re-evaluate their ability to continue to provide full time care at home.  
Three families have stated that they would not be able to continue to provide full time 
care at home if Linden Court were to close. Several other families have told us that 
they may not be able to continue to provide full time care if Linden Court were to 
close.  It is recognised that these are very difficult decisions for families to make. 

Page 10



5.4 The actual cost of residential care would be dependent on the specific needs 
of the adult.  However, using an estimated cost of £75,000 per annum for full time 
residential care for adults with a learning disability, it is clear that the forecast saving 
for Linden Court may not be realised as the costs of alternative service provision 
may be higher than in our current modelling. The estimated full year saving of 
£327,000 could be reduced by approximately £225,000 if three people moved into 
residential care, earlier, as a result of Linden Court closing. 

5.5 Cabinet is therefore recommended to note the work that has been carried out 
in relation to Linden Court and agree to retain a day service at Linden Court, but with 
a reduced capacity, so that Linden Court will accommodate a maximum occupancy 
level of 25 people per day. There is potential that slight revisions to session times will 
be required, but the service will continue four days per week, as per existing 
provision. Cabinet is recommended to delegate authority to the Director of Adult 
Social Care and Health to agree the session times, if any amendments are required. 
The recommended approach closely aligns with the proposal put forward by relatives 
of adults using the service and addresses the concerns that have been raised.  

5.6 This proposal will deliver a saving, albeit it will not achieve the full-year saving 
of £327,000 per annum set out in the original proposal. It is anticipated that this will 
leave a recurring shortfall of approximately £182,000 per annum which will need to 
be managed within the Adult Social Care and Health annual revenue budget 
allocation.  

 

MARK STAINTON 

Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

 

Contact officer: Frood Radford, Assistant Director Planning, Performance and 
Engagement  

Tel. No: 07552 289413 

Email: Frood.Radford@eastsussex.gov.uk   

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Linden Court Cabinet Papers 25 February 2025 

Appendix 2 – People Scrutiny Summary of comments for Cabinet 25 February 2025 

Appendix 3 – Report of the People Scrutiny Committee  

Appendix 4 – Linden Court Day Services Equality Impact Analysis   

Appendix 5 – The Linden Court Community Appendix to submission made for May 
20th 2025 Full County Council meeting 

Appendix 6 - Linden Court Relatives alternative projected scheme and costs 

Appendix 7 - Linden Court Parent Carer Meeting Presentation 17 June 2025 

Page 11

mailto:Frood.Radford@eastsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 25 February 2025

By: Director of Adult Social Care and Health

Title: Proposal to close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a
learning disability and merge it with Beeching Park day service

Purpose: To consider the outcome of the public consultation and to make a
decision on the proposal to close the Linden Court Day Service for 
adults with a learning disability and merge it with Beeching Park day 
service.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
Cabinet is recommended to:

1) Agree the proposal to close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a
learning disability in Eastbourne;

2) Agree to reprovision the existing Linden Court Day Service with the
Beeching Park Day Service for people with a learning disability in Bexhill
and to revise the days of opening and opening hours, as set out in
paragraphs 5.13 to 5.15 of this report;

3) Agree to establish a satellite day service in Eastbourne as part of the
Beeching Park Day Service offer, to be provided two days per week and to 
delegate authority to the Director of Adult Social Care and Health, in 
consultation with the Chief Operating Officer, to determine the final location 
for this satellite provision; and

4) Delegate to the Director of Adult Social Care and Health authority to take all
necessary actions to give effect to the above recommendations.

1. Introduction
1.1 Cabinet agreed on 26 September 2024 to launch a consultation exercise relating to the

potential closure of Linden Court Day service in Eastbourne, which provides services
for adults with a Learning Disability, and to merge this with the existing Beeching Park 
Day Service in Bexhill (the papers are available: here).  By expanding Beeching Park 
to open five days a week, and through maximising its current capacity, all adults who 
attend Linden Court Day service could be offered their day service provision at 
Beeching Park where this meets their assessed needs; or at alternative provision 
elsewhere where necessary. This proposal, as well as other potential service changes 
being explored by Adult Social Care and Health, is to help close the Council’s funding 
gap.

1.2 The consultation ran between 3 October and 28 November 2024. The impact of the
new funding settlement for the Council has been taken into account when making the
proposals in this report.

Appendix 1

Page 13

https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=5887&Ver=4


2. Background
2.1 The Linden Court Day Service is run by the Council and it is based in one of our

buildings in Eastbourne. The service currently has 19 members of staff, although there 
are some vacant posts. The staff are all employed by the Council.

2.2 The service delivers support to people with a learning disability and has several aims
including to:

• prevent social isolation;
• enable vulnerable adults to learn and maintain skills; and
• provide respite for parent/carers.

2.3 There are two sessions a day based in the building, from 9am to 12pm (known as ‘AM
sessions’) and from 12.30pm to 3.30pm (known as ‘PM sessions’) on Monday, 
Wednesday, Thursday and Friday, as well as a community based session from 4pm to 
7pm on Thursdays (known as ‘the twilight session’). The service has capacity to 
provide space for up to 45 people at each of the sessions. The service is closed on a 
Tuesday.

2.4 The building-based daytime sessions include art, cookery, music, sport, multimedia,
and gardening with some community sessions utilising the local library. Community
sessions include exploring the local area on public transport.

2.5 There are currently 44 people regularly attending the day service, with around 60% of
available spaces filled during day time sessions. The twilight session has low
attendance, with approximately 10% of available spaces filled. Some adults require a 
smaller, quieter setting as they struggle with large groups and noise, and Linden Court 
has been used to meet the support needs of such people.

2.6 The majority of people who attend the day service at Linden Court live at home with
their family. Most of them live in Eastbourne or the surrounding area.

2.7 If the proposal to close Linden Court Day Service is agreed, the Council will still have a
duty to meet the assessed needs of adults that use the service. The Council will
support all affected adults to access alternative day service provision. The proposal is, 
wherever possible, to support the adults attending Linden Court to access another 
Council Day Service, Beeching Park, in Bexhill, where they wish to do so.

2.8 Beeching Park day service is run by the Council and is based in Bexhill.  It has a
satellite provision, Working Wonders, in Hastings. The service currently has 32 staff
with few vacancies. All staff are employed by the Council.

2.9 Beeching Park has sessions across AM, PM and seven twilight sessions a week and
community based sessions utilising Working Wonders as their starting point. The
service is currently closed on a Wednesday.

2.10 The service at Beeching Park has the capacity in the building to support 85 adults a
day. There is an average attendance of 56 people a day and a total of 75 adults 
attending each week. By expanding Beeching Park to open five days a week, and 
through maximising its current capacity, all adults who attend Linden Court Day 
service could be offered their day service provision at Beeching Park.

2.11 Appendix 3 shows where the adults currently attending Linden Court live in East
Sussex. Noting that this shows data for 47 adults, 44 of which are regular attendees.

Page 14



3. The Proposal consulted on
3.1 The proposal consulted on was to close the Linden Court Day service for people with a

learning disability, and to merge with the Beeching Park day service, or to support 
people to access alternative services in the community.

3.2 The estimated annual revenue savings for a full year for this proposal are £327,000. 
3.3 To determine the potential savings we took the overall gross budget for the service

and subtracted any ongoing costs of providing alternative services. One-off costs,
including the costs of restructuring staff, have been considered in the context of the 
ongoing saving but not included in the figures presented.

4. Insight
4.1 An eight-week public consultation on the proposal ran from 3 October to 28 November

2024. We asked people for their views on the proposal and how they would be 
affected if it went ahead.

4.2 All the feedback received during the consultation is available within the Members’ and
Cabinet Rooms for Members’ consideration.

4.3 373 responses were received across the survey, consultation meetings and other
feedback methods.

Respondent method   Total
Survey   203

Email and letters   16

Consultation meetings (attendees)   154

4.4 The majority of respondents across all response methods disagreed with the proposal
to close the day service at Linden Court and find people places in alternative services. 
The table below shows how much survey respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposal:

Answer Number Percentage
Strongly agree 8 4%
Agree 5 2%
Neither agree nor disagree 8 4%
Disagree 9 4%
Strongly disagree 164 81%
Not sure 7 3%
Didn’t answer 2 1%

4.5 The full consultation results report can be found in Appendix 1, but the key messages
included the following themes:

• Linden Court is a vital service, and people are full of praise for the service and its
staff. It provides a safe environment and opportunity to socialise;

• Those who attend love seeing their friends and taking part in activities, while it
allows families and carers to continue in their caring role and to maintain their 
employment;

Page 15



• Family and carers are angry and worried by the proposal, which they feel targets
vulnerable people. It would be devastating if Linden Court closed and they want to 
know why Beeching Park isn’t being proposed for closure as there are alternative 
services in that area;

• Linden Court is a nicer building than Beeching Park and it is local to where people
live. It is also better able to support those who need a quieter service;

• Families and carers feel that Beeching Park isn’t a realistic alternative, with the
biggest concern being the journey, which would be much longer and more
complicated;

• People who attend the service are particularly concerned about being able to:
attend on the same days for the same sessions, and continue taking part in the 
activities they like and see their friends;

• The routine change would be very disruptive for people who attend the service, as
well as increasing the burden on families and carers. It would lead to poorer
mental health for those affected and could lead to more challenging behaviour;

• People’s needs wouldn’t be met and their links with their local community would
be lost. Future school/college leavers in the area wouldn’t have a local service 
they could transition to;

• Family and carers challenged the Council to provide detailed figures setting out
how the savings would be achieved and questioned how much would actually be 
saved due to the cost of providing alternative support, transporting people further 
to access support and the risk that people may have to go into residential care if 
there is no day service for them;

• People said the proposal should not go ahead and instead the service at Linden
Court should be enhanced and more widely promoted.

Equalities Considerations
4.6 In considering these proposals, Cabinet must have due regard to the need to:

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it,

as required under s.149 of the Equality Act 2010.
4.7 To better understand the likely impacts of the Proposal on those who have one or

more protected characteristics, an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been 
carried out, a copy of which can be found out in Appendix 2.

4.8 The responses from the consultation were used to inform the analysis carried out in
the EqIA. Cabinet members must read and have regard to the EqIA when making the 
decision about this Proposal.

4.9 The Equality Impact Assessment told us that all of the people accessing the services
included in the original proposals have a learning disability or have recognised
additional needs. Some people may have other complexities such as sensory 
impairment, physical disabilities and other health conditions which may impact on them 
further. A change in routine may cause adults anxiety and provide less opportunity for 
social interaction/ ongoing skills development.

Page 16



4.10 Carers of working age who are employed may be negatively impacted if they have
structured their working hours around day services at Linden Court. This may result in
carers not being able to maintain their current employment and potentially experience 
a reduction to their income. There could be a financial impact in terms of increased 
travel costs to Bexhill (although noting that where people attending Linden Court 
moved to alternative services, transport arrangements, where necessary, would be 
part of the Adult Social Care and Health support planning process).

4.11 All people who are affected would be offered an individual review to consider whether
their support package continues to meet their assessed needs. Considering carers’
respite will be part of these reviews.

4.12 The full equality impact assessment can be found in Appendix 2 of this report.

5. Revised Proposal
5.1 Our priority in Adult Social Care and Health is to meet our legal duties under the Care

Act. To help us to do this, we have identified funding areas that we think need to be 
protected when we are looking at savings options.

5.2 These priority areas are the community care budget, carers support services, funding
for the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector, and funding for
staffing frontline and care market roles.

5.3 While we recognise the importance of these services, the budget pressures we face
mean that we have to make difficult decisions about how we spend our money.

5.4 The pandemic reduced the number of people attending learning disability day services.
Since the pandemic ended, attendance has returned to previous levels at most of our
day services. Linden Court is the exception, where attendance levels remain relatively
low. For example, we currently have 44 adults using the service, but before the 
pandemic we generally had more than 60 people using the service. The service has 
therefore been used to provide a day service to adults who need a quieter 
environment.

5.5 Given the financial pressures we face it is important to get the best value from the
services we run. The fact that we can potentially accommodate everyone from Linden 
Court at Beeching Park means we can make savings by reducing both staff costs and 
building-based costs, whilst continuing to fulfil our statutory duties and meet people’s 
assessed needs.

5.6 For those who do not wish to move to Beeching Park, Bexhill, there are also
alternative day services in Eastbourne and other parts of the County that people could 
attend, please see appendix 4. This provision may be especially useful for those adults 
requiring a quieter environment.

5.7 The need to deliver day service provision whilst making significant savings informed
the proposals to reduce from the current four Learning Disability day services in the
County. With this in mind, Beeching Park in Bexhill offers a better location for a day 
service serving the east of the county, with the location of adults covering not only 
Eastbourne and Bexhill but spanning as far as Lydd in the east and Wadhurst in the 
North. In addition, Beeching Park has the capacity, along with Working Wonders, to 
provide a service for all adults attending Linden Court, should they wish to attend.

5.8 Nevertheless, the consultation responses have highlighted a number of potential
impacts for those currently attending Linden Court, and a number of alternative options
were proposed. Details of the alternatives proposed are including in the Consultation 
Summary in Appendix 1. Following the consultation, the Council has considered 
whether there is scope to retain day service provision in the Eastbourne area.

Page 17



5.9 Unfortunately, it is not possible to retain Linden Court as-is, or with reduced capacity
and/ or reduced hours of operation, and still achieve the required level of savings.

5.10 However, the savings can be achieved by having Beeching Park as the main day-
service provision offered to people living in the East of the County, but with sessions
also being delivered from Working Wonders in Hastings (as is currently the case) as 
well as an additional location in Eastbourne.

5.11 The Eastbourne location has not yet been confirmed. As a temporary measure the
existing building at Linden Court may be used as a smaller satellite centre, pending a 
long term base being established and whilst the future use of the Linden Court 
premises is being finalised.

5.12 Within the proposed staffing model and budget for Beeching Park, it would be possible
to deliver a service in Eastbourne two days a week, initially for up to 15 adults. Whilst
this wouldn’t accommodate all adults who are currently at Linden Court, this would 
reduce the potential disruption for some adults currently using Linden Court.

5.13 To ensure sufficient capacity at Beeching Park, if the proposal to close Linden Court is
agreed, it is proposed that the opening hours for Beeching Park be extended, returning
it to a five-day a week service (Monday to Friday). This would increase the number of 
adults who could be supported at the service by 25% (increasing the number of 
sessions available by 200). This would allow us to offer a place at the day service to 
everyone currently attending Linden Court, if the service can meet their assessed care 
needs.

5.14 Beeching Park would continue to offer three sessions a day. However, the timings of
those sessions would need to change to manage the increase in adult numbers.
Changing the times of the sessions would ensure people have the support they need
over lunchtime, as well as providing enough non-contact time for staff to do admin 
tasks and attend team meetings. We would continue to have a standard adult to staff 
ratio of five-to-one and provide one-to-one support to adults where they are assessed 
as needing this. Transport to the day service would continue to be provided by ASCH, 
as part of the adult’s support plan, where required.

5.15 The table below sets out the proposed changes to session times at Beeching Park:

Session name Current times Proposed new times

AM session 9am to 12pm 9.30am to 12pm

PM session 12.30pm to 3.30pm 1pm to 3.30pm

Twilight session 4pm to 7pm 4pm to 6.30pm

Adults attending Beeching Park would still be able to arrive from 08:30.

Page 18



6. Impacts and risks
6.1 This section explores the impacts and risks of going ahead with the proposal, including

those outlined in the EqIA.
6.2 Financial implications:

Current
Budget Revised Budget
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total Savings

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Expenditure budget 692 482 355
Income budget (40) (30) (30)
Net budget 652 452 325

Net savings  0 200 127 327
The calculation of the revised budget assumes that:

• Services will be provided at Beeching Park with an additional day of operation,
which form the basis of the revised budget;

• One-off costs to remodel the service will be absorbed in current ESCC budgets or
met corporately.

Page 19



6.3 The table below explores the potential impacts the proposal would have on the health
and care system, organisations, services and residents.

Health and care 
system

Organisations 
and services

All adults who attend Linden Court have an assessed eligible 
Care Act need and whilst the proposals are not a reduction in 
services, there would be a change to how services are 
provided.  This would have an impact on Adult Social Care 
and Health which will need to review all of the adults, 
alongside offering a carers assessment or review to unpaid 
carers.
The change in service delivery could impact on some adults' 
emotional wellbeing and there is a possibility this could 
increase demand on health settings, particularly specialist 
provision such as the Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust 
Community Learning Disability Team.

As above, the proposal could generate an increase in 
demand for health input.
If adults currently attending Linden Court choose to have their 
day service provision met somewhere other than Beeching 
Park, there could be an increase in demand for independent 
day service provision or for Personal Assistants. ASCH would 
work with adults and carers to identify Personal Assistants 
where possible.  It is anticipated that it would be possible to 
find personal assistants for the number of adults who choose 
that option.  However, where it is not possible to find a 
suitable Personal Assistant, ASCH would secure alternative 
provision to meet the adult’s assessed eligible needs (this is 
a statutory duty under the Care Act).
Some contributions to the consultation have indicated the 
closure of Linden Court could result in the need for alternative 
residential or supported living placements – were this to be 
the case there would be increased demand for social care 
providers who deliver those types of service.

Residents  The adults who attend Linden Court, and their parent/carers,
are East Sussex residents. This proposal has caused a
degree of anxiety already and, if agreed, could cause further
anxiety and disruption as the service provision would change.
This change could put additional stress on adults receiving a 
service and unpaid carers, for example:

• By impacting on their ability to maintain existing
routines and work;

• Increasing travel time to an alternative day service; 

• The emotional impact of managing this proposed
change;

• The potential that adults attending Linden Court are
no longer able to stay in their family home and require
an alternative place to live;

• Adults who require a smaller, quieter day provision
may not have their needs met.

Page 20



6.4 The main risks of going ahead with the proposal are:

• The alternative options for day provision do not meet the needs of adults
attending Linden Court due to location or the set-up of the service;

• For those choosing to attend Beeching Park there could be further disruption
through changes to the pattern of attendance. This can be a pressure for adults 
who may find change difficult, and parent/carers who may have pre-existing 
commitments;

• The pressure on unpaid carers could mean that some adults could not remain in
their family home. In this instance Adult Social Care and Health may need to 
provide a 24/7 service to meet these people’s needs;

• For some adults and their families there would be an increased journey time
where they choose to access Beeching Park;

• The estimated cost savings are not achieved as the result of the above.
Mitigation
6.5 To mitigate the risks identified above:

• The Day Service at Beeching Park is a good provision. The management teams
of Linden Court and Beeching Park work closely together, and they are confident 
they can meet the needs of adults attending Linden Court at Beeching Park;

• If agreed, the revised delivery model at Beeching Park, i.e. the satellite provision
in Eastbourne, will mean it is possible to reduce the need for a number of adults 
(approximately 15 adults) currently at Linden Court to travel to Bexhill, thereby 
reducing some of the stress the original proposal could cause;

• Through having a bespoke service to support the transition of adults with more
complex needs we can ensure they receive the level of service that they require;

• If the proposal is agreed, the staff at Beeching Park are committed to minimising
the disruption caused by a change of day service and would aspire to offer a like 
for like service where possible.

6.6 Even under the revised proposal, it is acknowledged that there will still be disruption
for people currently using the day services at Linden Court and Beeching Park. To
minimise this, the Council will put a team together for one year to support people in
adjusting and/or finding alternative independent provision if they either chose not to 
move to Beeching Park, or opt to move but the service provided is unsuitable for them.

7 Outline implementation plan
7.1 If the revised Proposal is agreed, as set out in section 5, the implementation plan will

look as follows:

• 25 Feb 2025 – Cabinet Decision.

• March 2025 - Adults reviews will commence and take place over a 4-week period. 

• April 2025 - As reviews identify alternative provision, adults will be supported in the
transition to their new service, either Beeching Park or an alternative service.

• June 2025 - Linden Court closes.
7.2 In addition, the property department will lead on identifying proposals for an alternative

use, or disposal, of the building.

Page 21



7.3 To ensure the timescales for delivering savings can be met, we have taken steps to
begin consulting staff affected by the proposed closure of Linden Court and the merger
with Beeching Park; however, the final proposals for staff consultation won’t be known 
until after Cabinet have made a decision on the future of both Linden Court and 
Beeching Park.

8 Conclusions and reasons for recommendations
8.1 The Council is required to set a balanced budget. The ‘State of the County’ report

presented to Cabinet in June 2024 set out a projected £55m deficit on the 2025/26
budget. Savings proposals requiring public consultation that would help to close this gap 
were presented to Cabinet in September 2024.

8.2 The total savings proposals for the Medium-Term Financial Plan for 2025/26-2027/28 set
out in November 2024 were £20.628m, across all Council departments. The Adult Social 
Care & Health (ASCH) contribution to the savings total is £11.455m. In addition to these 
savings proposals, in order to achieve a balanced budget, the Council is also drawing on 
its financial reserves.

8.3 The original proposals put forward were designed to contribute to the savings required
for the County Council. It is clear from the contributions to the consultation that the
proposal for Linden Court and Beeching Park is not welcomed, with the vast majority of
respondents disagreeing. We have considered all the feedback to the consultation and 
explored how we can modify and mitigate the proposal where possible to address the 
concerns raised.

8.4 Whilst it is recognised that closing Linden Court would cause an element of disruption
and potentially increase travel times for some adults that attend the service, and the
parent/carers involved, the alternative provision at Beeching Park would be able to meet 
the needs of most adults, with alternative options to Beeching Park being available 
where required.

8.5 As set out above, the Council will take steps to mitigate any adverse impacts of the
proposal, by offering bespoke support to adults with more complex needs to help them
manage this transition. This is designed to meet the specific needs of adults who would 
need additional support to access an alternative provision.

8.6 Cabinet are therefore recommended to agree to close Linden Court Day Service in
Eastbourne for Adults with Learning Disabilities. Cabinet are also recommended to agree
to merge the existing Linden Court Day Service with the Beeching Park Day Service for
people with a Learning Disability in Bexhill, and to revise the days of opening and 
opening hours of Beeching Park, to operate five days per week (Monday to Friday) 
between the hours of 09:00 and 18:30.

8.7 Cabinet are also recommended to agree to the establishment of a satellite service in
Eastbourne, which will operate as part of the Beeching Park Day Service offer, two days
a week. It is anticipated that this will initially have capacity to support up to 15 adults per 
week. If agreed, this would ease the impact for several adults and parent/carers, offering 
a flexibility to how their day service provision could be provided. In the interim, this 
satellite provision will be offered from the existing Linden Court site, but Cabinet are 
recommended to delegate authority to the Director of Adult Social Care and Health, in 
consultation with the Chief Operating Officer, to determine the final location for this 
satellite provision.

8.8 Cabinet are recommended to delegate to the Director of Adult Social Care and Health
authority to take all necessary actions to give effect to the recommendations set out in
this report and in order to deliver Adult Social Care and Health Reconciling Policy, 
Performance and Resources (RPPR) requirements.

Page 22



8.9 Cabinet members must read and have regard to the EqIA when making decisions related
to this proposal.

Mark Stainton
Director of Adult Social Care and Health

Contact officer: Richard Lewis, Head of Learning Disability Services
Tel. No:
Email: richard.lewisASC@eastsussex.gov.uk

Local members
Councillor David Tutt, Councillor Nuala Geary and Councillor Ian Hollidge

Background Documents
Consultation responses

Appendices
Appendix 1:  Consultation Report
Appendix 2:  Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix 3:  Map of Linden Court Attendees Locations
Appendix 4:  Map of Alternative Day Service Provision

Page 23

mailto:richard.lewisASC@eastsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



Appendix 1: Consultation results report

Linden Court and Beeching Park day services 

About this consultation

This consultation is about the proposal to close the day service at Linden Court and
find people places in alternative services. It started on 3 October and closed on 28 
November 2024.

Taking part in the consultation
The consultation survey was available to complete online and people could download 
printable versions of the standard and easy read surveys too. Emails, letters and 
feedback in phone calls were also accepted.

All of the consultations were promoted in our newsletters for residents, providers 
and staff. We also shared news stories with partners in the statutory and voluntary 
sectors to include in their newsletters for residents, organisations and staff.

General posters were shared with library teams and each affected service had a 
dedicated poster to put up in their service or building. Consultation meetings with 
those who use the service and their families and carers also took place.

The consultations were widely promoted in the local media and consultation leads 
talked about the proposals at relevant stakeholder meetings.

Who took part in the consultation
We received 373 responses to this consultation. The table below shows the different 
ways in which people took part. We also had 1 late email response received after 
the consultation closed.

Respondent method Total

Survey 203

Email and letters 16

Consultation meetings (attendees) 154

There were also 10 responses submitted by email or letter that addressed all of the 
consultations more generally. A general petition opposing the funding gap proposals 
for adult social care in the Lewes district was submitted by Lewes Liberal Democrats. 
It was signed by 100 people. This means it does not meet the threshold of 5000 
signatures which is required for the petition to be considered by Full Council. We 
are also aware of a specific petition about this proposal, although it hasn’t been

1

Appendix 1 of Appendix 1

Page 25



submitted to us. This had over 1,300 signatures when this report was finalised in 
January 2025.

People were given the option of answering ‘about you’ equality questions in the 
survey, with 57% of respondents choosing to do so.

• We had the most survey responses from people who attend Linden Court and
their families and carers (38%). Residents of East Sussex was the next biggest 
respondent group (25%), while Beeching Park attendees and their families 
and carers accounted for 4%.

• The age range of 45 to 54 years old was the top respondent group (12%),
followed by age 65+ (9%), although we had responses from most age groups.

• More women than men took part in the survey – 41% compared to 12%,
although 43% didn’t answer the question.

• 18% of respondents have a physical or mental health condition or long-term
illness.

• The proportion of carers taking part (26%) reflected the fact that the family
and carers of people using the services was the top respondent group.

• It is notable that 14% of respondents provide 50 or more hours of care per
week and 5% provide 9 or fewer hours.

Key messages

These key messages reflect the feedback received from organisations, groups and 
individuals across surveys, meetings and other feedback such as emails and letters.

• Most people strongly disagree with the proposal to close Linden Court and
find people places in alternative services, with only 6% agreeing.

• People are angry, upset and worried about the proposal, which they said
targets vulnerable people.

• People say it is a vital service and people say they will fight to save it.

• People are full of praise for the service and the staff, which they say
provides a safe environment and the opportunity to socialise.

• Linden Court is seen as being a nicer building than Beeching Park and the
service as being better able to support those who need a quieter service. 
Crucially, it is also local to where people live.

• Those who attend the service love seeing their friends and taking part in
activities. Families and carers say it is a lifeline, that allows them to
continue in their caring role, and to maintain their employment if they 
have a job.

• There was a strong feeling that closing the service wouldn’t lead to
savings, partly because of the cost of travelling to Beeching Park and
because it is likely that some would end up in residential care if their local

2

Page 26



day service closed. This would be much more expensive than keeping 
Linden Court open.

• People said more detailed financial information should be provided about
how the proposal was arrived at. They asked why Beeching Park wasn’t
being proposed for closure as there are alternative services in that area.

• It would be devastating if the service closed and people feel that Beeching
Park isn’t a realistic alternative for them.

• The biggest concern with Beeching Park is the journey. People say that it
would be a much longer and more complicated commute, with many saying
that it just wouldn’t work for their family. Some had already tried it out 
to confirm this.

• Change is hard for people who use the service, and if the proposal went
ahead the alteration to routine would be very disruptive for them. It would
also increase the burden on families and carers, some of whom said they 
wouldn’t be able to cope if Linden Court closed.

• People who attend the service say that they would have to attend on the
same days and times at another service as they have other commitments
they can’t move. They are also keen to continue taking part in the 
activities they like and are worried they wouldn’t see their friends at a 
new service.

• Closing the service would lead to poorer mental health for those affected
and could lead to more challenging behaviour. Even without the travel
issues, Beeching Park will be a busy service and won’t be suitable for 
everyone.

• People’s needs wouldn’t be met and their links with their local community
would be lost. Future school/college leavers in the area wouldn’t have a
local service they could transition to.

• The main suggestion was not to go ahead with closing the service and
instead enhance it and do a better job of promoting it.

• People said the money to save the service should be found by selling
unused buildings and cutting the number of service managers. They also 
suggested using volunteers to deliver the service.

Sample quotes

These comments are a small selection of the responses we received in the 
consultation. They reflect the key themes or offer a specific suggestion.

Organisation comments:

• Healthwatch East Sussex: “There is some inconsistency between the
proposals seeking to reduce the cost of home-to-school transport, whilst 
simultaneously transporting adults with learning disabilities from…Linden 
Court to alternative day services. Whilst it is important for people to have

3

Page 27



choices about their care and support, this should ideally be provided in the 
communities where they live.”

• NHS Sussex: “Consideration should be given to what services there would be
for people who need a quieter environment due to other diagnoses and 
sensory sensitivities…Issues which may result in a service user requiring a 
quieter service, such as sensory sensitivities, can overwhelm and lead to 
difficulties with social communication and/or interaction, requiring 
appropriate support and provision. If these needs are not met, it could lead 
to increasing instances of behaviours that challenge services, and require 
more resource-intensive, higher-cost, multi-agency input in the medium and 
longer term.”

• Wealden Citizens Advice: “Change is unsettling for clients. Linden Court
users have been used to having a quieter environment which will then become 
busier. They may not cope and a drop in attendance may be seen.”

Individual comments:

• "It is taking us away from our friends, a building we know and staff who know
us. That makes me sad. It works here. I have been coming here for ten years."

• "The individuals who access Linden Court are vulnerable adults who rely on
the service to not only keep them safe but support them with social 
interactions and meaningful activities. Without the service there would be 
more carer breakdowns, resulting in more people being placed in residential 
care (costing the council more money in the long term), an increase in social 
isolation and reduced independence."

• "It's taking away services for vulnerable people who are less likely [to be] able
to advocate for themselves. This should be the last resort, not the first."

• "People get settled in one place and feel safe. They get used to being helped
and looked after regularly by the same person. They make friends with others 
using the same facilities."

• "People need continuity of care. Uprooting people with disabilities causes
them distress. Overloading another service with users means that individual 
needs may not be met if staff have too many users to look after."

• "These options are not safe. The prolonged journey to Beeching Park would
exacerbate behaviours and could also lead to medical emergencies that could 
put clients and staff at risk."

• "I was really concerned to see that the underuse of Linden Court was being
used as a reason to close it - I'm not aware of it being offered to the people I 
work with, many of whom would probably gain a lot from it, if it was 
offered…Fill the empty spaces by offering it to people and you will cut the 
money you spend on unstructured personal assistant support etc."

• "Placing more people at Beeching Park will likely lead to the social exclusion
of clients who struggle with noise or crowding, clients…who rely upon 
structure and routine the most, so would suffer most from losing a regular 
service."

4

Page 28



• "Linden Court has better resources and capacity than either of the
alternatives. The road and rail connections to either Lewes or Bexhill are poor 
and neither are close to the stations. Clients will end up needing private 
personal care as they won't be able to get to the alternatives, and the council 
will have to pay for this, so real savings will be below what is expected
anyway. You will also lose highly experienced and motivated staff, who will
be difficult to replace, leading to staff shortages."

• "This service gives me respite and gives [named person] independence. We
cannot afford £25 each way taxis to Bexhill twice a week. [Named person] 
will have to stop coming as my health affects my driving a lot."

• "The added pressure and expense on travelling to Bexhill, and possibly losing
friendships which my son has had since he started school…will [have] a very 
detrimental effect on his anxiety and mental health. The times on offer at 
Inspire are less than already received and it is in a church, which possibly is 
echoey, which my son cannot cope with."

• “It will make me very sad. I do not want to lose my friends and I feel safe
with the staff. I like doing lots of things.”

• "I rely on the service to look after my daughter whilst I am at work. There is
no way I would have the time to take her to Bexhill in the morning and then 
get back to work in Eastbourne by 9am. The same applies at the end of the 
day. I feel that my daughter would become socially isolated, withdrawn and 
depressed if I had to have her at home permanently. This would also mean 
that I would have to give up work which would have a negative impact on my 
family generally. My daughter is very happy at Linden Court and for everything 
to change in her world would exacerbate her already challenging behaviour 
and negatively affect the whole family."

• "It would be a nightmare, upset to all routine, a stagnation of
learning/education. Going on the minibus, which is much loved, would be
non-existent. The sensory room for moments of calm would not be available. 
Making sense of the world around us, the change of the seasons & things that 
would not have any meaning."

• "I would be prepared for the client contributions to be increased if it means
Linden Court could be kept open, if we all did this (increased a little for all 
service users, according to individual circumstances)."

• "Where would all the vulnerable people go? Are there enough placements for
them to move onto? What would they cost? Would they be appropriate 
placements of the individuals? Will they be local? Private venues will be more 
costly, providing less hours and days of care. This will lead to even more 
family breakdowns, leading to these vulnerable people needing full-time care 
in residential settings, costing ESCC a hell of a lot more, over time, than the 
gap which has already been created.”

• "We disagree [with] the proposed closing of Linden Court as it will affect the
lives of the vulnerable adults we have in Eastbourne. Linden Court is needed 
for those adults with additional needs and in the future for those coming of 
age with additional needs. Please can the council continue to support our

5

Page 29



vulnerable adults in Eastbourne. The council is in charge of our services and 
monies - please do not let us down."

Results summary across all methods

Views on the proposal

Survey: 85% of respondents disagree with the proposal, with the majority choosing 
strongly disagree (81%). Only 6% said they agree or strongly agree.

The top comment themes for why people agree or disagree were:

• Views: Commute to services would be more complex (44 comments)

• Service: Service is vital (42)

• Impact: Routine change disruptive for people who access support (35)

• Impact: Socialisations (26)

• Impact: Increased burden on family/carer (22)

• Views: Cuts target the most vulnerable (22)

• Impact: Poorer mental health (18)

• Views: Disagree with proposal (18)

• Service: Lifeline to people (17)

• Impact: People’s needs won't be met (14)

Emails etc: Again, people disagreed with the proposal (3) and said the service 
shouldn’t be closed (3), although the same number did recognise the need to make 
savings (3).

People said the services provide an opportunity to socialise (5) and are a lifeline 
to people (4). They also praised the staff (3) and the person-centred support they 
provide (3).

The commute to the service was the main issue, with people pointing out it would 
be more complex (7) and that the cost of travel makes the cut harder to justify 
(4). People feel the cuts target the most vulnerable (3).

Meetings: There is strong opposition to the proposal and people are disgusted it 
has even been proposed, as it targets vulnerable people. People are worried, upset 
and angry and some said they will fight it.

People said it isn’t clear how the proposal was arrived at, and believed more detail 
is needed about the finances and how the savings were calculated. They felt the 
closure wouldn’t save money in the long run, as support needs would still need to 
be paid for, and there would be extra costs from transporting people further. In 
addition, the cost impact could be massive if more people can’t live at home any 
more due to the service closing.

6

Page 30



People love Linden Court and the staff. They are happily settled there and have 
made lots of friends. Linden Court is seen as being a better building, and the 
quieter nature of the service suits people.

Those who attend Linden Court don’t want it to close and they are worried they 
won’t see their friends if it does. Some said they would move to Beeching Park, 
but a lot of people said it wouldn’t work for them because of the travel.

People who use both services are concerned about their sessions. They want to be 
able to go on the same day/times as they do now due to other commitments. 
People are also keen to know if they would still be able to do their favourite 
activities and take part in community sessions.

Change is hard for this group of people and there is already a lot of anxiety about 
the proposal, although a few people did say they were looking forward to making 
new friends if the services merged.

Potential impacts of the proposal

Survey: The top comment themes for how people would be affected are:

• Views: Commute to services would be more complex (40 comments)

• Impact: Routine change disruptive for people who access support (36)

• Impact: Increased burden on family/carer (32)

• Impact: Socialisations (25)

• Comment about personal circumstances (20)

• Impact: Poorer mental health (20)

• Views: Commuting cost to services harder to justify (18)

• Impact: Ability to maintain work and carer responsibilities (16)

• Impact: Cause upset to people who access support (16)

• Impact: More challenging behaviour from people who access support (12)

• Impact: People’s needs won't be met (12)

Emails etc: People said closing the service would increase the burden on families 
and carers (6) and lead to poorer physical and mental health for everyone affected 
(4 each).

The routine change would be disruptive for people (4) and destroy their stability 
and support structure (3). This could lead to more challenging behaviour (3).

They also said it would add more costs in the long run (3).

Meetings: Beeching Park would not provide the local service that people need and 
value. The journey there would take a lot longer and lots of people said the 
journey wouldn’t work for their family.

7

Page 31



Beeching Park is a busier service and that won’t suit everyone. The change would 
be difficult for people and could affect everyone’s mental/physical health and the 
behaviour of people who attend the service.

The service allows people to stay living at home, so closing it could push people 
into residential care, which would be a lot more expensive. The longer journey 
and shorter sessions would also affect some people’s ability to maintain their 
employment, and future school/college leavers locally wouldn’t have a nearby 
service they could transition to.

Suggestions

Survey: General suggestions are covered in the background report on the funding 
gap consultations, while service-specific ones are included here.

The top theme was that the service shouldn’t be cut (29). The other themes were:

• Suggestion: Enhance the service rather than reduce it (6)

• Suggestion: Review number of service managers (6)

• Suggestion: Use volunteers (6)

• Suggestion: Charge for some usage (5)

• Suggestion: Cut operational costs  (5)

• Suggestion: Liaise with community sector about service provision (5)

• Suggestion: Careful planning/assessments needed before happens (4)

• Suggestion: Make access to services means tested (4)

• Suggestion: Merge or reorganise services (4)

• Suggestion: Cut non-essential parts of the service (3)

• Suggestion: Keep disruption to a minimum (3)

• Suggestion: More joint working (3)

• Suggestion: Charge people more to use services (2)

• Suggestion: Reduce on-site support hours (2)

• Suggestion: Reduce public transport costs (2)

• Suggestion: Streamline current roles (2)

• Suggestion: Utilise staff skills better (2)

• Suggestion: Be mindful of the impact (1)

• Suggestion: Calculate the cost for other services that this proposal will
cause (1)

• Suggestion: Close other buildings instead (1)

• Suggestion: Consider wider impact of decisions (1)

• Suggestion: Increase service rather than cut it (1)

8

Page 32



• Suggestion: Offer smaller blocks of respite (1)

• Suggestion: Reduce use of external private services (1)

• Suggestion: Use empty buildings for the service (1)

• Suggestion: Use funding generated from other sales or sources (1)

• Suggestion: Use learning from current service to develop new model (1)

Emails etc: The top suggestions were to look for private investors/business to run 
the service (3) and to do more joint working (3).

The other suggestions were:

• Suggestion: Keep parts of the service running (2)

• Suggestion: Provide transport to services (2)

• Suggestion: Cut operational costs (1)

• Suggestion: Explore alternative solutions with partners/other providers (1)

• Suggestion: Joint transport between services (1)

• Suggestion: Listen to the consultation feedback (1)

• Suggestion: Locate any replacement in the same area (1)

• Suggestion: Make income by selling spaces to other local authorities (1)

• Suggestion: Partnerships with transport providers to help with cost (1)

• Suggestion: Use church buildings to limit costs of day services (1)

Meetings: Suggestions included closing Beeching Park instead, selling unused 
council property to use the money to save Linden Court, and cutting management 
roles to save money.

Other topics

Survey: The top comment themes are that the cuts target the most vulnerable 
(12), and that the proposal would increase the burden on family/carers (11).

Other common themes included:

• Service: Service is vital (8)

• Other: Criticism of council (6)

• Views: Detrimental to disabled people in particular (6)

• Impact: Loss to the community (5)

• Views: Commute to services more complex (5)

Emails etc: People criticised the Council and the consultation process/information 
(2 each). They said the Council must provide detailed financial information on the 
savings (2) and more information about the alternative services and what capacity 
they have (2).

9

Page 33



Many of those affected don’t have a voice or can’t communicate (2). There also 
needs to be clarity about how parents of adults with Special Educational Needs 
will be consulted with (2).

Meetings: The Council wastes a large amount of money. People need to be kept 
updated about the proposals, and to know that the decision is transparent and 
fair.

Charts and tables

Survey responses including about you information

1) Are you completing the survey as:
There were 197 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Someone who uses/has used the Linden Court day service 21 10.34%

The family or carer of someone who uses/has used the 
Linden Court day service

56 27.59%

Someone who uses/has used the Beeching Park day 
service

1 0.49%

The family or carer of someone who uses/has used the 
Beeching Park day service

7 3.45%

Someone who works for the Linden Court or Beeching Park 
day services

20 9.85%

Someone who lives in East Sussex 51 25.12%

Someone who works in health or social care in East Sussex 26 12.81%

Someone who works in housing in East Sussex 0 0.00%

Someone who works in the voluntary or community sector 2 0.99%

Other (please provide details below) 13 6.40%

Not Answered 6 2.96%

Responses to “Other”

There were 18 responses to this part of the question. Some responses fitted into 
more than one of the following groups:

• User or potential user of service or their family (9 responses)

10

Page 34



• Comment on professional role/former role (7)
• Expressed a view about the service/proposal (3)
• Described where they lived (2)

2) How much do you agree or disagree with the proposal to close the 
Linden Court day service and move people to either Beeching Park 
day service or an alternative service?
There were 201 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Strongly agree 8 3.94%

Agree 5 2.46%

Neither agree nor disagree 8 3.94%

Disagree 9 4.43%

Strongly disagree 164 80.79%

Not sure 7 3.45%

Not Answered 2 0.99%

Please use the box below to tell us why you agree or disagree:

There were 175 responses to this part of the question.

Comment theme Total

Views: Commute to services more complex 44

Service: Service is vital 42

Impact: Routine change disruptive for people who access support 35

Impact: Socialisations 26

Impact: Increased burden on family/carer 22

Views: Cuts target the most vulnerable 22

Impact: Poorer mental health 18

Views: Disagree with proposal 18

Service: Lifeline to people 17

Impact: People’s needs won't be met 14

Service: Safe environment 13

Impact: Ability to maintain work and carer responsibilities 12

Impact: Cause upset to people who access support 11

Service: Service is beneficial 11

11

Page 35



Views: Don't close service 11

Views: Commuting cost to services harder to justify 11

Comment about personal circumstances 10

Impact: Poorer physical health 9

Impact: Increased pressure on other services 9

Impact: Cause distress for people who access support 8

Service: Only service of its sort 8

Service: Immensely valued 8

Impact: Carers will have less of a break 7

Impact: Isolation 7

Service: Praise of staff 7

Service: Provides respite for family/carers 7

Views: Costs will increase not go down 7

Views: Service has already suffered from cuts 7

Impact: Less independence 6

Impact: Lower quality of life 6

Impact: People would have to go into care 6

Impact: Relationships built between staff and people who access 
support may end

6

Impact: Add more costs in the long term 6

Impact: More people in crisis 6

Impact: Strain on remaining staff 6

Service is a community benefit 5

Impact: Loss to the community 5

Impact: Staff 5

Impact: Reduce wellbeing of people who access support 5

Other: Criticism of council 5

Service: Current service location is good 5

Service: Praise of service 5

Suggestion: Increase service rather than cut it 5

Views: Alternative services not adequate 5

Views: Detrimental to disabled people in particular 5

Impact: Negative on carers 4

Impact: Without this support people will need higher-cost 
services

4

12

Page 36



Impact: More challenging behaviour from people who access 
support

4

Views: Concerned where people would go instead 4

Views: Recognise need to make savings 4

Views: Services already limited 4

Views: East Sussex County Council are responsible for looking 
after vulnerable people

4

Views: Morally wrong 4

Impact: Destroy stability/support structure of people who access 
support

3

Impact: Negative impact (unspecified) 3

Impact: Poorer access to support 3

Views: There is no other support like this 3

Service: High quality 3

Service: Service well run 3

Views: Unhappy with proposal 3

Views: Agree with proposal 3

Views: Loss of jobs 3

Views: Need for this service is increasing 3

Views: Service vital for young people and their prosperity 3

Views: Shameful proposal 3

Service offers help with life skills 2

Impact: People who access support would be at increased risk 2

Impact: Confidence will be lost 2

Impact: Expensive home care packages 2

Impact: Boredom 2

Impact: Savings so small they won't justify impact on people who 
access support

2

Other: Unsure why East Sussex County Council cannot afford 
budget gap

2

Service helps with people skills 2

Service offers practical skills like cooking 2

Service: Very accessible 2

Suggestion: Enhance the service rather than reduce it 2

Suggestion: Keep disruption to a minimum 2

Views: Already fought for service before 2

Views: Short sighted 2
13

Page 37



Views: People who access support may lack advocacy and 
representation

2

Views: Proposals could/do break discrimination laws 2

Views: Service already under pressure with capacity 2

Views: Services already limited 2

Service helps with mental health 1

Impact: Ability to care for child 1

Impact: Carers' ability to have longer breaks 1

Impact: Family member would need more support from them 1

Impact: Feeling less safe 1

Impact: Lower quality of service 1

Impact: People who access support would be at increased risk 1

Impact: Cuts would reduce costs 1

Impact: Effect on environment and climate 1

Impact: Even more limited services 1

Impact: Financial hardship 1

Impact: People discouraged from seeking help 1

Impact: People will die 1

Impact: Risk of East Sussex County Council not meeting statutory 
duties

1

Impact: Undo what staff have worked hard to build 1

Other: Allow redundancy requests 1

Other: Comment on consultation process or information 1

Other: Comment on other council spending 1

Other: Difficult for people who access support to understand 1

Other: East Sussex County Council needs to explain why saving 
proposals were made

1

Other: East Sussex County Council needs to provide detailed 
financial info on savings

1

Other: Many don't have a voice/can't communicate 1

Other: Money recently spent on the building 1

Service provides peace of mind 1

Service: Service offers respite 1

Service: Efficient 1

Service: Criticism of service efficiency 1

Service: Current service works well 1

14

Page 38



Service: Service built trust with people who access it 1

Service: Service key to wellbeing 1

Service stopped people who accessed it going into residential care 1

Suggestion: Cut general carers services as these are not useful 1

Suggestion: Better monitoring of service performance 1

Suggestion: Cut management salaries 1

Suggestion: Encourage more people to use service 1

Suggestion: East Sussex County Council should manage resources 
better

1

Suggestion: Improve quality of care 1

Suggestion: Invest in upskilling staff 1

Suggestion: Review number of service managers 1

Service: Tailored support 1

Unspecific/unclear comment 1

Views: Agree with proposal 1

Views: Cuts unfair/unequal 1

Views: Already fought for service before 1

Views: An alternative exists 1

Views: Angry with proposal 1

Views: Detrimental to the elderly in particular 1

Views: East Sussex County Council wastes money 1

Views: Hopefully capacity exists at other service 1

Views: Must prioritise the most vulnerable 1

Views: New times or hours are concerning 1

Views: Poor management treatment of both staff and people who 
access support

1

Views: Service is cost effective 1

3) How would the proposal to close Linden Court affect you or 
someone you care for?
There were 167 responses to this part of the question.

Comment theme Total

Views: Commute to services would be more complex 40

Impact: Routine change disruptive for people who access support 36

Impact: Increased burden on family/carer 32

Impact: Socialisations 25

15

Page 39



Comment about personal circumstances 20

Impact: Poorer mental health 20

Views: Commuting cost to services harder to justify 18

Impact: Ability to maintain work and carer responsibilities 16

Impact: Cause upset to people who access support 16

Impact: More challenging behaviour from people who access 
support

12

Impact: People’s needs won't be met 12

Impact: Destroy stability/support structure of people who access 
support

10

Impact: Poorer physical health 9

Views: Cuts target the most vulnerable 9

Impact: Cause distress for people who access support 8

Impact: Increased pressure on other services 8

Service: Service is vital 8

Impact: Isolation 7

Impact: Add more costs in the long term 7

Impact: Lower quality of life 6

Impact: People would have to go into care 6

Service: Current service location is good 6

Service: Lifeline to people 6

Service: Provides respite for family/carers 6

Impact: Carers will have less of a break 5

Impact: Financial hardship 5

Impact: More inconvenient for people who access support 5

Impact: Relationships built between staff and people who access 
support may end

5

Impact: Poorer access to support 5

Impact: Reduce wellbeing of people who access support 5

Service: Praise of staff 5

Views: Service vital for young people and their prosperity 5

It does not affect me 4

Service: Service is beneficial 4

Views: Don't close service 4

Views: New times or hours are concerning 4

Impact: Couldn't cope without service 4

16

Page 40



Service offers help with life skills 3

Impact: Less independence 3

Impact: Loss to the community 3

Impact: Staff 3

Impact: Boredom 3

Impact: Lose my job 3

Impact: More pressure on the police 3

Impact: NHS 3

Impact: Would no longer be able to attend 3

Service: Praise of service 3

Views: Alternative services not adequate 3

Views: Detrimental to disabled people in particular 3

Views: Person accessing the support wouldn't want to go into 
residential care

3

Impact: Ability to care for child 2

Impact: Expensive home care packages 2

Impact: Loss to the community 2

Impact: Lower quality of life 2

Impact: Undo what staff have worked hard to build 2

Impact: Without this support people will need higher-cost 
services

2

Other: Criticism of council 2

Service: Services offers practical skills like cooking 2

Service: Service provides a safe environment 2

Service: Immensely valued 2

Service: Service is vital 2

Service: Well used 2

Suggestion: Enhance the service rather than reduce it 2

Views: Care at home is not a substitute 2

Views: East Sussex County Council is responsible for looking after 
vulnerable people

2

Views: Proposal is morally wrong 2

Views: Need for this service is increasing 2

Views: Services already limited 2

Views: Shameful proposal 2

Impact: Confidence will be lost 1

17

Page 41



Impact: Will take a long time for people who access support to 
adjust to changes

1

Impact: Ability to find work 1

Impact: People who access support would be at increased risk 1

Impact: Effect on environment and climate 1

Impact: Financial hardship 1

Impact: Lack of hope for those needing support 1

Impact: Negative impact (unspecified) 1

Impact: Poorer access to other services as a knock-on effect 1

Impact: Savings so small they won't justify impact on people who 
access support

1

Impact: Service won't be replaced if cut 1

Views: No other support like this 1

Other: Comment on consultation process or information 1

Other: Difficult for people who access support to understand 1

Other: Many don't have a voice/can't communicate 1

Service: Service helps with people skills 1

Service: Service helps with practical living skills 1

Service: High quality 1

Service: Service built trust with people who access it 1

Suggestion: Be mindful of the impact 1

Suggestion: Enhance the service rather than reduce it 1

Suggestion: Restructure hours 1

Suggestion: Consider wider impact of decisions 1

Suggestion: Cut elsewhere 1

Suggestion: Encourage more people to use service 1

Suggestion: Keep disruption to a minimum 1

Unspecific/unclear comment 1

Views: Cuts unfair/unequal 1

Views: Unhappy with proposal 1

Views: Costs will increase not go down 1

Views: Proposals could/do break discrimination laws 1

Views: Shocked/saddened by proposal 1

Views: Short sighted 1

18

Page 42



4) Do you have any other suggestions or comments you would like to 
make?
There were 177 responses to this part of the question.

Comment theme Total

Suggestion: Don't cut service 29

Suggestion: Cut elsewhere 12

Views: Cuts target the most vulnerable 12

Impact: Increased burden on family/carer 11

Service: Service is vital 8

Suggestion: Continue to support the most vulnerable 7

Other: Criticism of council 6

Suggestion: Enhance the service rather than reduce it 6

Suggestion: Review number of service managers 6

Suggestion: Sell buildings to make money 6

Suggestion: Use volunteers 6

Views: Detrimental to disabled people in particular 6

Impact: Loss to the community 5

Suggestion: Cut non-emergency services (other Council spend) 5

Suggestion: Charge for some usage 5

Suggestion: Cut operational costs 5

Suggestion: Liaise with community sector about service provision 5

Views: Commute to services more complex 5

Views: Service has already suffered from cuts 5

Views: Shameful proposal 5

Comment about personal circumstances 4

Impact: People would have to go into care 4

Impact: Add more costs in the long term 4

Impact: Savings so small they won't justify impact on people who 
access support

4

Other: Comment on consultation process or information 4

Other: Unsure why East Sussex County Council cannot afford 
budget gap

4

Service: Praise of staff 4

Service attendance has a social aspect 4

Suggestion: Careful planning/assessments needed before any 
change happens

4

19

Page 43



Suggestion: East Sussex County Council should manage resources 
better

4

Suggestion: Fundraise locally 4

Suggestion: Merge or reorganise services 4

Suggestion: Make access to services means tested 4

Views: Find an alternative way to save money 4

Views: Proposal adds more cost in the long term 4

Views: Service is not cost effective 4

Views: Services already limited 4

Impact: Destroy stability/support structure of people who access 
support

3

Impact: People would have to go into care 3

Service: Immensely valued 3

Service: Lifeline to people 3

Service: Service is vital 3

Suggestion: Cut management salaries 3

Suggestion: Keep disruption to a minimum 3

Suggestion: Cut non-essential parts of the service 3

Suggestion: More joint working 3

Suggestion: Remove and condense office buildings 3

Views: Recognise need to make savings 3

Views: Commuting cost to services harder to justify 3

Views: Proposal is morally wrong 3

Views: Shocked/saddened by proposal 3

Impact: Even more limited services 2

Impact: Relationships built between staff and people who access 
support may end

2

Impact: Without this support people will need higher-cost 
services

2

Impact: Couldn't cope without service 2

Impact: People’s needs won't be met 2

Impact: Routine change disruptive for people who access support 2

Views: No similar services exist 2

Other: Criticism of councillor 2

Other: Comment on other council spending 2

Other: Criticism of council 2

20

Page 44



Other: Many don't have a voice/can't communicate 2

Service: Provides respite for family/carers 2

Suggestion: Bring in income from unused properties 2

Suggestion: Charge people more to use services 2

Suggestion: East Sussex County Council should lobby government 2

Suggestion: Careful planning/assessments needed before happens 2

Suggestion: Consider system budget issues 2

Suggestion: Cut management salaries 2

Suggestion: Merge or reorganise services 2

Suggestion: Reduce on-site support hours 2

Suggestion: Reduce public transport costs 2

Suggestion: Streamline current roles 2

Suggestion: Utilise staff skills better 2

Views: Must prioritise the most vulnerable 2

Views: Unclear what savings will result 2

Impact: Already have to battle for services 1

Impact: Carers' ability to have longer breaks 1

Impact: People who access support would be at increased risk 1

Impact: Increase homelessness if cut 1

Impact: Increased support needs 1

Impact: Less independence 1

Impact: Negative on carers 1

Impact: Ability to care for child 1

Impact: Cause distress for people who access support 1

Impact: Effect on environment and climate 1

Impact: Increased pressure on other services 1

Impact: More people in crisis 1

Impact: People will die 1

Impact: Poorer access to other services as a knock-on effect 1

Impact: Poorer mental health 1

Impact: Poorer physical health 1

Impact: Private support more expensive 1

Impact: Service won't be replaced if cut 1

Other: Comment on consultation process or information 1

Other: Comment re government spending 1

21

Page 45



Other: Criticism of government 1

Other: Difficult for people who access support to understand 1

Other: East Sussex County Council needs to explain why saving 
proposals were made

1

Other: East Sussex County Council needs to provide detailed 
financial info on savings

1

Other: How are parents of special education needs adults 
consulted with?

1

Other: Reduce councillors’ pay 1

Service: Current service works well 1

Service: Safe environment 1

Service: Very accessible 1

Service: Service stopped the person going into residential care 1

Suggestion: Be mindful of the impact 1

Suggestion: Better use of funding 1

Suggestion: Consider system budget issues 1

Suggestion: Fundraise nationally 1

Suggestion: Increase council tax 1

Suggestion: Offer smaller blocks of respite 1

Suggestion: Calculate the cost for other services that this 
proposal would cause

1

Suggestion: Close other buildings instead 1

Suggestion: Consider wider impact of decisions 1

Suggestion: Cut East Sussex County Council staff pay 1

Suggestion: Increase service rather than cut it 1

Suggestion: Reduce use of external private services 1

Suggestion: Review remote working 1

Suggestion: Use empty buildings for the service 1

Suggestion: Use funding generated from other sales or sources 1

Suggestion: Use learning from current service to develop new 
model

1

Unspecific/unclear comment 1

Views: Cuts unfair/unequal 1

Views: Disagree with proposal 1

Views: Poor decision 1

Views: Costs will increase not go down 1

Views: East Sussex County Council wastes money 1
22

Page 46



Views: Need for this service is increasing 1

Views: New times or hours are concerning 1

Views: Priorities are wrong 1

Views: Service is cost effective 1

Views: Service vital for young people and their prosperity 1

Views: Short sighted 1

About You equality questions

People were given the option of answering these questions, with 115 choosing to 
take part and 88 choosing not to answer these questions.

What age are you?

Age Total Percentage of all 
203 respondents

Under 18 0 0%

18-24 5 2%

25-34 10 5%

35-44 11 5%

45-54 25 12%

55-59 10 5%

60-64 11 5%

65+ 19 9%

What is your gender?
There were 116 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Female 83 40.89%

Male 24 11.82%

Non-binary 3 1.48%

Prefer to self-describe (please write in below) 0 0.00%

Prefer not to say 6 2.96%

Not Answered 87 42.86%

Self-described gender:

There were 0 responses to this part of the question.

23

Page 47



Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at 
birth?
There were 116 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Yes 111 54.68%

No (please write in your gender identity below) 0 0.00%

Prefer not to say 5 2.46%

Not Answered 87 42.86%

Gender identity:

There were 0 responses to this part of the question.

What is your ethnic group?
There were 116 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

White English/Welsh/Scottish /Northern Irish/British 104 51.23%

White Irish 2 0.99%

White Gypsy/Irish Traveller 0 0.00%

White Roma 0 0.00%

Any other White background (please write in below) 0 0.00%

Mixed White and Black Caribbean 0 0.00%

Mixed White and Black African 0 0.00%

Mixed White and Asian 1 0.49%

Any other Mixed or Multiple background (please write in 
below)

0 0.00%

Asian or Asian British Indian 0 0.00%

Asian or Asian British Pakistani 0 0.00%

Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi 0 0.00%

Asian or Asian British Chinese 0 0.00%

Any other Asian background (please write in below) 0 0.00%

24

Page 48



Black or Black British Caribbean 0 0.00%

Black or Black British African background (please write in 
below)

0 0.00%

Any other Black, Black British or Caribbean background 
(please write in below)

1 0.49%

Arab 0 0.00%

Any other ethnic group (please write in below) 0 0.00%

Prefer not to say 8 3.94%

Not Answered 87 42.86%

Other:

There were 0 responses to this part of the question.

Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation? 
There were 114 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

‘Straight’ / Heterosexual 99 48.77%

Gay or Lesbian 2 0.99%

Bisexual 1 0.49%

Prefer to self-describe (please write in below) 0 0.00%

Prefer not to say 12 5.91%

Not Answered 89 43.84%

Self-described sexual orientation:

There was 1 response to this part of the question.

What is your religion or belief?
There were 114 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

No religion 43 21.18%

Christian (including Church of England, Catholic, 
Protestant and all other Christian denominations)

62 30.54%

25

Page 49



Buddhist 2 0.99%

Hindu 0 0.00%

Jewish 0 0.00%

Muslim 0 0.00%

Sikh 0 0.00%

Any other religion (please write in below) 0 0.00%

Philosophical belief (please write in below) 1 0.49%

Prefer not to say 6 2.96%

Not Answered 89 43.84%

Other religion:

There were 3 responses to this part of the question covering spiritualism, paganism, 
and Christianity.

Do you have any physical or mental health conditions or illnesses 
lasting or expected to last 12 months or more?
There were 115 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Yes (please answer part B below) 37 18.23%

No (go to the next question) 64 31.53%

Prefer not to say (go to the next question) 14 6.90%

Not Answered 88 43.35%

Do any of your conditions or illnesses reduce your ability to carry out
day-to-day activities?
There were 81 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Yes, a lot (please answer part C below) 19 9.36%

Yes, a little (please answer part C below) 13 6.40%

Not at all (go to the next question) 34 16.75%

Prefer not to say (go to the next question) 15 7.39%

26

Page 50



Not Answered 122 60.10%

Do you have any physical or mental health conditions or illnesses 
lasting or expected to last 12 months or more?
There were 46 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Physical Impairment 14 6.90%

Sensory Impairment 6 2.96%

Learning Disability/Difficulty 20 9.85%

Long-standing illness 10 4.93%

Mental Health condition 7 3.45%

Neurodivergent condition 9 4.43%

Other Developmental Condition 0 0.00%

Other (please write in below) 1 0.49%

Prefer not to say 8 3.94%

Not Answered 157 77.34%

Other:

There were 6 responses to this part of the question covering mental health issues, 
Diabetes, ability to speak, and learning disabilities.

Are you currently pregnant or did you give birth in the last twelve 
months?
There were 100 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Yes 1 0.49%

No 95 46.80%

Prefer not to say 4 1.97%

Not Answered 103 50.74%

Do you look after, or give any help or support to, anyone because 
they have long-term physical or mental health conditions or illnesses, 
or problems related to old age?

27

Page 51



There were 113 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Yes 52 25.62%

No (go to next question) 52 25.62%

Prefer not to say 9 4.43%

Not Answered 90 44.33%

Hours of care given a week
There were 58 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

9 hours a week or less 11 5.42%

10 to 19 hours a week 3 1.48%

20 to 34 hours a week 4 1.97%

35 to 49 hours a week 4 1.97%

50 hours or more a week 29 14.29%

Prefer not to say 7 3.45%

Not Answered 145 71.43%

Who you care for
There were 57 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Parent 15 7.39%

Partner/spouse 6 2.96%

Child with special needs 20 9.85%

Other family member 14 6.90%

Friend 1 0.49%

Other (please give details) 8 3.94%

Prefer not to say 4 1.97%

Not Answered 146 71.92%

28

Page 52



If you answered 'other', please explain here:

There were 11 responses to this part of the question. Two cared for more than one 
person. Seven clarified the nature of their relationship to the cared for (for example, 
as a partner or a parent). One mentioned the needs of the cared-for, and two 
described a job role, while one noted that they did not look after anyone.

Armed Forces Service: Are you currently serving, or have you 
previously served in the UK Armed Forces (this includes Reservists or 
part-time service)?
There were 109 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Yes 5 2.46%

No 103 50.74%

Prefer not to say 1 0.49%

Not Answered 94 46.31%

Are you in a household or family where someone is currently or was 
previously serving in the UK Armed Forces?
There were 107 responses to this part of the question.

Option Total Percent

Yes 13 6.40%

No 93 45.81%

Prefer not to say 1 0.49%

Not Answered 96 47.29%

Please tell us your postcode:
There were 69 responses to this part of the question and 44 chose prefer not to say.

Postcode area Total Percentage of all 203
respondents

Eastbourne 36 18%

Wealden 12 6%

Lewes 1 Less than 1%

Rother 11 5%

Hastings 8 4%

29

Page 53



1 postcodes (under 1%) provided outside of East Sussex.

Other feedback by email etc

Linden Court and Beeching Park consultation responses
There were 16 responses to the Linden Court and Beeching Park consultation by 
other feedback methods. The majority were submitted by email (14 responses) and 
the rest by letter (2).

The top respondent groups were family and carers (5 people) and organisations (5 
responses). There were also responses from residents of East Sussex (3), a former 
worker and a member of parliament. One respondent did not say in which context 
they were responding as.

The organisations who submitted a response are:

• Healthwatch East Sussex
• Heartwood Project
• Ideal Complex Care
• NHS Sussex
• Wealden Citizens Advice

The tables below cover the comment themes for all the respondents.

Views

Comment theme Total

Views: Commute to services would be more complex 7

Views: Commuting cost to services would be harder to justify 4

Views: Cuts target the most vulnerable 3

Views: Disagree 3
30

Page 54



Views: Don't close service 3

Views: Recognise need to make savings 3

Views: Alternative services are too far away 2

Views: Alternative services not suitable 2

Views: Care at home is not a substitute 2

Views: Concerned where people would go instead 2

Views: Must prioritise the most vulnerable 2

Views: Shameful proposal 2

Service: Service is vital 1

Views: Agree in theory but travel issues make it unworkable 1

Views: Angry with proposal 1

Views: Concerned where else people who access support would 
get it 1

Views: Concerned where families will get support instead 1

Views: Detrimental to disabled people in particular 1

Views: Disagree with using private organisations 1

Views: Don't cut and replace with substandard service 1

Views: Money won't be saved 1

Views: Proposal is morally wrong 1

Views: Need for this service is increasing 1

Views: Priorities are wrong 1

Views: Private support too expensive 1

Views: Proposal might work if there is support with transport 
and travel 1

Views: Shocked/saddened by proposal 1

Views: Short sighted 1

Service

Comment theme Total

Service: Opportunity to socialise 5

Service: Lifeline to people 4

Service: Praise of staff 3

Service: Provides support centred on people who access it 3

Service: Safe environment 3

Service: High quality 2

31

Page 55



Service: Only service of its sort 2

Service: Provides respite for family/carers 2

Service: Service key to wellbeing 2

Service offers help with life skills 1

Service: Achieved good outcomes 1

Service: Consistency of staffing is a positive 1

Service: Day services offers safeguarding opportunities 1

Service: Facilitates improved outcomes for people who access 
support, via family engagement 1

Service: Helps people to regain independence 1

Service: Immensely valued 1

Service: Praise of service 1

Service: Service built trust with people who access support 1

Service: Service is vital 1

Service: Supports family/friends of people who access support 1

Service: Value of day services generally 1

Service: Well integrated into local communities 1

Impact

Comment theme Total

Impact:  Increased burden on family/carer 6

Impact: Poorer mental health 4

Impact: Poorer physical health 4

Impact: Routine change disruptive for people who access 
support 4

Impact: Add more costs in the long term 3

Impact: Destroy stability/support structure for people who 
access support 3

Impact: More challenging behaviour from people who access 
support 3

Impact: Ability to maintain work and carer responsibilities 2

Impact: Even more limited services 2

Impact: Increased pressure on other services 2

Impact: Isolation 2

32

Page 56



Impact: Loss of jobs 2

Impact: NHS 2

Impact: People’s needs won't be met 2

Impact: Poorer access to support 2

Impact: Reduce wellbeing of people who access support 2

Impact: Travel and parking would be worse 2

Views: Cause distress for people who access support 2

Impact: Carers will have less of a break 1

Impact: Couldn't cope without service 1

Impact: Cuts create inequality 1

Impact: Demoralise frontline staff affected by cut 1

Impact: Disruption to people's support 1

Impact: Financial hardship 1

Impact: Increase in crime 1

Impact: Less tailored or bespoke support 1

Impact: Lose connections built with people who access support 
and with colleagues 1

Impact: Lower quality of life 1

Impact: More people in crisis 1

Impact: More pressure on the police 1

Impact: People will die 1

Impact: People would have to go into care 1

Impact: Reduce carers’ wellbeing 1

Impact: Risk of East Sussex County Council not meeting statutory 
duties 1

Impact: Savings so small they won't justify impact on people who 
access support 1

Views: Service already under pressure with capacity 1

Suggestions

Comment theme Total

Suggestion: Look for private investors/business to run it 3

33

Page 57



Suggestions: More joint working 3

Suggestion: Keep parts of the service running 2

Suggestion: Provide transport to services 2

Suggestion: Cut operational costs 1

Suggestion: Do things differently and innovate 1

Suggestion: Encourage alternative support - e.g., religious 
groups or wellbeing services 1

Suggestion: East Sussex County Council should lobby government 1

Suggestion: Explore alternative solutions with partners/other 
providers 1

Suggestion: Focus on prevention 1

Suggestion: Joint transport between services 1

Suggestion: Listen to the consultation feedback 1

Suggestion: Locate any replacement in the same area 1

Suggestion: Make income by selling spaces to other local 
authorities 1

Suggestion: Partnerships with transport providers to help with 
cost 1

Suggestion: Use church buildings to limit costs of day services 1

Other comments

Comment theme Total

Comment about personal circumstances 2

Other: Comment on consultation process or information 2

Other: Criticism of council 2

Other: Criticism of government 2

Other: East Sussex County Council must provide more 
information about alternatives and capacity 2

Other: East Sussex County Council needs to provide detailed 
financial info on savings 2

Other: How are parents of special education needs adults 
consulted with? 2

Other: Many don't have a voice/can't communicate 2

Other: Question about staffing under the proposals 2

34

Page 58



East Sussex County Council  must be accountable for any 
consequential suicides or harm to people who access support 1

Other: ASC is poorly run 1

Other: Comment on other council spending 1

Other: Comment re consultation financial figures 1

Other: Comment re government funding 1

Other: Question about attendance numbers under the proposals 1

Other: VCSE need services to signpost to 1

Other: Want to see the Equality Impact Assessment and 
proposed mitigations 1

Other: What assessments are required when changing special 
education needs services? 1

Other: What routes of appeal are there for challenging the 
decision? 1

Suggestion: Keep disruption to a minimum 1

Overall consultation responses

Responses addressing all 11 consultations combined
There were 10 responses addressing all 11 consultations at once by letter and email. 
These were from both organisations (5), residents (4) and a member of parliament 
(1).

The organisations who submitted a response are:

• Rother District Council
• Lewes Liberal Democrats
• Care for the Carers
• East Sussex VCSE Alliance
• East Sussex Seniors Associations

The tables below cover the comment themes for all the respondents.

Views

Comment themes Total

Views: Cuts target the most vulnerable 6

Views: Recognise need to make savings 5

Views: Disagree 3

Views: Already housing crisis in East Sussex 2

35

Page 59



Views: Concerned about impact of proposal 2

Views: Don't close service 2

Views: Limited capacity for VCSE sector to provide the 
support instead

2

Views: Morally wrong 2

Views: Proposal adds more cost in the long term 2

Views: Will shift cost onto districts and boroughs 2

Views: Angry with proposal 1

Views: Carers of people who access support care for 
multiple people already

1

Views: Carers vital for health and social care economy 1

Views: Concern about impact on level of support services 
can provide post-cuts

1

Views: Concern re timeframe for cuts 1

Views: Concerned where people would go instead 1

Views: Cuts unfair/unequal 1

Views: Detrimental to the elderly in particular 1

Views: Disagree with using private organisations 1

Views: East Sussex County Council wastes money 1

Views: Homelessness prevention statutory under the 
Homeless Reduction Act

1

Views: Impacts will be immediate for people who access 
support and for statutory services

1

Views: Insufficient time for other organisations to 
respond/mitigate risks

1

Views: Knows disabled people who could work but don't 1

Views: Must prioritise the most vulnerable 1

Views: Other services already struggling 1

Views: Private support too expensive 1

Views: Service vital for safeguarding people who access 
support and/or people around them

1

Views: Shameful proposal 1

Service

Comment themes Total

Service: Prevents homelessness 1

36

Page 60



Impact

Comment themes Total

Impact: Increased pressure on other services 3

Impact: Poorer mental health 3

Impact: Financial hardship 2

Impact: Increased cost for other organisations 2

Impact: Poorer physical health 2

Impact: Increased burden on family/carer 1

Impact: Ability to maintain work and carer responsibilities 1

Impact: Add more costs in the long term 1

Impact: At risk of suicide 1

Impact: Carers will have less of a break 1

Impact: People who access support would be at increased 
risk

1

Impact: Community at increased risk 1

Impact: Encourages negative attitude towards people who 
need support

1

Impact: Hardship and poverty 1

Impact: Homelessness 1

Impact: Isolation 1

Impact: Loss of staff results in loss of tax revenue 1

Impact: Loss to the community 1

Impact: Lower quality of life 1

Impact: More people who access support would be in out-
of-area accommodation

1

Impact: More hospital admissions 1

Impact: More people in crisis 1

Impact: Negative impact (unspecified) 1

Impact: Negative on carers 1

Impact: NHS 1

Impact: Poorer access to support 1

Impact: Reduce carers’ wellbeing 1

Impact: Reduce wellbeing of people who access support 1

Impact: Risk of abuse/domestic abuse 1

Impact: Significant increase in people living in temporary 
accommodation

1

37

Page 61



Impact: Unsuitable housing detrimental to child 
development

1

Impact: Use of alcohol and/or drugs 1

Suggestions

Comment themes Total

Suggestion: Focus on prevention 3

Suggestion: Utilise existing and effective
volunteer/charity support services

3

Suggestions: More joint working 3

Suggestion: Continue to support the most vulnerable 2

Suggestion: Allow VCSE partners to reduce rental 
outgoings

1

Suggestion: Build accommodation under a Community 
Land Trust

1

Suggestion: Consider impact of loss of winter fuel 
allowance

1

Suggestion: Cut management salaries 1

Suggestion: Do things differently and innovate 1

Suggestion: Don't cut prevention services 1

Suggestion: Don't cut service 1

Suggestion: East Sussex County Council should manage 
resources better

1

Suggestion: Prioritise support for young people coming 
out of care

1

Suggestion: Run accommodation/care homes as a business 
to generate profit

1

Suggestion: Signpost charities to other sources of funding 1

Suggestion: Transfer assets to voluntary sector 1

Suggestion: Work with partners to develop new model 1

Other comments

Other: Supporting and working with VCSE sector vital for 
improved outcomes

2

Other: Appreciation of East Sussex County Council's 
acknowledgement of impacts and commitment to co- 
production

1

Other: Care for the Carers must represent carers in design 
of alternative support

1

38

Page 62



Other: Comment on consultation process or information 1

Other: Comment on government policy and country-wide 
issues not specific to consultations

1

Other: Comment re government funding 1

Other: Cost of temporary accommodation is driving 
financial instability in local authorities

1

Other: Districts and boroughs not in a financial position to 
cope with impacts of cuts

1

Other: East Sussex County Council must provide more 
information about alternatives and capacity

1

Other: Provide information on proposed
alternatives/mitigations

1

Other: Question re raising awareness of consultations with 
public

1

Other: Want to see the Equality Impact Assessments and 
proposed mitigations

1

Other: Will this be all the cuts or is more needed? 1

Other: Would NHS & ASCH save by working together? 1

Consultation meetings

Consultation meetings were held at the day services for people who attend them 
and their parents and carers. Where needed a virtual meeting was also held. Lots of 
questions were asked at the meetings and answers to these can be found in the 
frequently asked questions section of the consultation webpage.

Date Service Meeting type Number of attendees

14 October Linden Court In-person for people
who attend the
service

34

In-person for parents 
and carers

51

17 October Beeching Park In-person for people
who attend the

service

45

In-person for parents
and carers

21

31 October Beeching Park Online for people who
attend the service
and parents/carers

3

39

Page 63

https://consultation.eastsussex.gov.uk/adult-social-care/linden-court/
https://consultation.eastsussex.gov.uk/adult-social-care/linden-court/


Linden Court themes from adults who access the service

• Views: People are worried, upset and sad about the proposal and some said
they don’t like change. They love it at Linden Court and are settled there. 
They don’t want the service to close and they are afraid they won’t see their 
friends if it does.

People said it is unfair that the service could close because there isn’t enough 
money. They are sad that the service could be taken away and they are 
worried about what it would mean for them.

Some said they would move to Beeching Park, but a few people said they 
would stay at home if Linden Court closed.

• Service: People said they like going to Linden Court and have made lots of
friends. They wanted to know what the proposal would mean for the
days/sessions they attend and if they would still be able to take part in the 
same activities.

• Impact: People talked about travel and how it would be harder to get to
Beeching Park, as well as making their day much longer. Those living in 
supported living said the timing wouldn’t work with staff shifts.

They were also worried about what the change would mean for their days/
sessions and their other outside commitments. Some people said they would 
need to stick to their current days/sessions.

Some people are worried that a busier service won’t suit them and others are 
worried about not knowing anyone. There are also concerns about how the 
change could affect people’s health, and college leavers in the future.

• Other comments: A few people wanted more information about Beeching
Park and the activities that would be on offer, including community sessions.

Linden Court themes from parent/carers

• Views: Everyone who spoke stated their strong opposition to the proposal.
People said it is disgusting that closure of the service is even being 
considered, and added that they would be heartbroken if it closed.

People said they would fight the closure of the service, and that more money 
is needed from the government to fund essential services like this. Eastbourne 
has already lost services and they were determined that it should not lose 
another.

Many people said that Beeching Park wouldn’t work for them or their family 
member. Bexhill is too far away and it is not practical to send people by bus 
or taxi. Travel times would be much longer and the journey is impossible for 
them and their family.

People said they hadn’t seen a sound financial basis for closing the building. 
They felt the closure wouldn’t save any money, as support still has to be paid 
for and transport and escort costs would be higher. There would also be a 
greater risk that people might not be able to remain at home if they couldn’t 
attend a day service.

40

Page 64



When other day services have closed the buildings have just been left to sit 
empty, and the same will happen if Linden Court closes.

• Service: People praised the service and the staff who work there. The people
who attend the service are like family to each other.

Linden Court has a lovely big kitchen and garden, as well as offering a quieter 
service for those who wouldn’t cope with a busier one.

People talked about how the service provides a lifeline to them. For some it 
has allowed the family to stay together.

Some people said the revised session times wouldn’t work for them, as they 
need to be at work before then. One person challenged the rationale for 
changing the sessions being based on staff feedback.

• Impact: Simply hearing about the proposals has created a lot of worry. Change
is difficult for people who use this service, and more of it would affect their 
life and wellbeing.

Meeting new people is hard and the stress of the change could affect people’s 
behaviour. Parents and carers need the quality of life the service provides to 
allow them to keep looking after their family member.

If the proposal went ahead, people who attend the service would be 
negatively affected. It would also mean huge changes for parents and carers, 
as well as affecting their mental health. Many people have been coming to 
Linden Court for several years and some wouldn’t understand the need to 
move.

People felt that Beeching Park wouldn’t be suitable for them, because 
travelling there would be hard, or impossible, for their family member. Even 
if they could do the journey, it would take a lot longer.

For this reason, if Linden Court closed they would have limited options. This 
is because the service helps them to keep their family member at home. 
Meeting attendees said that it would push people into moving into supported 
living and residential care much sooner than needed. These services are more 
expensive so it would cost the Council more in the long term.

For some people the proposal would affect their ability to maintain their 
employment. Older parents and carers were also worried for the future and 
what it would mean for their family member.

• Suggestions: There is an alternative service in Bexhill, so why not close
Beeching Park instead. Promote Linden Court and get more people using it so 
it is viable to keep it open.

Find the savings elsewhere and don’t cut services for the vulnerable. Sell 
underused buildings and use that money to save Linden Court.

• Other comments: The Council wastes so much money and everyone knows
that. People need to know that the decision is transparent and fair. The 
Council admits that there is more demand for services, but is still proposing 
to close Linden Court.

41

Page 65



A few people said they hadn’t had an assessment for years, so they didn’t see 
how everyone could be assessed in time before the proposed closure of the 
service.

Beeching Park themes from adults who access the service

• Sessions: The top comment theme was about the sessions and the changes
that would happen if the proposal went ahead. People said they enjoy their 
sessions and don’t want them to change. They were also keen to know 
whether particular activities that they enjoy would still be offered.

• Views: Lots of people shared their views on the proposed change. Some
thought it was a good idea and were looking forward to making new friends, 
but others were worried about it, particularly the fact that the service would 
be busier.

• Impact: Most of the comments about impact focused on what the change
would mean for the days they attend the service, with most people keen to
stick with their current days. Some also asked if it would affect the money 
they pay for the service. A couple of people wanted to know what the change 
would mean for their bus journey.

• Other comments: People asked questions about Linden Court and how many
people/staff would move to Beeching Park, as well as asking about what the 
change would mean for them and their days/sessions/activities.

Beeching Park themes from parent/carers

• Views: Attendees were concerned about the implications of the proposal for
people who attend the service and their families, particularly in relation to 
the disruption to the service and the impact on timetabling.

People felt it wasn’t clear how the proposal had been arrived at, and that 
more information was needed on that. They also felt the proposal seems to 
target vulnerable people and said that councillors should spend a day in their 
shoes.

People said that the priority should be to maintain people’s existing provision 
for those already attending Beeching Park. They also said the cost of transport 
would reduce the amount of savings that can be made.

• Service: One attendee said that the person they care for loves the service
and doesn’t talk about anything else.

• Impact: The reduction in session hours would affect everyone at both
services. Attendees had concerns about changes to session times and the 
disruption that would cause, particularly if the person had other existing 
commitments.

• Suggestions: Suggestions included cutting management roles to save money
and focusing on individual need, as not everyone will understand the reason 
for making the change.

• Other comments: It will be important to keep people updated about what is
being proposed and when changes would happen.

42

Page 66



Appendix 2 – Linden Court Day Services Equality Impact Analysis

Title of Project/Service/Policy

Team/Department

Directorate

Provide a comprehensive 
description of your Project 
(Service/Policy, etc.) including 
its Purpose and Scope

Linden Court day services in Eastbourne

Learning Disability Directly Provided Services

Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH)

Summary of changes to original proposal
The main body of this EqIA is for the original proposal to close Linden Court.
Following the consultation process and equality impact analysis the proposal remains to close Linden
Court but it is now recommended that the impact of this can be partly mitigated for some of the people
who use the service, by another directly provided service, Beeching Park, running a satellite service in 
Eastbourne for two days per week.
A small team would be available for one year to support people who would find the transition to Beeching 
Park or alternative independent options particularly difficult.

Whilst there would still be some negative impact and disruption to adults attending Linden Court and their 
families, the revised recommendation would reduce this.

Original proposal
East Sussex County Council (ESCC) is facing a financial gap of £55million next year. This is the 
difference between the funding available and the cost of keeping services at their present level. We have 
developed a savings plan that sets out how we will close the funding gap. Where the proposals include 
significant changes to services there has been a public consultation on the area.

The services that are managed within Learning Disability Directly Provided Services support over 500 
adults across East Sussex. This support is offered in a number of different service areas: day services, 
community support services, respite services, Shared Lives and supported accommodation. As part of 
the savings plan a proposal was made to close the service at Linden Court in Eastbourne and instead 
find adults places in alternative services run by ASCH or other providers.  As above, this now includes a

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     1

Appendix 2 of Appendix 1

P
age 67



proposal for a satellite service in Eastbourne to help reduce the impact of the closure for some of the 
people using the service.

Linden Court is a day service for people with learning disabilities and it is based in Eastbourne, the 
service is operational four days a week (closed on Tuesdays) between the hours of 08:30 to 16:30 on 
Monday, Wednesday and Friday and from 08:30 to 19:00 on Thursday. Sessions are offered throughout 
this time from 09:00 –12:00; 12:30 – 15:30 and 16:00 to 19:00 on Thursday in the community. The 
building-based daytime sessions include art, cookery, music, sport, multimedia, and gardening.

The service is used by 46 adults accessing the day service, mostly within the building and a small 
amount of community activity.

Some adults require a smaller, quieter setting as they struggle with large groups and noise.
The day service in Eastbourne has had low occupancy since the pandemic where, unlike other day 
services, attendance failed to pick up.

It will be possible to offer the same quantity of provision at Beeching Park in Bexhill which would extend 
its opening to five days a week, increasing its current building-based provision by 25%, and maintain the 
offer of 3 sessions a day: morning, afternoon and twilight. Beeching Park, as with all our day services, 
has a standard attendee to staff ratio of 5:1 and provides 1:1 support to attendees where required.
To enable us to provide a day service option for the adults who use Linden Court at Beeching Park, we 
would need to increase its staffing capacity and open for an additional day each week. Therefore, the 
saving is calculated as the budget of Linden Court less the cost of increased provision at Beeching Park.

Adults with Learning Disabilities and their Carers will be affected by this proposal.

Staff affected by this proposal are outside the scope of this EqIA and the change process will be 
managed in conjunction with Human Resources.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     2

P
age 68



1. Update on previous EqIAs and outcomes of previous actions (if applicable)

What actions did you plan last time?
(List them from the previous EqIA)

When savings had to be made in 2018, the 
EIA action plan included:

• adult and carer individual reviews
• providing information taking

communication needs into account
• putting transition plans in place
• support in finding alternative services

What improved as a result?
What outcomes have these actions 
achieved?
The changes allowed us to focus support on 
those who needed it most. Alternative 
support provisions were arranged by Care 
Management.

What further actions do you need to take? 
(add these to the Action Plan below)

None.  Actions for the current proposal are 
set out for each section below.

2. Review of information, equality analysis and potential actions

Consider the actual or potential impact of your project (service, or policy) against each of the equality characteristics.

Protected 
characteristics 
groups under the 
Equality Act 2010

What do you know?
Summary of data about your service- 
users and/or staff

What do people tell you? 
Summary of service-user 
and/or staff feedback

What does this mean? 
Impacts identified from data and 
feedback (actual and potential)

What can you do?
All potential actions to:
• advance equality of

opportunity,
• eliminate

discrimination, and
• foster good relations

Age

According to the 2021 Census, the 
proportion of the population of East 
Sussex aged 65 and over now stands 
at 26.1%, up from 22.7% in 2011.

Proportion of Population by age range 
(%):
East Sussex
0-19   20-44   45-64   65+
21        25        28      26

Within the consultation, the 
age range for 45 to 54 years 
old was the top respondent 
group (12%), followed by age 
65+ (9%), although we had 
responses from most age 
groups.

There is a smaller proportion of 
those aged 65+ compared to the 
population of the county and ASCH 
adults receiving long term support 
overall. This is to be expected as 
life expectancy is considerably 
lower for people with a learning 
disability.

No specific mitigations 
required for this 
characteristic.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     3

P
age 69

https://eastsussex-my.sharepoint.com/personal/lex_lewis_eastsussex_gov_uk/Documents/Project%20RPPR/EQIA/Learning%20Disability%20-%20Health%20Inequalities%20Research%20|%20Mencap
https://eastsussex-my.sharepoint.com/personal/lex_lewis_eastsussex_gov_uk/Documents/Project%20RPPR/EQIA/Learning%20Disability%20-%20Health%20Inequalities%20Research%20|%20Mencap


Disability

England
23        33        26      18

According to Age UK, three out of ten 
people aged 65 to 74 and two-thirds of 
those aged 75 and over are not online. 
The age range of adults using this 
service is:

• 18-30     24
• 30-40      6
• 40-50      8
• 50-60      5
• 60+         5

The total number of young people who 
will be turning 18 and transitioning to 
ASC are:

• this financial year (2024-2025):
10 (4 of these are 18 already, 6 
are 17 years old), (2 of the 10 
are external referrals so did not 
transfer from CDS)

• 2025-2026: 14
• 2026-2027: 15

In the 2021 census, 20.3% of East 
Sussex residents were living with a 
long-term physical or mental health 
condition or impairment that affected 
their ability to carry out day-to-day 
activities in 2021, the same proportion 
as in 2011 (compares to 18% for 
England & Wales).

The 2024 consultation told us 
that change is particularly 
unsettling to people using 
these services; Linden court 
users have been used to 
having a quieter environment 
and are likely to experience a 
busier environment in 
alternative service provision.

All adults accessing the services 
included in the proposals have a 
learning
disability or have recognised 
additional needs. Some people 
may have further complexities 
such as sensory impairment or 
sensitivities, physical disabilities

All adults who are 
affected would be 
offered an individual 
review to consider 
whether their support 
package, in light of 
service changes, 
continues to meet their 
assessed needs.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     4

P
age 70

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/later_life_in_a_digital_world.pdf


34.8% of households in East Sussex 
had at least one member identifying as 
disabled under the Equality Act in 2021.

The number of working age adults with 
a Primary Support Reason of Learning 
Disability Support receiving community 
based services during the year 2023/4 
is 1068.

According to Ofcom research, people 
with a learning disability are most likely 
to say that their use of TVs or 
computers is either limited or 
completely prevented due to their 
condition. Nearly two in ten (18%) said 
their use of TVs or computers was 
limited or prevented, while around one 
in ten said the same for the internet, 
landline, smartphones or simple mobile 
phones.

All adults are being supported due to 
learning disability. In addition there are 
9 adults with Autism (with one with 
additional physical needs), 5 with 
additional physical needs (one of these 
with an additional sensory impairment), 
and 4 with a neurological disability. - 18 
adults in total.
.

Some people may find this 
difficult. People with sensory 
conditions are particularly 
likely to be negatively 
impacted by this proposal.

NHS Sussex told us that 
consideration should be given 
to what services there would 
be for people who need a 
quieter environment due to 
other diagnoses and sensory 
sensitivities.
Sensory sensitivities, can lead
to people feeling overwhelmed 
in noisy or busy environments 
and can lead to difficulties with 
social communication and/or 
interaction, requiring 
appropriate support and 
provision. If these needs are 
not met, it could lead to 
increasing instances of 
behaviours that challenge 
services, and require more 
resource intensive, higher 
cost, multi-agency input in the 
medium and longer term.

Those responding to the 
consultation told us that 
closing the service would lead 
to poorer mental health for

and other health problems which 
may
impact on them further.

A change in routine may cause 
adults anxiety and less opportunity 
for social
interaction and ongoing skills
development.
Any changes agreed may also 
cause adults increased emotional 
and/ or psychological
distress.
There may be an increased
reliance on other services for 
example, health services.

There are several 
adults who attend 
Linden Court that 
would find moving to a 
full, busy day service 
challenging. We 
propose to have a 
small specific team to 
work with these adults 
for a year to either 
assist them to 
integrate into 
Beeching Park or, if 
their needs remain for 
a more bespoke 
provision, assist the 
transition to this when 
it is identified.

Where ASCH directly 
provided services are 
not sufficient or 
appropriate to meet 
the assessed needs of 
individuals, Care 
Managers will seek 
alternative support 
solutions.

We will communicate 
changes to adults and 
their parents/carers 
appropriately and will 
work with them to

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     5

P
age 71

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/siteassets/resources/documents/research-and-data/multi-sector/access-and-inclusion/2018/research-summary-learning-disability.pdf?v=321537


those affected and could lead 
to more challenging behaviour.

People who attend the service 
say that they would have to 
attend on the same days and 
times at another service as 
they have other commitments 
that cannot move.

18% of respondents have a 
physical or mental health 
condition or long-term illness.

identify action needed. 
Options may include 
information and advice 
about alternative 
services where 
available as well as 
referral to advocacy 
services. 
Communications’ 
preferences will be 
met, for example, via 
Easy read Adult 
Consultation pack/ 
covering letter, Easy 
read leaflets relating to 
proposed changes in 
services, etc.
Staff will provide
additional support to 
help adults understand 
the changes being 
proposed.

Information will be 
provided in an 
accessible format for 
those with sensory 
impairments.

Gender 
reassignment

The 2021 East Sussex Lesbian Gay 
Bisexual Trans Queer + (LGBTQ+)1 

Comprehensive Needs Assessment 
estimates that there may be 5,572 
Trans and Gender Diverse (TGD)

No responses were received in 
terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic.

There are no adults with this 
protected characteristic.

If there were adults 
with this protected 
characteristic, any 
support needs would 
be picked up during

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     6

P
age 72



people (1% of the population) living in 
East Sussex
2021 Census: 1640 residents declared
their gender identity was different to
that assigned at birth which is 0.4% of 
the population.
Adult data tells us that there are no 
adults with this protected characteristic.

the individual reviews 
or assessment and 
appropriate support 
would be provided.

Pregnancy and 
maternity

Race (ethnicity) 
Including migrants, 
refugees and 
asylum seekers

There are just under 5,000 births per 
year in East Sussex. Hastings has the 
highest overall birth rate as well as for 
women aged 15-19 years. Lewes and 
then Rother have the highest birth rates 
for women aged 35-44 years.
Adult data for the service tells us that
there are no adults with this protected 
characteristic
88.3% of usual residents of East 
Sussex said that they belonged to the 
White: English, Welsh, Scottish, 
Northern Irish or British ethnic group. 
Black and minority ethnic groups 
including white minority groups (Irish, 
Gypsy or Irish Traveller, Roma, Other 
White) make up 11.7% of usual 
residents in East Sussex.
This compares to 18.8% in England.
In 2021, 93.9% (512,440) of usual
residents in East Sussex identified their
ethnic group within the high-level 
"White" category, a decrease from 
96.0% (505,420) in the 2011 Census, 
but still significantly higher than the 
English national average (81.0%) and

No responses were received in 
terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic.

No responses were received in 
terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic.

There are no adults with this 
protected characteristic.

The data indicates that the race 
and ethnicity of adults using the 
service is reflective of the County 
generally.

If there were adults 
with this protected 
characteristic, any 
support needs would 
be picked up during 
the individual reviews 
or assessment and 
appropriate support 
would be provided
We will ensure access 
to translation and 
interpreting services if 
required; ensure staff 
are aware of the 
process and that the 
information translated 
is still in Easy Read.

Culturally appropriate 
services to be 
considered as part of 
the individual review of 
needs as required.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     7

P
age 73



also higher than the average for the
South East region (86.6%).

4.6% were of another white
background; 1.6% were Asian/ Asian
British, 0.5% were Black/ Black British
and1.3.% were from other ethnic
backgrounds.
Those selecting a non-UK identity only
accounted for 5.5% of the overall
population (29,880 people), which is an
increase from 4.3% of the population
(23,090 people) in 2011. The most
common non-UK identities are Polish,
Irish, Romanian, Portuguese and
Italian.
A higher percentage of the population
in East Sussex identified as Gypsy or
Irish Traveller than the national average
(0.2% compared to 0.1%).

Of adults using this service:

• 37 White British
• 1 Asian/ Asian British
• 1 Black/Black British – African
• 1 Mixed - White And Black

Caribbean
• 2 Any Other Ethnic Group
• 2 White - Any Other Background
• Ethnicity not recorded for 2

adults

One adult speaks Italian and does not
speak English.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     8

P
age 74



In 2021, 45.9% (250,330) of usual 
residents of East Sussex identified as 
Christian, down from 59.9% (315,650) 
in 2011.
The second most common religion in
East Sussex after Christianity is Islam.
The proportion of the population stating 
they were Muslim increased from 0.8% 
of the usual resident population (4,200) 
in 2011 to 1.1% (6,190) in 2021. This is

No responses were received in 
terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic.

We do not routinely collect this 
information. However, where an 
adult requests a specific need to be 
supported with their religion this is 
recorded on their support plan.

Ensure any support 
requirements relating 
to religion or belief are 
identified via the 
review process and 
recorded on support 
plans.

Religion or belief low compared to both the South East
Regional and the English national 
averages, with 3.3% of residents in the 
South East specified their religion as 
Islam, and 6.7% across the whole of 
England.
Details of the impact upon religion and
belief on ASC:
Religion and Belief in Health and Social 
Care Assessments -

Of the population of East Sussex, 
299,064 (52%) are female and 270,788 
(48%) are male.

Sex Of adults attending Linden Court:
• 32 are female
• 14 are male

More women than men took 
part in the consultation survey 
– 41% compared to 12%, 
although 43% did not answer 
the question.
No responses were received in
terms of impact upon those

Compared to the population of the 
County, proportionately more 
women will be affected by this 
proposal.

Any support needs 
specifically based on a 
person’s sex will be 
covered in the 
individual reviews.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     9

P
age 75

https://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/Religion-and-Belief-in-Health-and-Social-Care-Assessments-with-Service-Users.pdf
https://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/Religion-and-Belief-in-Health-and-Social-Care-Assessments-with-Service-Users.pdf


The 2021 East Sussex LGBTQI+ 
Comprehensive Needs Assessment 
estimates that there may be between 
17,273 and 39,004 LGB+ people living 
in East Sussex (between 3.1% and 7% 
of the population)

According to the 2021 Census 3.3% of 
East Sussex residents declared 
themselves as LGB+.

11 adults recorded as heterosexual, 
data was not available for the 
remainder.

with this protected 
characteristic.

No responses were received in 
terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic.

Data on this protected 
characteristic is limited and we 
cannot make an accurate 
assessment of dis/proportionate 
impact.

If there were adults 
with this protected 
characteristic, any 
support needs would 
be picked up during 
the individual reviews 
or assessment and 
appropriate support 
would be provided.

Improve data 
collection on this 
characteristic.

Marriage and civil 
partnership

According to 2021 census data for East 
Sussex:

• Single 29%
• Married 46.5%
• Civil Partnership 0.4%
• Divorced 11%
• Widowed 8%

One adult is recorded as married.

No responses were received in 
terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic.

One adult is married, the majority 
are single.

No specific mitigations 
required.

Armed Forces

There were 19,917 households (8.3% 
of all households) in East Sussex with 
at least one person who had served in 
the UK armed forces.

No responses were received in 
terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic.

This does not affect any of the N/A
adults using this service.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     10

Sexual orientation

P
age 76



Whilst adults will not have served in the 
Armed Forces, it is not known whether 
anyone in their households has.

Impacts on 
community 
cohesion

Respondents to the 
consultation told us that 
socialisation is a key part of 
attending Linden Court and 
this will be lost if the service 
closes.
People told us that their links
with their local community 
would be lost. Future school/
college leavers in the area 
wouldn’t have a local service 
they could transition to.

Community connections built up 
around Linden Court, via for 
example the use of local venues or 
businesses, will be lost.

There are no identified 
specific mitigations.

Additional categories
(identified locally as potentially causing / worsening inequality)

Characteristic  What do you know? What do people tell you? What does this mean? What can you do?

74% of the population in East Sussex 
lives in an urban area with the remaining 
26% living in a rural area (2021 census). 
Adult data shows they live:

Rurality • 26 in Eastbourne
• 10 in Hailsham
• 2 in Seaford, 
• 1 in Bexhill,
• 1 in Hastings

Concern over transport was 
a recurring theme within the 
consultation although this 
was in terms of distance to 
Bexhill rather than 
specifically relating to those 
in rural areas.

Transport links and services 
are less available in some 
rural areas compared to 
larger towns, which may 
reduce the availability and 
choice of alternative 
services e.g. personal 
assistants, should these be 
required.

Transport requirements will 
be reviewed as part of an 
individual assessment. 
Transport to alternative 
service provision will be 
part of support plans.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     11

P
age 77



• 6 in the more rural areas -
Westham, Polegate and
Pevensey.

Below is a map of adults’ addresses.

LD%20Linden%20Ma
p.docx

Carers

There are over 10,000 persons 
claiming Carer’s Allowance in East 
Sussex. (Source Department of Work 
and Pensions Feb 2020).
Care for the Carers estimates that 
there are 69,241 unpaid carers in East 
Sussex, it is difficult to know the actual 
number of carers because many are 
hidden.

There are 36 adults who live with 
family/ carers and have unpaid carers.

The number of carers 
taking part (26%) in the 
consultation reflected the 
fact that the family and 
carers of people using the 
services was the top 
respondent group; 14% of 
respondents provide 50 or 
more hours of care per 
week and 5% provide 9 or 
more hours.

Carers told us that driving 
longer distances to reach 
another day centre would 
add extra pressure to their 
already difficult lives.

Families and carers told us 
that Linden Court is a 
lifeline that allows them to 
continue in their caring role 
and to maintain their

Carers of working age who 
are employed may be 
negatively impacted if they 
have structured their 
working hours around day 
services at Linden Court. 
This may result in carers 
not being able to maintain 
their current
employment and potentially 
experience a reduction to 
their income. The proposals 
may cause additional stress 
on family environments and 
family life as a whole. 
Carers may also have other 
caring responsibilities for 
other family
members e.g. children or
other relatives.

Carers will be offered 
assessments or reviews.

Impact of the change and 
support will considered as 
part of these reviews. This 
will include the benefits and 
timing of respite breaks.

Continuing to provide a 
satellite day service in 
Eastbourne will mitigate this 
risk for those most 
impacted by the proposed 
change.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     12

P
age 78



Other groups that may 
be differently affected 
(including but not only: 
homeless people, 
substance users, care 
leavers)

East Sussex is fifth most deprived of 26 
County Councils.13% of people aged 
60 plus were living in poverty in 2019 
(source Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment).
10.3% of households were in fuel
poverty in 2019 compared to 9.3 % in
England.

employment if they have a 
job.

The biggest concern with 
Beeching Park is the 
journey. People say that it 
would be a much longer 
and more complicated 
commute, with many saying 
that it just wouldn’t work for 
their family; some had 
already tried it out to 
confirm that.

People told us that they 
cannot afford the taxi fare to 
Bexhill so will not be able to 
access services.

According to research by 
British Association of Social 
Workers (2023) people with 
a learning disability are 
likely to be at higher risk of 
the potential health risks 
and consequences of cold 
weather and fuel poverty 
than the general population. 
It was estimated that people 
with a learning disability 
spent far more on things 
like transport, medication 
and energy than someone 
without a disability. So the 
financial implications of 
additional transport costs 
are more likely to impact

Any transport requirements 
to alternative service 
provision will be considered 
as part of support planning 
and the person’s package 
of care.

Learning Disability England 
has been running a cost of
living hub . There is 
information on resources, 
campaigns, advice on 
staying warm & financial 
help in there.

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     13

P
age 79

https://www.learningdisabilityengland.org.uk/cost-of-living-resources/
https://www.learningdisabilityengland.org.uk/cost-of-living-resources/


people who use this 
service.

Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations - include assessment of cumulative impacts (where a change in one
service/policy/project may have an impact on another)

We received 373 responses to the consultation. Most people strongly disagreed with the proposal to close Linden Court, with only 6% agreeing. The key 
issues raised within the consultation were that the commute to alternative provision in Bexhill is more complex/ expensive, a change in routine is disruptive for 
adults with learning disabilities, there will be an increased burden on family/carers and there will be an impact upon socialisation as well as mental health of 
adults and carers.

If the proposal is agreed, whilst alternative locations would be offered, meaning access to day services would remain, it is likely that there would still be a 
negative impact on adults with a learning disability.

It is likely that adults and their families and carers would experience anxiety related to change.

Through consolidating two day services into one building it is likely that an environment will be created that will be busier than the current position at Linden 
Court which could be challenging for adults with who require a quiet environment.  If the proposal is agreed we will offer a small specific team to work with 
these adults for a year to either assist them to integrate into Beeching Park or, if it is not a suitable placement after this input for a more bespoke provision, 
assist the transition to this when it is identified. We will also offer a satellite day service at Eastbourne which will mitigate the impact.
Noting that there is likely to be a reduced overall provision of smaller, quieter day services in the county if Linden Court were to close.

If the proposals are agreed, all adults who are affected would be offered an individual review to consider whether their support package, in light of service 
changes, continues to meet their assessed needs. Where it is identified that the services directly provided by ASCH are not sufficient to meet the assessed 
needs of individuals, Care Managers will seek alternative support solutions.

The proposed reduction may also impact directly on carers’ mental and physical health. As part of the individual service reviews mentioned above, carers 
would be offered a carer’s assessment, or a review of their assessment, to determine whether support packages continue to meet their assessed need.

There will be as much notice as possible to allow consultation and time for adjustments to be made .

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     14

P
age 80



If the proposal is agreed, we will communicate changes to adults and their parents/carers appropriately and will work with them to identify action needed. 
Options may include information and advice about alternative services where available as well as referral to advocacy services. Communications’ preferences 
will be met via the following options:

• All communication materials produced in ‘Easy read’ formats
• Any meetings about the changes for parents/carers will be scheduled to take place both during the day and in the evenings to provide flexibility for

people who work during the day. Meetings will be held in a range of venues across the county.
• Easy read posters giving details of Advocacy support and scheduled Advocacy

meetings
• Information in required, accessible formats for those with sensory impairments
• Information and advice translated into other languages, in easy read format, as required

To ensure existing and future service provision continues to meet the needs of those coming through from Children’s Services, we will work closely with the 
Transitions team.

3. List detailed data and/or community feedback that informed your EqIA

Source and type of data (e.g. research, or direct engagement (interviews), 
responses to questionnaires, etc.) Date Gaps in 

data

Actions to fill these gaps: who else do 
you need to engage with?
(add these to the Action Plan below, with a
timeframe)

ESCC 2024 Consultation Nov/ Dec N/A N/A
2024

East Sussex in Figures – Data Observatory – Welcome to East Sussex in
Figures

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     15

P
age 81

https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/
https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/


Await outcomes of Disability Rights Reference Group and Inclusion Advisory
Group.

Disabled users access to and use of communication devices and services
Research summary: Learning disability (Ofcom 2019)

Learning Disability - Health Inequalities Research | Mencap

Stuck at home - the impact of day service cuts on people with a learning
disability FINAL.doc (mencap.org.uk)

Spotlight on Poverty: People with Learning Disabilities | BASW

4. Prioritised Action Plan
NB: These actions must now be transferred to service or business plans and monitored to ensure they achieve the outcomes identified.

Impact identified
and group(s) Action planned Expected outcome Measure of success Timeframe
affected
All Individual reviews of adult’s support

needs will be undertaken for
everyone affected by a reduction in 
service. Care managers, adults and

Support plans updated to 
reflect changes in services.

Care and support needs 
continue to be met

To reflect implementation of 
savings’ proposals (all 
actions).

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     16

P
age 82

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/siteassets/resources/documents/research-and-data/multi-sector/access-and-inclusion/2018/research-summary-learning-disability.pdf?v=321537
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/siteassets/resources/documents/research-and-data/multi-sector/access-and-inclusion/2018/research-summary-learning-disability.pdf?v=321537
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/health/health-inequalities
https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/2016-08/Stuck_at_home.pdf
https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/2016-08/Stuck_at_home.pdf
https://basw.co.uk/articles/spotlight-poverty-people-learning-disabilities#:~:text=They%20may%20be%20faced%20with,poverty%20than%20the%20general%20population.


carers will have a discussion about
the impact of the change and how
best to support them through it.

All A transition plan is proposed to As above. As above.
ensure that all adults experience a
consistent level of support from at
least one service.

Disability Consultation, information and
guidance to be provided in
accessible formats as required such 
as Easy Read. Additional help to 
understand the changes will be 
provided by staff.

All Where possible, new solutions
would be sought through the use of 
Direct Payments which can be used 
flexibly and adults would be 
supported to make choices and 
decisions about available options.

Adults and carers have 
input into changes to 
services.

Support plans updated to 
reflect changes.

Care and support needs 
continue to be met.

As above.

Carers Carers’ reviews will also be As above. As above
undertaken.

All Beeching to set up a satellite service
in Eastbourne on 2 days per week.
A dedicated team will be set up to 
support those affected by the 
changes, to help them adjust and 
provide support in finding alternative 
options.

Support plans updated to 
reflect changes in services.

Care and support needs 
continue to be met
.

Sexual 
orientation

Improve data collection on sexuality Better information on sexual
orientation of people with a
learning disability

Better dataset on this From March 2025
characteristic

2023                                                                                                                                                                                                     17

P
age 83



P
age 84



Appendix 3 – Map showing where adults currently attending Linden Court reside

Appendix 3 of Appendix 1

P
age 85



P
age 86



Active Arts 
(Mencap), St 

onards on Sea, 
37 6AS 

Eastbourne 

SeeAbility – Th

Community Hub 
–
B
T

Battle 

Bexhill 

Appendix 4 – Map of alternative day service provision

Crowborough

GK’s Café (Chailey 
Heritage 
Foundation), North 
Chailey, BN8 4EF

Ringmer

The Barn 
Centre, 
Crowborough, 
TN6 1TQ

Sussex House 
Day Services – 
Aspens, Battle, 
TN33 OAE

Hastings Gateway
Club (Mencap), St
Leonards on Sea,
TN37 6EW

Parchment Trust 
(Incl. Friary 
Gardeners), 
Hastings, TN34 2RA

Little Gate 
Farm, 
Beckley, 
TN31 6RZ

Ambition Links, 
Icklesham,
TN36 4BJ

Lewes

Chalk Farm 
LDC, 
Eastbourne, 
BN20 9JD

Inspire Social 
Club (Mencap), 
Eastbourne, 
BN21 1JJ

Boathouse Theatre Arts, 
Glyne Gap School, 
Bexhill, TN40 2PU

The Pelham,
exhill on Sea,
N40 2DD

Hastings
Open Door, 
Hastings & 
Bexhill Mencap, 
Hastings, TN34 
2JJ

Day Services

Rocking Robins, 
Downlands 
Court, 
Peacehaven

6.8.24 SA

e
Bradbury
Centre, Seaford, 
BN25 2HS

Peacehaven

Seaford

Eastbourne Phab Club, 
Archery Youth Centre, 
Eastbourne, BN22 7RR

Le
TN

Project Artworks, 
Hastings, TN34 1TD

MENCAP
Advice, Information & Guidance

Employment Support

Groups and Clubs

Community Hub

Appendix 4 of Appendix 1

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
People Scrutiny Committee Pre-decision Board - 20 February 2025  
 
 
In attendance: Councillors Howell (Chair), Belsey, Cross, Field, Geary, Lambert, 
Shing and Swansborough 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Maynard (attended online) 

Mark Stainton, Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

Frood Radford, Assistant Director, interim Assistant Director 

Planning, Performance and Engagement. 

   Rachel Sweeney, Senior Policy and Scrutiny Adviser  

Summary of Comments to Cabinet 
 
1.1  The People Scrutiny Pre-decision Board met on the 20 February 2025 and 
agreed comments to be put to Cabinet, on behalf of the Committee, on savings 
proposals related to Adult Social Care and Health for consideration on 25 February 
2025. 
 
1.2  The Director of Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH) introduced each Cabinet 
report which detailed the recommendations to Cabinet on each saving proposal and 
information to be considered by Cabinet, including alternative proposals considered, 
consultation responses, and equality impact assessments. 
 
1.3 The comments of the People Scrutiny Pre-decision Board are set out below: 
 
General comments 
 
1.4  In discussing each of the savings proposals, the Board considered the 
financial context in which savings had been identified; the potential impacts of 
savings on individuals, carers and family members, including journey times, as well 
impacts on strategic partners; and the proposed mitigations for these impacts.  
 
1.5  The Board overall was deeply concerned about the impacts that all proposals 
would have on vulnerable individuals and services but recognised the extremely 
challenging financial position of East Sussex County Council and the need to identify 
significant savings in order to set a balanced budget. The Board was concerned 
about the capacity of the independent and voluntary, community and social 
enterprise (VCSE) sector to meet increases in demand as a result of proposals going 
ahead, and noted the fragility of the care market, particularly since the recent 
increases to national living wage and employer national insurance contributions. The 
Board discussed plans for local government reorganisation and commented that 
some savings proposals would have significant impacts on district and borough 
council services, which would become the responsibility of any new unitary authority. 

Page 1

Appendix 2

Page 89



The Board agreed that it was important for the Council to continue to lobby 
Government for sustainable funding that met the needs of East Sussex residents.  
 
Proposal to close the Milton Grange Day Service for older people 
 
1.6  The Board recognised the value of this service to its clients and carers and 
welcomed assurance that the revised proposal for Milton Grange Day Service would 
be able to continue to meet demand.  
 
1.7  The Board agreed that, in light of the challenging financial context, the revised 
proposal was the best possible outcome for clients and their carers.  
 
Proposal to close the Phoenix Centre Day Service for older people 
 
1.8  The Board considered the impact of this proposal on clients and their carers, 
including a recent successful temporary move to Milton Grange during building work 
on the Phoenix Day Service Centre, and agreed that although there would be some 
impact on individuals, Milton Grange could offer appropriate alternative provision to 
clients. The Board considered the travel arrangements for clients and carers who 
used the service and welcomed assurance that alternative provision would be 
appropriate for the individual and would take travel journeys into consideration. The 
Board, therefore, in light of the current financial context, recognised that the proposal 
was the best outcome available. However, the Board’s acceptance of this proposal 
was dependent on Cabinet agreeing to keep providing services at Milton Grange.  
 
1.9  The Board was concerned about the future of the Phoenix Talking Newspaper 
and welcomed the Department’s efforts to seek ongoing ways to provide this.  
 
Proposal to cease the specialist mental health community outreach service 
 
1.10  The Board agreed that the revised proposal was the best outcome possible, in 
light of the current financial context, and was reassured that clients using the service 
would be unlikely to notice any change in delivery. The Board therefore accepted the 
proposal and requested that the Department report to People Scrutiny Committee in 
6-9 months’ time on the impact of changes to service delivery and the effectiveness 
of the new arrangements.  
 
Proposal to close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning disability 
and merge it with Beeching Park day service 
 
1.11  In light of the financial context, the Board regrettably accepted this proposal, 
however the Board was deeply concerned about the potential impacts this would 
have on vulnerable clients, particularly on mental health, and sought and welcomed 
assurance that any transition to a new service would be managed sensitively through 
client and carer reviews. The Board was also concerned about the increased travel 
time which could impact clients and their carers and welcomed assurance that 
alternative provision would be appropriate for individuals affected and would take 
travel journeys into consideration. 
 

Page 2Page 90



1.12  The Board requested that the Department report to the People Scrutiny 
Committee in 6 – 9 months time on these impacts and noted that the committee 
would seek assurance that the relocation of clients had not been detrimental to their 
or their carer’s health.  
 
Proposal to close the Steps to Work service for people with a learning disability 
 
1.13  Overall, the Board recognised that the proposal was the best available 
outcome in light of the financial context and welcomed the ongoing provision of 
employment support. However, the Board was concerned that support once people 
were in employment would cease and that this could affect clients’ ability to remain in 
work. The Board did however recognise that some support was provided by the 
Department for Work and Pensions.  
 
1.14  Councillor Cross did not support this proposal and expressed a view that the 
service should be reduced rather than ceased. Councillor Cross expressed concern 
that the proposal for job coaches to deliver employment support through a re-
modelled Learning Disability Day Service Offer would be less effective as coaches 
would not sit within a dedicated employment service.  
 
Proposal to cease the Community Support Service for adults living independently at 
home and adapt the service for adults living in supported accommodation 
 
1.15  The Board accepted the revised proposal, in light of the financial context, and 
received assurance that the individuals affected by ceasing of support at weekends 
would be supported through a review and offered either a change of day that they 
received support, or an alternative form of support at the weekend. The Board also 
noted the potential benefits of existing day services providing a wider range of 
support.  
 
1.16  The Board welcomed that the revised proposal had generated a larger saving, 
and that Cabinet was being recommended to use this to mitigate the impact of a 
reduced saving on another ASCH proposal.  
 
1.17  Councillor Cross expressed concern at increasing the delivery of services 
through the independent sector and expressed the view that this could be more 
costly long term. 
 
Hookstead Day Service 
 
1.18  In light of the revised proposal for the Community Support Service for adults 
living independently at home and service for adults living in supported 
accommodation, the Board accepted the revised proposal to continue to provide a 
service at Hookstead Day Service, but at a reduced rate. The Board expressed that 
it was important to ensure there was provision in the north of the county and that, by 
preserving the service, it could be expanded in the future if there was increased 
demand. The Board was concerned that the revised timetable would impact on 
clients and carers, particularly carers who may use the service in order to work and 
welcomed assurance that clients and carers impacted by the revised timetable would 

Page 3Page 91



be supported and that, although the proposal was to reduce activity times, the 
morning drop off time would remain unaltered. 
 
Proposal to reduce the funding for the Housing-Related Floating Support Service 
 
1.19  The Board was deeply concerned about this proposal and its likely impact on 
vulnerable clients, including increased risk of homelessness, and on strategic 
partners and the VCSE sector, including BHT Sussex. The Board felt that the 
proposal would shift additional pressures onto district and borough councils which 
had a statutory responsibility to provide support. The Board also expressed concern 
that this was a short term solution and that housing support could be the 
responsibility of a new unitary authority in 3 years’ time. However, the Board 
recognised that this service was not a statutory responsibility of the County Council 
and had therefore not been prioritised as an area to protect. In light of this, the Board 
reluctantly accepted the proposal.  
 
1.20  The Board received assurance that, although referrals would be reduced, 
priority would be given to referrals from Children’s Services and individuals most at 
risk of developing Care Act eligible needs, which included those with care 
experience.  
 
1.21  The Board welcomed that the Department would continue to work with 
partners, including districts and boroughs to redesign and co-produce a targeted 
service around homelessness prevention. 
 
Supported Accommodation for adults with mental health, and additional needs 
 
1.22  The Board was deeply concerned about this proposal and its likely impact on 
vulnerable clients, including increased risk of homelessness, and on strategic 
partners. The Board felt that the proposal would shift additional pressures onto 
district and borough councils which had a statutory responsibility to provide support. 
The Board also expressed concern that this was a short term solution and that 
housing support could be the responsibility of a new unitary authority in 3 years’ 
time. However, the Board recognised that this was not a statutory responsibility of 
the County Council and had therefore not been prioritised as an area to protect and 
reluctantly accepted the proposal.  
 
1.23  The Board welcomed that the Department would continue to work with 
partners, including districts and boroughs to redesign and co-produce a targeted 
service around homelessness prevention. 
 
Proposal to cease the funding for Drug and Alcohol Recovery Services when the 
current contracts end in summer 2025 
 
1.24  The Board recognised the value of this service and, with no statutory 
responsibility for any organisation to provide this support, was deeply concerned that 
there would be no alternative provision if the service was to cease, and that there 
would be a subsequent increase in service needs. The Board was concerned about 
the impact this could have on strategic partners and the VCSE sector, including the 
Seaview Project. However, the Board recognised that this was not a statutory 

Page 4Page 92



responsibility of the County Council and had therefore not been prioritised as an area 
to protect. In light of this, the Board reluctantly accepted the proposal.  
 
1.25  The Board recommended that the service should be retained if possible but 
recognised that this was contingent on the Department receiving Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment and Recovery Grant funding from the Government. The Board expressed 
deep concern about the significant impacts on vulnerable people, carers, the health 
and care system, and wider community if this funding was not forthcoming.  

Page 5Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

REPORT OF THE PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
___________________________________________________________________ 

The People Scrutiny Committee met on 17 March 2025. 

Present: Councillors Johanna Howell (Chair), Colin Belsey, Anne Cross, Nuala 
Geary, Steve Murphy (substituting for Kathryn Field), Paul Redstone 
(substituting for Peter Pragnell), Stephen Shing, Colin Swansborough, 
Trevor Webb, Brett Wright (substituting for Carolyn Lambert), and John 
Hayling (Parent Governor Representative)  

  
Also Present: Councillor Bob Stanley, Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, 

Special Educational Needs and Disability) 
Councillor Bob Bowdler, Lead Member for Children and Families (via 
MS Teams) 
Councillor Kathryn Field (via MS Teams) 
Councillor Carl Maynard, Lead Member for Adult Social Care and 
Health (via MS Teams) 
Councillor David Tutt (via MS Teams) 

 
1. Call-in: decision made by Cabinet regarding the proposal to close the 
Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning disability and merge it 
with Beeching Park day service 

1.1  The decision made by Cabinet on 25 February 2025 in relation to the proposal 
to close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning disability and merge 
it with Beeching Park day service, was called in by four Members of the People 
Scrutiny Committee - Councillor Cross, Councillor Field, Councillor Lambert and 
Councillor Webb on 4 March 2025. A copy of the call-in request, specifying the 
grounds of concern requiring consideration by scrutiny, is at Appendix 1. 

1.2  On 17 February 2025 a report to Cabinet setting out the outcome of a 
consultation on the proposal to close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a 
learning disability and merge it with Beeching Park day service was published, with a 
recommendation to proceed with the closure of the Linden Court Day service and to 
reprovision this service at Beeching Park in Bexhill (Appendix 2). 

1.3 A People Scrutiny Pre-decision Board met on 20 February 2025 to consider 
the proposal that was set out in the report. The Pre-decision Scrutiny Board provided 
the Committee with an opportunity to consider the proposal and ask questions of 
officers, and to express their views to Cabinet before a decision was taken. The 
summary of comments agreed by the Board that was considered by Cabinet on 25 
February as part of its decision making process is attached at Appendix 3. Issues 
discussed by the Board included the impact of the proposal on vulnerable adults; 
increased travel time for clients and carers; and alternative provision. Members of 
the Committee did not raise the issue of the impact on District and Borough Councils 
in relation to this proposal at the meeting of scrutiny and therefore no concerns were 
recorded in the Committee’s comments that were subsequently considered at the 
Cabinet meeting. No such concerns were raised at the meeting of the Cabinet, at 
which a number of Members attended and made representations.  

1.4 The minute outlining Cabinet’s decision is contained in Appendix 4. 

1.5  On 4 March 2025 the call-in request was received and was based on the 
following areas of concern in relation to the decision: 

Appendix 3 

Page 95

https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66867/Appendix%201%20call-in%20request.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66868/Appendix%202%20Cabinet%20report%20and%20appendices%20Linden%20Court.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66869/Appendix%203%20People%20Scrutiny%20summary%20of%20comments%20for%20Cabinet%25https:/democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66869/Appendix%203%20People%20Scrutiny%20summary%20of%20comments%20for%20Cabinet%2025th-Feb-2025.pdf2025th-Feb-2025.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66870/Appendix%204%20minutes%2025th-Feb-2025%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf


PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 Did not sufficiently consider that in principle, the agreement that has been 
made between the District, Borough and County Council leaders in 
preparation for unitarisation processes, includes this: ‘…Decisions made 
by all sovereign bodies until vesting day [when the Unitary Authority takes 
control] will have the interests of future unitary council as an explicit 
consideration.’; and  

 Whether the impact of the proposal on District and Borough councils was 
sufficiently considered. 

1.6  The Director of Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH) provided information to 
the Committee in relation to the points raised in the call-in request (Appendix 5). In 
summary this set out that while working principles had been drafted with the District 
and Borough Councils regarding how we will work together, including having regard 
to the interests of the future unitary as a consideration, these had yet to be 
considered through the Council’s decision making process and therefore did not form 
part of the Council’s policy framework; proposals for a unitary authority are still at 
formative stage, it is not yet known what proposals will be considered by 
Government (these will be submitted in September) and, if agreed, the changes will 
not come into being for a number of years. This proposal is not anticipated to impact 
on any future unitary in any different way to how it would impact on the County 
Council now. In addition, officers do not consider that there will be any material 
impact of this proposal on District and Borough Councils.   

1.7  The People Scrutiny Committee met on 17 March 2025 to consider the call-in 
in relation to the decision made by Cabinet regarding the proposal to close the 
Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning disability and merge it with 
Beeching Park day service and the information provided by the Director of ASCH.  

1.8  At the meeting the Committee discussed and raised questions on a range of 
issues including the impact of the decision on a future unitary authority and on 
District and Borough Councils; the impact of the decision on future consultations; 
alternative provision; ongoing costs of Linden Court, respite provision and alternative 
savings. Responses provided by the Director of ASCH at the meeting were also 
considered. In summary, the Director noted that the consultation had sought to 
understand the impacts of this proposal on clients, carers, families and partners and 
the impacts identified had been fully considered. Where possible, mitigations to limit 
these impacts would be put in place and clients’ eligible needs would continue to be 
met by reprovisioning care. However, the proposal was put forward in light of the 
Council’s statutory duties to set a balanced budget and meet Care Act eligible needs 
for all clients. The Director also stated that there were no anticipated impacts from 
this proposal on the District and Borough Councils, and that the implications for any 
Unitary, which may come into being at a future date, were no different to those for 
the County Council, nor was there expected to be any increase in demand for 
residential or respite care. The minutes of the meeting are attached at Appendix 6. 

1.9  A motion moved by Councillor Cross and seconded by Councillor Webb that 
the matter be referred to the County Council on the grounds that a full financial 
assessment of the impact on a future unitary council and on District and Borough 
Councils was needed, including any additional costs for respite care, was carried.  

1.10  The Committee therefore RESOLVED to refer the matter in relation to the 
decision made by Cabinet on 25 February to close the Linden Court Day Service for 
people with a learning disability and merge it with Beeching Park day service to the 
County Council. 

Page 96

https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66871/Appendix%205%20Response%20from%20Director%20ASCH%20Call_in%20Linden%20Court.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66872/Appendix%206%20minutes%2017th-Mar-2025%2013.30%20People%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf


PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

1.11  The Scrutiny Committee has considered the call-in and referred the matter to 
the County Council for further consideration. Council cannot change the decision 
which, as an Executive decision, rests with the Cabinet. The role of the County 
Council is to consider the referral by People Scrutiny Committee, and whether to: 

 take no further action – in which case the original decision will take effect; or  

 refer the matter back to the Cabinet setting out the Council’s views. On receipt 

of a referral from the County Council, Cabinet may then decide whether to 

proceed with the original decision or make an amended decision. 

1.12 The People Scrutiny Committee recommends the County Council to – 

 consider the matter in relation to the decision made by Cabinet on 25 
February to close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning 
disability and merge it with Beeching Park day service and what action, if any, 
to take. 

2. Call-in: decision made by Cabinet regarding the proposal to reduce the 
funding for the Housing-Related Floating Support Service  
 
2.1  The decision made by Cabinet on 25 February 2025 in relation to the proposal 
to reduce the funding for the Housing-Related Floating Support Service was called in 
by five Members of the People Scrutiny Committee - Councillor Cross, Councillor 
Field, Councillor Lambert, Councillor Shing and Councillor Webb on 4 March 2025. A 
copy of the call-in request, which specified the grounds of concern for consideration 
by scrutiny, is at Appendix 7.  

2.2  On 17 February 2025 a report to Cabinet setting out the outcome of a 
consultation on the proposal to reduce the funding for the Housing-Related Floating 
Support Service was published, with a recommendation to proceed with the 
reduction in funding for the service (Appendix 8).  

2.3 A People Scrutiny Pre-decision Board met on 20 February 2025 to consider 
the proposal that was set out in the report. The Pre-decision Scrutiny Board provided 
the Committee with an opportunity to consider the proposal and ask questions of 
officers, and to express their views to Cabinet before a decision was taken. The 
summary of comments agreed by the Board that was considered by Cabinet on 25 
February as part of its decision making process is attached at Appendix 3. Issues 
discussed by the Board included the responsibilities of a possible future unitary 
authority, including housing support; the impact of the proposal on partners, 
including the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector and District 
and Borough Councils; and priority referrals, including care leavers.   

2.4 The minute outlining Cabinet’s decision is contained in Appendix 4. 

2.5  On 4 March 2025 the call-in request was received and was based on the 
following areas of concern in relation to the decision: 

 Did not sufficiently consider that in principle, the agreement that has been 
made between the District, Borough and County Council leaders in 
preparation for unitarisation processes, includes this: ‘…Decisions made 
by all sovereign bodies until vesting day [when the Unitary Authority takes 
control] will have the interests of future unitary council as an explicit 
consideration.’; and  

Page 97

https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66873/Appendix%207%20call-in%20request.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66874/Appendix%208%20Cabinet%20report%20and%20appendices.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66869/Appendix%203%20People%20Scrutiny%20summary%20of%20comments%20for%20Cabinet%2025th-Feb-2025.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66870/Appendix%204%20minutes%2025th-Feb-2025%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf


PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 Whether the impact of the proposal on District and Borough Councils was 
sufficiently considered. 

2.6  The Director of ASCH provided information to the Committee in relation to the 
points raised in the call-in request (Appendix 9). In summary this set out that while 
working principles had been drafted with the District and Boroughs regarding how 
the councils will work together, including having regard to the interests of the future 
unitary as a consideration, these had yet to be considered through the County 
Council’s decision making process and therefore did not form part of the Council’s 
policy framework; proposals for a unitary authority are still at formative stage, it is not 
yet known what proposals will be considered by Government (these will be submitted 
in September) and if agreed, the changes will not come into being for a number of 
years. 

2.7  The response from the Director of ASCH also acknowledged that this 
proposal may impact other organisations including District and Borough Councils, 
but set out that, as part of the consultation process, the Council attended a number 
of meetings (as detailed in Appendix 9) to ensure colleagues from the District and 
Borough Housing Authorities were fully briefed. Feedback from these meetings was 
gathered and their views were included in the papers for Cabinet. The Director’s 
response went on to set out that Council officers were continuing to engage with the 
District and Borough Housing Authorities in this regard. The impact of the proposal 
on the District and Borough Councils was fully considered and the Cabinet paid due 
regard to the impact on external agencies when making its decision. 

2.8  The People Scrutiny Committee met on 17 March 2025 to consider the call-in 
in relation to the decision taken by Cabinet to reduce the funding for the Housing-
Related Floating Support Service and the information provided by the Director of 
ASCH.  

2.9  At the meeting the Committee discussed and raised questions on a range of 
issues including the impact of the decision on a future unitary authority and on 
District and Borough Councils; the impact of the decision on future consultations; the 
draft homelessness strategy; the future of the service provider; and the impact on 
Children’s Services. Responses provided by the Director of ASCH at the meeting 
were also considered. In summary, the Director recognised the impact this decision 
would have District and Borough Councils and commented that this had been 
extensively consulted on and fully considered. However, the proposal had been put 
forward in light of the Council’s statutory duties to set a balanced budget and meet 
Care Act eligible needs and there was no statutory requirement for the County 
Council to provide a housing support service. The Director also reported that final 
proposals for a single tier of local government would not be agreed by the Council 
and submitted until September 2025 but commented on the ongoing engagement 
with partners, including District and Borough Councils, on future funding 
arrangements for homelessness prevention. The minutes of the meeting are 
attached at Appendix 6. 

2.10  A motion moved by Councillor Cross and seconded by Councillor Webb that 
the matter be referred to the County Council on the grounds that a full mediated 
assessment of the position of the district and borough councils on the proposal was 
needed, and that further consideration was needed about the impact of this proposal 
on a future unitary authority, was carried.  

Page 98

https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66875/Appendix%209%20Response%20from%20Director%20ASCH%20Call_in%20HRFS.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66875/Appendix%209%20Response%20from%20Director%20ASCH%20Call_in%20HRFS.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s66872/Appendix%206%20minutes%2017th-Mar-2025%2013.30%20People%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf


PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

2.11  The Committee therefore RESOLVED to refer the matter in relation to the 
decision made by Cabinet on 25 February to reduce the funding for the Housing-
Related Floating Support Service to the County Council. 

2.12  The Scrutiny Committee has considered the call-in and referred the matter to 
the County Council for further consideration. The County Council cannot change the 
decision which, as an Executive decision, rests with the Cabinet. The role of the 
County Council is to consider the referral by People Scrutiny Committee, and 
whether to: 

 take no further action – in which case the original decision will take effect; or  

 refer the matter back to the Cabinet setting out the Council’s views. On receipt 

of a referral from the County Council, Cabinet may then decide whether to 

proceed with the original decision or make an amended decision 

2.13  The People Scrutiny Committee recommends the County Council to -      

 consider the matter in relation to the decision made by Cabinet on 25 
February to reduce the funding for the Housing-Related Floating Support 
Service and what action, if any, to take. 

 

 

 

17 March 2025       JOHANNA HOWELL  

Chair 

    
  

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  1 

Appendix 4 – Linden Court Day Services Equality Impact Analysis   
 
 

Title of Project/Service/Policy 
Linden Court day services in Eastbourne 

 

Team/Department 
Learning Disability Directly Provided Services  

Directorate  
Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH) 

Provide a comprehensive 
description of your Project 
(Service/Policy, etc.) including 
its Purpose and Scope 

Summary of changes to original proposal 
This EqIA has been prepared in response to a significantly revised proposal for the Linden Court Day 
Service for people with a learning disability. 
The original EqIA is included within Appendix 1 of the report to Cabinet 15 July 2025. 
 
Original proposal presented to Cabinet February 2025: 

1) Close the Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning disability in Eastbourne.  Offer 
alternative day opportunities within the independent sector and ASCH directly provided 
services, including: 

• Reprovisioning the Beeching Park Day Service for people with a learning disability in Bexhill to 
provide additional capacity and to revise the days of opening and opening hours.  

• Establishing a satellite day service in Eastbourne as part of the Beeching Park Day Service 
offer, to be provided two days per week.  

Revised proposal for Cabinet July 2025 

Agree to retain a day service at Linden Court, capped at the current, actual maximum occupancy level of 

25 people per day.  

This updated EqIA considers the potential impact of this revised proposal. 

 

  

A
ppendix 4

P
age 101



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  2 

1. Update on previous EqIAs and outcomes of previous actions (if applicable) 
 

What actions did you plan last time?  
(List them from the previous EqIA) 

What improved as a result?  
What outcomes have these actions 
achieved? 

What further actions do you need to take? 
(add these to the Action Plan below) 

When savings had to be made in 2018, the 
EIA action plan included: 

• adult and carer individual reviews 

• providing information taking 
communication needs into account 

• putting transition plans in place 

• support in finding alternative services 

The changes allowed us to focus support on 
those who needed it most. Alternative 
support provisions were arranged by Care 
Management. 

None.  Actions for the current proposal are 
set out for each section below. 

 

2. Review of information, equality analysis and potential actions 
 

Consider the actual or potential impact of your project (service, or policy) against each of the equality characteristics. 
Please note the revised information below contains information from the original consultation in autumn 2024 and additional information 
received since February 2025. 
 

Protected 
characteristics  
groups under the 
Equality Act 2010 

What do you know? 
Summary of data about your 
service-users and/or staff 

What do people tell you? 
Summary of service-user 
and/or staff feedback 

What does this mean? 
Impacts identified from data and 
feedback (actual and potential) 

What can you do? 
All potential actions to:  
• advance equality of 

opportunity,  
• eliminate discrimination, 

and  
• foster good relations 

Age 

According to the 2021 Census, the 
proportion of the population of East 
Sussex aged 65 and over now 
stands at 26.1%, up from 22.7% in 
2011. 
 
Proportion of Population by age 
range (%): 

Within the consultation, the 

age range for 45 to 54 years 

old was the top respondent 

group (12%), followed by age 

65+ (9%), although we had 

responses from most age 

groups. 

There is a smaller proportion of 
those aged 65+ compared to the 
population of the county and ASCH 
adults receiving long term support 
overall. This is to be expected as life 
expectancy is considerably lower for 
people with a learning disability. 

No specific mitigations 
required for this 
characteristic. 
 
The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 
people – which is the 

P
age 102

https://eastsussex-my.sharepoint.com/personal/lex_lewis_eastsussex_gov_uk/Documents/Project%20RPPR/EQIA/Learning%20Disability%20-%20Health%20Inequalities%20Research%20|%20Mencap
https://eastsussex-my.sharepoint.com/personal/lex_lewis_eastsussex_gov_uk/Documents/Project%20RPPR/EQIA/Learning%20Disability%20-%20Health%20Inequalities%20Research%20|%20Mencap


 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  3 

East Sussex      
0-19   20-44   45-64   65+ 
21        25        28      26 
England          
23        33        26      18 
 
According to Age UK, three out of 
ten people aged 65 to 74 and two-
thirds of those aged 75 and over 
are not online.  
The age range of adults using this 
service is: 

• 18-30     24 

• 30-40      6 

• 40-50      8 

• 50-60      5 

• 60+         5 
 
The total number of young people 
who will be turning 18 and 
transitioning to ASC are: 
 

• this financial year (2024-
2025): 10 (4 of these are 18 
already, 6 are 17 years old), 
(2 of the 10 are external 
referrals so did not transfer 
from CDS) 

• 2025-2026: 14 

• 2026-2027: 15 
 

 current maximum daily 
occupancy – will remove or 
mitigate any potential 
issues and concerns raised 
through initial consultation 
and further work with 
parents/ carers. 
 

P
age 103

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/later_life_in_a_digital_world.pdf


 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  4 

Disability 

In the 2021 census, 20.3% of East 
Sussex residents were living with a 
long-term physical or mental health 
condition or impairment that 
affected their ability to carry out 
day-to-day activities in 2021, the 
same proportion as in 2011 
(compares to 18% for England & 
Wales). 
34.8% of households in East 
Sussex had at least one member 
identifying as disabled under the 
Equality Act in 2021. 
 
The number of working age adults 
with a Primary Support Reason of 
Learning Disability Support 
receiving community based 
services during the year 2023/4 is 
1068. 
 
According to Ofcom research, 
people with a learning disability are 
most likely to say that their use of 
TVs or computers is either limited 
or completely prevented due to 
their condition. Nearly two in ten 
(18%) said their use of TVs or 
computers was limited or 
prevented, while around one in ten 
said the same for the internet, 
landline, smartphones or simple 
mobile phones. 
 

The 2024 consultation told us 
that change is particularly 
unsettling to people using 
these services; Linden court 
users have been used to 
having a quieter environment 
and are likely to experience a 
busier environment in 
alternative service provision.  
Some people may find this 
difficult. People with sensory 
conditions are particularly 
likely to be negatively 
impacted by this proposal. 
 
NHS Sussex told us that 

consideration should be 

given to what services there 

would be for people who 

need a quieter environment 

due to other diagnoses and 

sensory sensitivities. 

Sensory sensitivities, can 

lead to people feeling 

overwhelmed in noisy or busy 

environments and can lead to 

difficulties with social 

communication and/or 

interaction, requiring 

appropriate support and 

provision. If these needs are 

not met, it could lead to 

increasing instances of 

behaviours that challenge 

All adults accessing the services 
included in the proposals have a 
learning disability or have 
recognised additional needs. Some 
people may have further 
complexities such as sensory 
impairment or sensitivities, physical 
disabilities and other health 
problems which may  
impact on them further. 
 
A change in routine may cause 
adults anxiety and less opportunity 
for social interaction and ongoing 
skills development. Any changes 
agreed may also cause adults 
increased emotional and/ or 
psychological  
distress. 
 
There may be an increased reliance 
on other services for example, health 
services if significant changes were 
made to the provision at Linden 
Court.. 
 
The reduction in capacity will not 
impact existing users of the service, 
as the current maximum capacity per 
day does not exceed 25. All adults 
currently attending Linden Court will 
continue to be able to attend.  
 
The reduced capacity at Linden 
Court could potentially mean that, in 

The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 
people – which is the 
current maximum daily 
occupancy – will remove or 
mitigate the potential 
issues and concerns raised 
through initial consultation 
and further work with 
parents/ carers as there 
will be little or no disruption 
to existing care 
arrangements and 
routines. 
 
Average attendance at 
Linden Court has been 
significantly below capacity 
for several years now and 
maximum attendance per 
day has not exceeded 25 
in the last 12 months. 
 
Future demand and 
capacity for day services 
for people with a learning 
disability is part of regular 
work by our Supply 
Management Team and on 
our Market Position 
Statement and any 
potential future issues 
around suitable options to 

P
age 104

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/siteassets/resources/documents/research-and-data/multi-sector/access-and-inclusion/2018/research-summary-learning-disability.pdf?v=321537


 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  5 

All adults are being supported due 
to learning disability. In addition 
there are 9 adults with Autism (with 
one with additional physical 
needs), 5 with additional physical 
needs (one of these with an 
additional sensory impairment), 
and 4 with a neurological disability. 
- 18 adults in total. 
.  
 

services, and require more 

resource intensive, higher 

cost, multi-agency input in 

the medium and longer term. 

 
Those responding to the 

consultation told us that 

closing the service would 

lead to poorer mental health 

for those affected and could 

lead to more challenging 

behaviour. 

 

People who attend the 

service say that they would 

have to attend on the same 

days and times at another 

service as they have other 

commitments that cannot 

move. 

 

18% of respondents have a 

physical or mental health 

condition or long-term illness. 

 

Parents/ carers told us that 

the prolonged period of 

uncertainty, coupled with a 

potential significant and 

disruptive change to their 

current package, 

compounded in some 

circumstances by the carers 

future, adults with learning 
disabilities would not be able to 
choose Linden Court when 
considering day opportunities and 
would have to access alternative day 
services. This could mean that some 
people might have to travel further to 
access a day service than they 
otherwise would have had to.  

meet needs would be 
addressed. 
 

P
age 105



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  6 

personal situation, meant that 

they did not expect to be able 

to continue full-time care at 

home if Linden Court were to 

close. 

  

Gender 
reassignment 

The 2021 East Sussex Lesbian 
Gay Bisexual Trans Queer + 
(LGBTQ+)1 Comprehensive Needs 
Assessment estimates that there 
may be 5,572 Trans and Gender 
Diverse (TGD) people (1% of the 
population) living in East Sussex 
2021 Census: 1640 residents 
declared their gender identity was 
different to that assigned at birth 
which is 0.4% of the population. 
Adult data tells us that there are no 
adults with this protected 
characteristic. 
 

No responses were received 
in terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic. 

There are no adults with this 
protected characteristic. 

No specific mitigations 
required for this 
characteristic. 
 
 
 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

There are just under 5,000 births 
per year in East Sussex. Hastings 
has the highest overall birth rate as 
well as for women aged 15-19 
years. Lewes and then Rother 
have the highest birth rates for 
women aged 35-44 years.  
Adult data for the service tells us 
that there are no adults with this 
protected characteristic 

No responses were received 
in terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic. 

There are no adults with this 
protected characteristic. 

No specific mitigations 
required for this 
characteristic. 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 106



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  7 

Race (ethnicity) 
Including migrants, 
refugees and 
asylum seekers 

88.3% of usual residents of East 
Sussex said that they belonged to 
the White: English, Welsh, 
Scottish, Northern Irish or British 
ethnic group. Black and minority 
ethnic groups including white 
minority groups (Irish, Gypsy or 
Irish Traveller, Roma, Other White) 
make up 11.7% of usual residents 
in East Sussex. 
This compares to 18.8% in 
England. 
In 2021, 93.9% (512,440) of usual 
residents in East Sussex identified 
their ethnic group within the high-
level "White" category, a decrease 
from 96.0% (505,420) in the 2011 
Census, but still significantly higher 
than the English national average 
(81.0%) and also higher than the 
average for the South East region 
(86.6%). 
 
4.6% were of another white 
background; 1.6% were Asian/ 
Asian British, 0.5% were Black/ 
Black British and1.3.% were from 
other ethnic backgrounds.  
Those selecting a non-UK identity 
only accounted for 5.5% of the 
overall population (29,880 people), 
which is an increase from 4.3% of 
the population (23,090 people) in 
2011. The most common non-UK 

No responses were received 
in terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic. 

The data indicates that the race and 
ethnicity of adults using the service 
is reflective of the County generally. 
 
 

No specific mitigations 
required for this 
characteristic.   
 
 

P
age 107



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  8 

identities are Polish, Irish, 
Romanian, Portuguese and Italian. 
A higher percentage of the 
population in East Sussex 
identified as Gypsy or Irish 
Traveller than the national average 
(0.2% compared to 0.1%). 
 
Of adults using this service: 
 

• 37 White British 

• 1 Asian/ Asian British 

• 1 Black/Black British – 
African 

• 1 Mixed - White And Black 
Caribbean 

• 2 Any Other Ethnic Group  

• 2 White - Any Other 
Background 

• Ethnicity not recorded for 2 
adults 

 
One adult speaks Italian and does 
not speak English. 
 

Religion or belief 

In 2021, 45.9% (250,330) of usual 
residents of East Sussex identified 
as Christian, down from 59.9% 
(315,650) in 2011.  
The second most common religion 
in East Sussex after Christianity is 
Islam. The proportion of the 
population stating they were 
Muslim increased from 0.8% of the 
usual resident population (4,200) in 

No responses were received 
in terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic. 

We do not routinely collect this 
information. However, where an 
adult requests a specific need to be 
supported with their religion this is 
recorded on their support plan.  
 

No specific mitigations 
required for this 
characteristic.   
 
 

P
age 108



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  9 

2011 to 1.1% (6,190) in 2021. This 
is low compared to both the South 
East Regional and the English 
national averages, with 3.3% of 
residents in the South East 
specified their religion as Islam, 
and 6.7% across the whole of 
England.   
Details of the impact upon religion 
and belief on ASC: 
Religion and Belief in Health and 
Social Care Assessments -  
 
 

Sex 

Of the population of East Sussex,  
299,064 (52%) are female and 
270,788 (48%) are male. 
Of adults attending Linden Court: 

• 32 are female 

• 14 are male 
 

More women than men took 

part in the consultation 

survey – 41% compared to 

12%, although 43% did not 

answer the question. 

No responses were received 

in terms of impact upon those 

with this protected 

characteristic. 

 

Compared to the population of the 
County, proportionately more women 
will be affected by this proposal. 

The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 
people – which is the 
current maximum daily 
occupancy – will remove or 
mitigate any potential 
issues and concerns raised 
through consultation and 
further work with parents/ 
carers. 
 
No specific mitigations 
required for this 
characteristic.   
 
 

P
age 109

https://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/Religion-and-Belief-in-Health-and-Social-Care-Assessments-with-Service-Users.pdf
https://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/Religion-and-Belief-in-Health-and-Social-Care-Assessments-with-Service-Users.pdf


 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  10 

Sexual orientation 

The 2021 East Sussex LGBTQI+ 
Comprehensive Needs 
Assessment estimates that there 
may be between 17,273 and 
39,004 LGB+ people living in East 
Sussex (between 3.1% and 7% of 
the population) 
 
According to the 2021 Census 
3.3% of East Sussex residents 
declared themselves as LGB+. 
 
11 adults recorded as 
heterosexual, data was not 
available for the remainder. 
 

No responses were received 
in terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic. 

Data on this protected characteristic 
is limited and we cannot make an 
accurate assessment of 
dis/proportionate impact. 

The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 
people – which is the 
current maximum daily 
occupancy – will remove or 
mitigate any potential 
issues and concerns raised 
through consultation and 
further work with parents/ 
carers. 
 
 
Improve data collection on 
this characteristic. 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

According to 2021 census data for 
East Sussex: 

• Single 29% 

• Married 46.5%  

• Civil Partnership 0.4% 

• Divorced 11% 

• Widowed 8% 
 
One adult is recorded as married.  

No responses were received 
in terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic. 

One adult is married, the majority 
are single.  

No specific mitigations 
required. 
 
The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 
people – which is the 
current maximum daily 
occupancy – will remove or 
mitigate any potential 
issues and concerns raised 
through consultation and 
further work with parents/ 
carers and other family 
members. 
 

P
age 110



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  11 

Armed Forces 

There were 19,917 households 
(8.3% of all households) in East 
Sussex with at least one person 
who had served in the UK armed 
forces. 

Whilst adults will not have served 
in the Armed Forces, it is not 
known whether anyone in their 
households has. 

No responses were received 
in terms of impact upon those 
with this protected 
characteristic. 

This does not affect any of the adults 
using this service. 

N/A 

Impacts on 
community 
cohesion 

 Respondents to the 
consultation told us that 
socialisation is a key part of 
attending Linden Court and 
this will be lost if the service 
closes. 
People told us that their links 

with their local community 

would be lost.  

Future school/college leavers 

in the area wouldn’t have a 

local service they could 

transition to. 

 

Community connections built up 
around Linden Court, via for 
example the use of local venues or 
businesses, will be lost. 

The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 
people – which is the 
current maximum daily 
occupancy – will remove or 
mitigate any potential 
issues and concerns raised 
through consultation and 
further work with parents/ 
carers. 
 
Our work on the Market 
Position Statement will 
identify future need for 
services and ensure 
adequate supply. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 111



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  12 

Additional categories 
(identified locally as potentially causing / worsening inequality) 
 

Characteristic  What do you know? What do people tell you? What does this mean? What can you do? 

Rurality 

74% of the population in East Sussex 
lives in an urban area with the remaining 
26% living in a rural area (2021 census). 
Adult data shows they live:  

• 26 in Eastbourne 

• 10 in Hailsham  

• 2 in Seaford,  

• 1 in Bexhill,  

• 1 in Hastings 

• 6 in the more rural areas - 
Westham, Polegate and 
Pevensey. 

 
Below is a map of adults’ addresses. 
 

LD%20Linden%20Ma

p.docx  
 

Concern over transport was 
a recurring theme within the 
consultation and in further 
feedback from parents / 
carers; although this was in 
terms of distance to Bexhill 
rather than specifically 
relating to those in rural 
areas. 

Transport links and services 
are less available in some 
rural areas compared to 
larger towns, which may 
reduce the availability and 
choice of alternative 
services e.g. personal 
assistants, should these be 
required.  

The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 people 
– which is the current 
maximum daily occupancy 
– will remove or mitigate the 
potential issues and 
concerns raised through 
initial consultation and 
further work with parents/ 
carers as there will be little 
or no disruption to existing 
care arrangements and 
routines. 
The use of transport and 
travel distances will remain 
the same for everyone 
currently attending Linden 
Court. 
 

Carers  

There are over 10,000 persons 
claiming Carer’s Allowance in East 
Sussex. (Source Department of Work 
and Pensions Feb 2020). 
Care for the Carers estimates that 
there are 69,241 unpaid carers in East 
Sussex, it is difficult to know the actual 
number of carers because many are 
hidden.  

The number of carers 

taking part (26%) in the 

consultation reflected the 

fact that the family and 

carers of people using the 

services was the top 

respondent group; 14% of 

respondents provide 50 or 

more hours of care per 

Carers of working age who 
are employed may be 
negatively impacted if they 
have structured their 
working hours around day 
services at Linden Court. 
This may result in carers 
not being able to maintain 
their current employment 

The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 people 
– which is the current 
maximum daily occupancy 
– will remove or mitigate the 
potential issues and 
concerns raised through 
initial consultation and 

P
age 112



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  13 

 
There are 36 adults who live with 
family/ carers and have unpaid carers. 
 
 
 
 

week and 5% provide 9 or 

more hours. 

 

Carers told us that driving 

longer distances to reach 

another day centre would 

add extra pressure to their 

already difficult lives. 

Families and carers told us 

that Linden Court is a 

lifeline that allows them to 

continue in their caring role 

and to maintain their 

employment if they have a 

job. 

 

The biggest concern with 

Beeching Park is the 

journey. People say that it 

would be a much longer 

and more complicated 

commute, with many saying 

that it just wouldn’t work for 

their family; some had 

already tried it out to 

confirm that. 

 

 

and potentially experience a 
reduction to their income. 
The proposals may cause 
additional stress on family 
environments and family life 
as a whole. Carers may 
also have other caring 
responsibilities for other 
family members e.g. 
children or other relatives.  

further work with parents/ 
carers as there will be little 
or no disruption to existing 
care arrangements and 
routines. 
 
Existing support 
arrangements will remain in 
place and in the event that 
there are any changes to 
session times these will be 
minor and we can minimise 
or avoid any impacts as we 
did at our Hookstead day 
centre.  For example, 
although session start times 
changed from 09:00 to 
09:30 adults were still able 
to arrive and be supported 
from 08:30 in the morning.  
Thus enabling existing 
routines of parents/carers to 
continue. 

P
age 113



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  14 

Other groups that may 
be differently affected 
(including but not only: 
homeless people, 
substance users, care 
leavers) 

East Sussex is fifth most deprived of 26 
County Councils.13% of people aged 
60 plus were living in poverty in 2019 
(source Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment). 
10.3% of households were in fuel 
poverty in 2019 compared to 9.3 % in 
England. 
 
 

People told us that they 
cannot afford the taxi fare to 
Bexhill so will not be able to 
access services. 

According to research by 
British Association of Social 
Workers (2023) people with 
a learning disability are 
likely to be at higher risk of 
the potential health risks 
and consequences of cold 
weather and fuel poverty 
than the general population. 
It was estimated that people 
with a learning disability 
spent far more on things 
like transport, medication 
and energy than someone 
without a disability. So the 
financial implications of 
additional transport costs 
are more likely to impact 
people who use this 
service. 

The revised proposal to 
keep Linden Court open 
with a capacity of 25 people 
– which is the current 
maximum daily occupancy 
– will remove or mitigate 
any potential issues and 
concerns raised through 
consultation and further 
work with parents/ carers. 
Existing support 
arrangements will remain in 
place for people attending 
Linden Court. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 114



 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  15 

Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations - include assessment of cumulative impacts (where a change in one 
service/policy/project may have an impact on another) 

The revised proposal for Linden Court removes or hugely mitigates the potential impacts identified for earlier proposals through the initial consultation (which 
ran from 3 October to 28 November 2024) and during further feedback received from parents / carers of adults attending Linden Court. 
 
The revised proposal would see those currently attending Linden Court continue to do so.  There may be some minor changes to the session times at Linden 
Court but not to the overall days of operation.  Experience from another learning disability day opportunity – Hookstead – showed that minor changes to 
session times can be managed in ways that do not impact adults or carers.  For example, where sessions were altered to start at 0930 rather than 0900, 
arrangements were made so that adults could still be picked up from home at the same time and could be supported at the centre until the sessions began in 
the morning. 
 
Whilst the proposal removes or mitigates impacts for adults currently attending Linden Court and their parents / carers there is the potential, if capacity 
remained at 25, that there could be less choice of day opportunities for people with learning disabilities in the Eastbourne area.  The ASCH Supply 
Management Team regularly monitor supply and expected demand and publish information on this through our Market Position Statement.  Any potential 
future issues with availability of suitable day opportunities will be managed by our Supply Management Team. 
 

 

3. List detailed data and/or community feedback that informed your EqIA 
 

Source and type of data (e.g. research, or direct engagement (interviews), 
responses to questionnaires, etc.) 

Date  
Gaps in 
data 

Actions to fill these gaps: who else do 
you need to engage with? 
(add these to the Action Plan below, with a 
timeframe) 

ESCC 2024 Consultation Nov/ Dec 
2024 

N/A N/A 

East Sussex in Figures – Data Observatory – Welcome to East Sussex in 
Figures 

   

P
age 115

https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/
https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/


 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  16 

Await outcomes of Disability Rights Reference Group and Inclusion Advisory 
Group. 
 

   

Disabled users access to and use of communication devices and services 
Research summary: Learning disability (Ofcom 2019) 

   

Learning Disability - Health Inequalities Research | Mencap    

Stuck at home - the impact of day service cuts on people with a learning 
disability FINAL.doc (mencap.org.uk) 

   

Spotlight on Poverty: People with Learning Disabilities | BASW    

 

4. Prioritised Action Plan 
NB: These actions must now be transferred to service or business plans and monitored to ensure they achieve the outcomes identified. 
 

Impact identified 
and group(s) 
affected 

Action planned Expected outcome Measure of success Timeframe 

All Ensure that if small changes are 
made to session times we work with 
parents/ carers and adults to 

Existing routines and 
commitments for adults and 
for parent / carers will not 
be disrupted. 

Parents / carers can 
continue their caring 

Arrangements in place 
before new session times 
are implemented. 

P
age 116

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/siteassets/resources/documents/research-and-data/multi-sector/access-and-inclusion/2018/research-summary-learning-disability.pdf?v=321537
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/siteassets/resources/documents/research-and-data/multi-sector/access-and-inclusion/2018/research-summary-learning-disability.pdf?v=321537
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/health/health-inequalities
https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/2016-08/Stuck_at_home.pdf
https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/2016-08/Stuck_at_home.pdf
https://basw.co.uk/articles/spotlight-poverty-people-learning-disabilities#:~:text=They%20may%20be%20faced%20with,poverty%20than%20the%20general%20population.


 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  17 

minimise any disruption to existing 
routines. 

Parent / Carers As above As above. As above As above 

Sexual 
orientation 

Improve data collection on sexuality Better information on sexual 
orientation of people with a 
learning disability 

Better dataset on this 
characteristic 

From March 2025 onwards 

 

 

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



The Linden Court Community Appendix to submission made for May 20th 2025 Full County Council meeting. 
 
Alternative provisions  
 
It is clear to the parents/carers from the initial consultation meeting, numerous emails and the full Council meetings 
that ESCC have proposed alternatives to Linden Court in their documentation without conducting detailed and 
appropriate research into their restrictions and their capacity and therefore these options are not creditable and are 
invalid to most clients of Linden Court. The only independent local day service in Eastbourne named on appendix 4 
map is ‘Inspire’ which is not accessible for many clients currently attending Linden Court due to the following 
reasons:  
 
Inspire day service  

• Cannot provide care and support to clients with high needs and require 1:1 support.  
• Only have two rooms available and no outdoor space on site.  
• Concerns over security due to open door policy and clients are free to come and go as they wish.  
• They do not currently have adequate staffing to accommodate more clients.  
• Inspire provide less hours a day which is not suitable for working parents.  
• Inspire run on different days which would not work for working parents.  
• Client C attends Inspire once a week costing ESCC £127.28 for one day. This client also attends Linden Court 

4 days a week costing ESCC only £53.50 per day. Evidence of this can be provided.      
• No quiet room for overstimulated clients when required.  
 

The other two alleged alternatives shown on appendix 4 map in Eastbourne, are not day care provisions and they are 
not regulated by CQC which is hugely misleading and unfair to be claimed as appropriate alternatives to a day care 
provision with the higher needs and abilities that present at Linden Court. The map demonstrates there are no 
realistic alternatives in Eastbourne or the surrounding area suitable for the majority of clients at Linden Court.  
  
Chalk farm LDC   
This is a workplace on the job training opportunity for adults with learning disabilities.  

• Most clients at Linden Court would not be capable of such tasks and they require care needs for themselves,  
hence why the client already attends a day care service provision.  

• This is not a day care provision.  
• This opportunity is for more able clients that could provide a hospitality service to the general public.  
• This opportunity is not CQC registered.  
• This opportunity does not have qualified and trained staff to cater for complex needs and abilities.  
• This opportunity does not cater for wheelchair users.  

  
The Archery Youth Centre   
This is a club for disabled and non-disabled people to carry out activities and participate in events which is often run 
by volunteers.   

• This club is only held on a Wednesday evening and they have no availability. Evidence of this can be 
provided.  

• This club is not a day care provision.  
• This club is not CQC registered.  
• This club does not have qualified and trained staff to cater for complex needs and abilities.   

This club is not an option for any of the clients attending Linden Court day centre and is far from a day care provision 
alternative. This is again, misleading to parent/carers and the councillors who use your alternative suggestions which 
will influence their decisions.  
  
Beeching Park  
 
Beeching Park has been suggested as an alternative to Linden Court as a ‘like for like’ service as stated in the scrutiny 
committee meeting on 17th March. However, the reasons below demonstrate how this alternative is not an 
adequate option for many clients for numerous reasons, which we feel have not been considered as individuals with 
complex needs and abilities. The venue would also be at full capacity, meaning there would be no availability for 
future clients which is hugely concerning for future support for others and their families. This, will only create crisis 
point for many more families in the near future.  

Appendix 5

Page 119



• ESCC claim Beeching Park in Bexhill is a larger venue than Linden Court by adding Working Wonders satellite  
service into the measurable area which is actually a separate building in Hastings which they have failed to 
add onto the appendix 4 map. This creates two similar venues within close proximity with 
Beeching Park in Bexhill.    

• Beeching Park is a smaller venue compared to Linden Court which will be operating at full capacity with 85  
clients in total. Linden Court is 1006 m2 and Beeching Park is only 893 m2.  

• ESCC have confirmed Beeching Park can accommodate 85 clients, this busier and noisier environment level 
will have a huge impact on all the clients, future and present, due to their needs and abilities.   

• The days will be different for the clients which will affect working parents and their commitments.  
•  The times clients attend will be less per day, Linden Court is open 8:30 – 16:30, where Beeching Park will be 

open 9:00 – 15:30, therefore clients may lose up to 1 hour a day, four days will result in a total to 4 hours 
lost a week. 

•  Transport and escorts will be required by most of the clients to and from Eastbourne and the surrounding 
areas to Beeching Park each day, causing numerous risks to clients with behavioural and medical needs, 
traffic congestion, increase pollution and expand ESCC transport finances even more.   

• Limited spaces if any, for clients to access who need quieter areas. Due to the venue being at full capacity, 
this could cause a great amount of stress to individuals resulting in behavioural, physical and medical 
complications. This stressful environment may lead to clients not wanting to attend or not being able to 
cope. This is not good practice for the clients’ and carers’ well being, leaving families to deal with the 
adverse consequences.   

 
Personal assistants  
 
During our fact finding, we now know that many parents/carers would have to consider personal assistants to work 
with their loved ones if Linden Court was to close. This option causes the following concerns:  

• It is well known that there is a shortage of suitable PAs, therefore we request that if Linden Court was to  
close that any surplus staff are directed to support clients within the home environment or out in the local 
community.   

• Some clients will need this option up to 4 times a week and up to 7 hours per day. Other clients will need 2 
personal assistants for personal care, medical needs and when out in the community. This costing far out 
ways the 1:5 ratio within the Linden Court environment.   

• Where would a PA would take clients for the day, 4 days a week, all year round? This would not be good for 
anyone’s well being. This option would again be more costly to ESCC in comparison to a day at Linden Court 
day centre. Evidence can be provide.  

• PAs may not be a reliable long term support network due to sickness, personal commitments and lone 
working.  

• We assume personal assistants receive minimum wage or slightly more, the care company would also add 
their fees onto ESCC. We have evidence to show this could be charged at a minimum of £17.66 per hour 
depending on the client’s level of need. Based on this amount, it would cost £123.62 for a 7 hour day per PA, 
totalling up to £494.48 per 4 day week, each PA .   

• An outreach service charges between £22-24 per hour, we can provide evidence of this. Based on the lower 
amount, 7 hours a day, 4 days a week, this would cost £616 per week, £29,568 for a 48 week year, for one 
client.  

 
Residential care  
 
ESCC have stated that they believe that no client will be seeking full time residential care as a direct result of 
Linden Court closing.  
 
As stated in ESCC cabinet report on 25th February under 6.4:  
‘The pressure on unpaid carers could mean that some adults could not remain in their family home. In this 
instance Adult Social Care and Health may need to provide a 24/7 service to meet these people’s needs. The 
estimated cost savings are not achieved as a result.’ 
 
The parents and carers believe that due to the lack of local suitable day care provision, families will fall into crisis 
forcing them to seek residential care for their loved ones.  
 

Page 120



• We can confirm that two clients are already actively seeking residential care options which the potential  
closure has prompted prematurely. ESCC will be aware of these 2 clients and we know there will be another 
potential eight who may also need to seek this option, if this closure goes ahead and a local appropriate day 
care alternative is not successful. We have gathered this evidence from our fact finding questionnaire which 
parents/carers have completed.  

• The parents/carers insist that this costing is reflected in the risk and financial assessments presented to the 
board prior to any final decision being made. We also have evidence of these costings.  

• The astronomical costs of full time residential care will have a significant impact on ESCC and their budget. 
We also know for a fact, that there is a shortage of suitable local residential care placements. 

• When clients go into residential care, they often require day care provision also which will be an additional 
costing.  

• By parents having their loved ones remain within the family home, saves ESCC £750,000 per client over 10 
years.  

  
Transport  
 
The Beeching Park provision would require transport for most clients.  

• The journey for the client from Eastbourne could take up to 2 hours a day and accumulate to 8 hours a week,  
whilst in rush hour traffic and the route is well known for delays and accidents.   

• The use of any minibus would increase this journey time due to pick up and drop offs.  
• It is impossible for working parents and carers to transport loved ones that distance in rush hour, due to 

unflexible working hours.  
• If parents/carers could to provide transport to Beeching Park, this would incur additional stress, reduction of 

respite hours and a financial increase on their vehicles with wear and tear and petrol costs, up to four days a 
week. This could accumulate to approximately around 40 miles each day, 163 miles per week. This does not 
enhance the well being of parents or carers. 

• Some clients would need their own personal taxi and escort. Some clients would not be able to cope within a 
minibus environment.  

• If transport was to be provided for clients, the long journey could have a huge impact on challenging 
behaviours and medical needs.   

• Some clients will require a wheelchair accessible vehicle.  
• We know of at least one client that is unable to remain in their wheelchair for longer than 45 minutes at a 

time, which would be a huge concern during rush hour traffic, traffic jams, accidents and any unforeseen 
circumstances.  

• We have evidence that a taxi would cost £60 for a return journey with an additional cost of a suitably trained 
escort which would total up to approximately £100 per day. Transport would out way any alleged savings.  

• It is clear already, that many clients will be unable to make the journey to and from Bexhill or any other out 
of the area services.  
  

Consultation  
 
The parents and carers believe the consultation feedback has not been listened to.  

• 85% strongly disagreed with the proposal and only concerns were raised. The other percentage was possibly 
clients, who would not understand the cause and the consequences of the loss of the service would have on 
them and their families.   

• ESCC have stated each client attending Linden Court would be reviewed and their care package adjusted. 
Parents and carers are aware that assessments and revisions to care packages are rarely done on time and in 
most instances are years behind schedule. Parents and carers have absolutely no confidence that proper 
assessments will be completed in a suitable and considered timeframe to permit a transfer of provision 
without a significant detrimental impact.  

  
In ESCC cabinet report dated 25th February it states:  
‘By expanding Beeching Park to open five days a week, and through maximising its current capacity, all adults who 
attend Linden Court Day service could be offered their day service provision at Beeching Park where this meets their 
assessed needs; or at alternative provision elsewhere where necessary.’  
  

Page 121



ESCC continue to state that Beeching Park can meet on the current needs and abilities of all clients attending Linden 
Court, however this has been seriously questioned and ESCC have found it necessary to propose the new satellite 
service in an attempt to reassure parents/carers. 
  
In the Linden Court consultation meeting, it was made clear by ESCC staff that the potential closure of Linden Court 
was not something ESCC wanted to do and that it was a short term solution to bridge the funding gap. However, this 
would be at the detriment of our livelihoods, causing harm, and negative impacts to our children and families, 
affecting well-being and stability. It may create job loses, economic hardship and a decease to access vital resources. 
This is likely to be a serious ongoing problem that will have to be addressed in the near future at a greater cost to 
ESCC.  
  
Special schools, colleges and further education in Eastbourne   
 
There are 8 special schools, colleges and further education settings within Eastbourne, these are:  
 

• South Downs Infant School  
• South Downs Junior School  
• Hazel Court Secondary School  
• Further Education (FE)  
• Linfield Secondary School  
• Summerdown School  
• The Southfield centre  
• East Sussex College  

 
This is a huge number of educational placements within Eastbourne which will have many future clients needing a 
day care provision. Closure of Linden Court will have a detrimental effect on the future young people and their 
families within Eastbourne once their educational placements come to an end. Linden Court enables some of our 
most vulnerable people in Eastbourne and the surrounding areas to stay within their local community whilst living in 
their family home environment. Closure of Linden Court will have detrimental effects on their adult life and is clearly 
not a sensible long term strategy.  
  
Impact on the NHS  
 
There is a huge concern amongst NHS professionals on the negative impacts the closure of Linden Court day service 
in Eastbourne will create. Psychiatrist consultant, Dr Zak was horrified to hear about the potential loss and has 
written a letter to share these concerns. Evidence of this letter can be provided.   
 
Tender 
 
Parents and carers were informed that all alternative avenues had been exhausted before the proposal to close 
Linden Court took place, however tender opportunities were not explored. Therefore, a member of our community 
took it upon themselves to seek any potential tender interests and opportunities. 

• Three organisations replied with an interest of Linden Court. 

• One in particular demonstrated a strong interest with appropriate experience and a similar service within 
the Hove area.  

• This opportunity would not only benefit ESCC tremendously but also the current and future Linden Court 
community. This should not be disregarded after ESCC claimed that all options had been considered. 

• Parents and carers can confirm that the tender interest passed on to ESCC has not been discussed further 
with any of the 3 organisations. Evidence of this can be provide. 
 

Linden Court  
 
Life as a vulnerable adult with a severe learning disability is tough, however, the users of Linden Court have learnt to 
accept the location, building, staff members, clients and the routines. One current client has attended Linden Court 
for 23 years now and any change big or small is most distressing for many and creates negative behaviours and 
feelings which often cannot be controlled or understood.  

Page 122



• For a client receiving a 1:5 ratio within Linden Court, 4 days a week cost ESCC only £53.50 per day. Evidence 
of this can be provided. 

• Due to the client/staffing ratio needs, the same amount of staff should be required within both ESCC 
settings, regardless of venue and we are told by ESCC staffing is the largest cost. However, due to the same 
amount of clients potentially attending Beeching Park and the ratios given to individuals, no savings should 
be valid on staffing other than a management post may longer be required.   

• We are horrified to learn that Beeching Park would require ‘no additional staffing’ to cater for an additional 
22 clients from Linden Court, this indicates that Beeching Park staffing levels are currently excessive and a 
source of saving to the benefit of a Linden Court service.  

• 69% of clients at Linden Court are from Eastbourne.  

• Clients are assessed to need either a 5:1 ratio or a 1:1 ratio which is manageable at Linden Court due to the 
environment and experienced staff members. Parents and carers have witnessed an increase of staffing 
levels required within an independent service. Evidence of this can be provided. 

• The impact of Linden Court closing on the local special schools and college will limit future supportive 
options to students and their families. Linden Court enables them to stay within their local community with 
friendships they have created throughout their educational journey.  

• Linden Court supports clients to continue living within the family home environment, creating preventative 
support in needing full time residential care, creating ESCC savings of £75k per client, per year. 

• It appears that ESCC only want to close Linden Court to resolve the current deficit in their budget which is 
only a short term fix creating detrimental long term effects on peoples life’s and probably a greater cost to 
ESCC in the long term. 

• Here is a link to our petition against the closure of Linden Courts day service: https://chng.it/bkNhgRHfCN 
 

The Linden Court community have gathered cost evidence and strongly believe there are no savings to be gained 
from the loss of Linden Courts closure. If anything, there would be a financial increase due to the need to provide 
transport, escorts, personal assistants and even residential care placements. The alternatives are not valid and do 
not provide a 'like for like' or day care provision for the clients as previously claimed. We believe this false 
representation may cause families to fall into crisis with life changing impacts which are not in the best interest of 
the current and future vulnerable clients within East Sussex.  
  
As a result the increase in full time residential care would have a huge financial impact on ESCC and the future 
budgets. Considering all the financial and negative impacts Linden Court loss would create, we believe it is in ESCC, 
the clients and their family’s best interest for the Linden Court day service is to remain open.  
 
There were 4 ESCC day centres at risk of closing, some of which were saved from closure. The majority of the 
reasons to keep some of those day services open also apply to the Linden Court day service. 
 
Parents/carers of the Linden Court community are suggesting the following to create appropriate savings: 
 

• Keep Linden Court open and save on transport, escorts, satellite service, independent services and 
residential care. 

• To decrease the surplus staffing at Beeching Park to create savings of £120,000 to £150,000. 

• Invite a private sector/ organisation to manage Linden Court to maintain the current services or expand to a 
5 day week provision, therefore creating more jobs for local people. 

• Promote Linden Court to potential future clients leaving education, staff to attend open days to share future 
opportunities and provision. 
 

The Linden Court community really hope that the all the above is considered in great detail and that is reflected in a 
reconsideration of working together to discuss the true financial impacts closure of Linden Court would create. 
We would be keen to help support any future growth of the service. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
The Linden Court Community 
 

Page 123

https://chng.it/bkNhgRHfCN


This page is intentionally left blank



Linden Court Community alternative projected scheme and costs.

Figures lifted from ESCC Linden Court Community

Freedom of Information document proposal

dated 16th April Capacity limit 30 clients

Staff costs 591,400 5 staff each 1:1 - 5 clients 11 staff @ £30,000 330,000

6 staff for 1:5 ratio or less - 25 clients

1 Manager 1 Manager @ £50,000 50,000

Transport costs 43,300 50,000

Premises costs 60,800 65,000

Commissioned services 0 0

Gross expenditure 695,500 495,000

Minus the potential surplus staff at Beeching Court

Basis of staffing cost used in Linden proposal that are able to absorb 22 clients from Linden

Minimum wage = £12.21 x 7 hour day = £85.47 per day. say 5 staff @ £30,000 150,000

£85.47 x 5 days x 52 weeks = £22,223 per year

plus 30% uplift for NI and overheads = £28,890 Revised total 345,000

Holiday pay in the 52 weeks above.  Rounded up to £30,000.

Risks and potential costs avoided

Residential care , say 3 clients saving 225,000

Additional transport to Beeching

16 clients needing dedicated vehicles & escorts saving 150,000

Demand for 1:1 support at their homes

14 clients have indicated this requirement, say 7 clients saving 150,000

Proposed satellite facility saving 77,040

 

A
ppendix 6

P
age 125



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda for the meeting

1. Welcome and Introductions

2. Background Information

3. Parent / Carer Survey 

4. Finance Options - Costings and Savings

5. Alternative Day Opportunity Provision

6. Other Provision

7. Transport

8. Consultation

9. Potential Impact on Health and Care System

10. Education

11. Next Steps

A
ppendix 7

P
age 127



Parent/Carer Survey 

• We understand that 20 replies were received for the parent/carer survey 
about 45 adults attending Linden Court

• We were told that 10 people could be seeking residential care
• There was a concern that residential care would be a more costly option than 

retaining Linden Court
• There was a concern about the availability of alternative day services.

P
age 128



Questions/Discussion

P
age 129



Financial Options – Family Proposal

• It would be possible to reduce budget for staffing at Linden 
Court to £446,000, deliver a saving of £145,000 and 
continuing to operate a reduced 4- day week service 

• This would require alternative savings of £181,600 to be 
found elsewhere

•Despite surplus capacity currently available at Beeching 
Park a reduction is not as cost effective as the proposed 
option.

P
age 130



Financial Options

Original Budget Per Family Proposal Reduction in budget

Reduced Service at 
Linden - ESCC 

workings Reduction in budget

Staff Costs 591,400 380,000 211,400 446,000 145,400 

Transport Costs 43,300 50,000 - 6,700 43,300 -

Premises Costs 60,800 65,000 - 4,200 60,800 -

Commissioned Services - - - - -

Gross Expenditure 695,500 495,000 200,500 550,100 145,400 

Gross Income - 40,000 - 40,000 - - 40,000 -

Net Budget 655,500 455,000 200,500 510,100 145,400 

Proposed Savings - 2025/26 200,000 200,000 

Proposed Savings - 2026/27 127,000 127,000 

Total Savings 327,000 327,000 

Underachievement on Savings 126,500 181,600 

P
age 131



Financial Options – Family proposal

• £53.50 is an indicative cost used for charging calculations

• The unit cost of Linden Court if full is £72.83

• The Unit cost of LC based on current occupancy is £133.78

• To appraise costs in a meaningful way we need to consider the full 
cost of the service rather than a unit cost, which will shift 
depending on the number of attendees.

P
age 132



Questions / Discussion

P
age 133



Alternative Day Opportunities

• There are day service opportunities across East Sussex

•All day services in East Sussex are taking referrals via our 
Brokerage Team  

•And people attend these services once the care package 
and funding is confirmed

•Currently, adults often travel to day services - with journeys 
ranging from:  0.2 miles to 32.6 miles one way

• The average one-way journey is 6.5 miles.

P
age 134



Average Mileage single journey to Day 
Opportunities

Linden Court 4.7 miles

If Adults attending LC went to their nearest Day Service 3.2 miles

If Adults attending LC went to their nearest DPS Day Service (St Nicholas; 
Beeching Park; Eastbourne satellite)

11.8 miles

If Adults attending LC went to Beeching Park 12.3 miles

If Adults attending LC went to the satellite and Beeching Park (40/60) 9 miles

Average for all Day Services 6.5 miles

P
age 135



Number Service
1 The Barn Centre
2 Sussex House 
3 Parchment Trust 
4 Little Gate Farm
5 Ambition Links
6 Hastings Gateway Club 
7 Inspire Social Club
8 Boathouse Theatre Arts
9 Open Door
10 Active Arts 
11 Community Hub 
12 Chalk Farm
13 Project Artworks
14 Eastbourne Phab Club
15 The Bradbury Centre
16 Rocking Robins 
17 Beeching Park
18 Working Wonders Satellite 
19 Eastbourne Satellite
20 Hookstead
21 St Nicks

P
age 136



Personal Assistants (PA’s)

• There are no issues regarding general availability of PAs
• There can be issues in some specific instances e.g. where the PA is 

requested for a very small number of hours/rurality
• On average it takes less than 2 months to recruit a PA
• With ¾ of people having a PA in post within 3 months.

P
age 137



Other Provision

The closure and re-provisioning of Linden Court will not create a 
need for Residential Care or Respite

However, if a change in need results in a change of provision these 
options can be considered:

• 24/7 care – Residential, Supported Living, Shared Lives etc. 

• Respite – either as a new service, or an increase to an existing 
respite provision. 

P
age 138



Questions / Discussion

P
age 139



Transport

• It is not possible to be precise about future transport until reviews are 
completed, support plans agreed, and alternative services confirmed

• An additional bus and driver has been included in an expanded 
Beeching Park 

• There is some spare capacity in current Beeching Park bus use

• The model for the Eastbourne satellite mitigates some need for 
additional transport

• It is estimated that this combined provision will be sufficient to meet all 
eligible transport need identified through adult and carer reviews. 

P
age 140



Questions / Discussion

P
age 141



Consultation

There is a concern that consultation feedback was ignored

• We received around 3,500 responses to the 11 consultations about 
Adult Social Care services

• Every single consultation response received was included within the full 
consultation pack made available to all Members in advance of Cabinet 
on 25 February

• We amended 7 of the 11 proposals in light of feedback.  Substantial 
changes were made, including the proposal to create a satellite service 
for Linden Court two days per week.

P
age 142



Potential Impact on Health and Care System

We understand that a change such as this could be disruptive for 
those involved. 

• Our Care Management Team are skilled at reviews, assessing 
needs and options to meet those needs

• Brokerage are skilled at working with providers to secure services 
that meet needs

• Providers, including LD DPS, support people into their services all 
the time, managing complex transitions where needed

• Everyone now at Linden Court transitioned into attendance there. 
We have shown we have got this right for people before.

P
age 143



Potential Impact on Health and Care System

• We recognised this in the Cabinet report writing:

‘the change in service delivery could impact on some adults' emotional 
wellbeing and there is a possibility this could increase demand on health 
settings, particularly specialist provision such as the Sussex Partnership 
Foundation Trust Community Learning Disability Team’

• Our partners in the health system are skilled at supporting adults through 
times of change.

P
age 144



Education

•Only 2 of the 8 education settings cited have pupils up to 
the age of 18 and could therefore support adults who might 
need a day service

•Currently there is sufficient capacity in day opportunities 
supported by the  Market Position Statement.

• Market position statement | East Sussex County Council

P
age 145

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/providers/funding/market-position-statement#1.%20Introduction


Questions / Discussion

P
age 146



Next Steps

•Cabinet Meeting 15 July 2025
•Cabinet papers will be published on 7 July 2025 
• Thank you for attending

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report to: 
 

Cabinet  

Date: 
 

15 July 2025 

By: 
 

Chief Operating Officer 

Title of report: 
 

Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2024/25 

Purpose of 
report: 
 

To give an opinion on the County Council’s control environment for 
the year from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

Cabinet is recommended to note the internal audit service’s opinion on the Council’s 
control environment. 

 
1. Background 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to give an opinion on the adequacy of East Sussex 
County Council’s control environment as a contribution to the proper, economic, efficient 
and effective use of resources. The report covers the audit work completed in the year from 
1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 in accordance with the Internal Audit Strategy for 2024/25. 
 
2. Supporting Information  

2.1 All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 
Local Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter 
states that authorities ‘must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into 
account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance’. Annually, the Chief Internal 
Auditor is required to provide an overall opinion on the Council’s internal control 
environment, risk management arrangements and governance framework to support the 
Annual Governance Statement. 
 
2.2 It is a management responsibility to establish and maintain internal control systems 
and to ensure that resources are properly applied, risks appropriately managed and 
outcomes achieved. 
 
2.3 No assurance can ever be absolute; however, based on the internal audit work 
completed, the Orbis Chief Internal Auditor can provide substantial assurance that East 
Sussex County Council has in place an adequate and effective framework of governance, 
risk management and internal control for the period 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025. 
 
2.4 This opinion, and the evidence that underpins it, is further explained in the full Internal 
Audit Service’s Annual Report and Opinion which forms Annex A of this report.  The report 
highlights: 
 

 Key issues for the year, including a summary of all audit opinions provided; 

 Key financial systems; and 

 Other internal audit activity. 
 

Page 149

Agenda Item 6



 
2.5 Appendix A of the annual report sets out details of internal audit performance for the 
year, including details of compliance against the relevant professional standards. 
 
2.6 The 2024/25 Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion was discussed and noted at 
Audit Committee on 4 July 2025. 
 
3. Conclusions and Reasons for Recommendation 

3.1 Cabinet is recommended to note the internal audit service’s opinion on the Council’s 
control environment.  
 
 
ROS PARKER 
Chief Operating Officer  
 
Contact Officers:  Russell Banks, Orbis Chief Internal Auditor, 07824 362739 
   Nigel Chilcott, Audit Manager, 07557 541803 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
Internal Audit Strategy and Annual Audit Plan 2024/25 
 

Page 150



 

East Sussex County Council 
 

 
Annex A 

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
ANNUAL REPORT & OPINION 

2024/2025 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Page 151

https://portal.eastsussex.gov.uk/dana/home/index.cgi


 1 

1. Internal Control and the Role of Internal Audit 
 
1.1 All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 
Local Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The full role and 
scope of the Council’s Internal Audit Service is set out within our Internal Audit Charter. 
 
1.2 It is a management responsibility to establish and maintain internal control systems 
and to ensure that resources are properly applied, risks appropriately managed and outcomes 
achieved. 
 
1.3 Annually, the Chief Internal Auditor is required to provide an overall opinion on the 
Council’s internal control environment, risk management arrangements and governance 
framework to support the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
2. Delivery of the Internal Audit Plan 
 
2.1 The Council’s Internal Audit Strategy and Plan is updated each year based on a 
combination of management’s assessment of risk (including that set out within the 
departmental and strategic risk registers) and our own risk assessment of the Council’s major 
systems and other auditable areas. The process of producing the plan involves extensive 
consultation with a range of stakeholders to ensure that their views on risks and current issues, 
within individual departments and corporately, are identified and considered.  
 
2.2 In accordance with the audit plan for 2024/25, a programme of audits was carried out 
covering all Council departments and, in accordance with best practice, this programme was 
reviewed during the year and revised to reflect changes in risk and priority. All adjustments to 
the audit plan were agreed with the relevant departments and reported throughout the year to 
the Corporate Management Team (CMT) and the Audit Committee as part of our periodic 
internal audit progress reports. Full details of the adjustments to the plan can be found in 
Appendix D.   

 
2.3 It should be noted that whilst there were some audit reports in progress or at draft 
report stage at year-end, outcomes from this work have been taken into account, where 
possible, in forming our annual opinion. Full details of these audits will be reported to CMT 
and the Audit Committee once each of the reports have been finalised with management. 
 
3. Audit Opinion 
 
3.1 No assurance can ever be absolute; however, based on the internal audit work 
completed, the Chief Internal Auditor can provide substantial1 assurance that the Council has 
in place an adequate and effective framework of governance, risk management and internal 
control for the period 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025.   
 
3.2 Further information on the basis of this opinion is provided below. Overall, the majority 
of audit opinions issued in the year were positive, with only a small number of instances where 
internal audit activities have identified that the operation of internal controls have not been 
fully effective. We are pleased to report that no minimal assurance opinions were issued in 
the year and there were only two partial assurance opinions reported (see 5.4 below) which 
will be subject to follow-up in 2025/26. 
 
3.3 Where improvements in controls are required as a result of our work, we have agreed 
appropriate remedial action with management.  
 

                                            
1 This opinion is based on the activities set out in the paragraphs below.  It is therefore important to 
emphasise that it is not possible or practicable to audit all activities of the Council within a single year. 

Page 152



 2 

4. Basis of Opinion 
 
4.1 The opinion and the level of assurance given takes into account: 
 

 All audit work completed during 2024/25, planned and unplanned; 

 Follow up of actions from previous audits; 

 Management’s response to the findings and recommendations; 

 Ongoing advice and liaison with management, including regular attendance by the Chief 
Internal Auditor and Audit Managers at organisational meetings relating to risk, 
governance and internal control matters; 

 Effects of significant changes in the Council’s systems; 

 The extent of resources available to deliver the audit plan; and 

 Quality of the internal audit service’s performance. 
 
4.2 No limitations have been placed on the scope of Internal Audit during 2024/25. 
 
5. Key Internal Audit Issues for 2024/25 
 
5.1 The overall audit opinion should be read in conjunction with the key issues set out in 
the following paragraphs. These issues, and the overall opinion, will be taken into account 
when preparing and approving the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 
 
5.2 The internal audit plan is delivered each year through a combination of formal reviews 
with standard audit opinions, direct support for projects and new system initiatives, 
investigations, grant audits and ad hoc advice. The following graph provides a summary of the 
outcomes from all audits finalised over the past three years: 
 

Audit Opinions 
 

  
 
*Not Applicable: Includes grant certifications and audit reports where we did not give a specific 
audit opinion. Typically, this tends to be proactive advice and support activity where, due to 
the advisory nature of the audit work, provision of formal assurance-based opinions is not 
appropriate. 
 
5.3 A full listing of all 2024/25 completed audits and opinions for the year is included at 
Appendix B. The status of all planned audits in progress but not completed to final report by 
year-end is shown in Appendix C.   

Page 153



 3 

5.4 As stated above, we are pleased to report that there were no minimal assurance audit 
opinions issued and only two received partial assurance (both of which have been reported 
previously within our quarterly progress reports) as follows: 
 

 Vehicle Use Follow Up 

 Frant Church of England Primary School 
 

5.5 Whilst actions arising from these reviews will be followed up by Internal Audit, either 
through specific reviews or via established action tracking arrangements, it is important that 
management take prompt action to secure the necessary improvements in internal control.  
 
5.6 Eleven follow-up audits were completed during 2024/25. All but one of these (Vehicle 
Use) resulted in an improved opinion of reasonable or substantial assurance.  
 

Key Financial Systems 
 
5.7 Given the substantial values involved, each year a significant proportion of our time is 
spent reviewing the Council’s key financial systems, both corporate and departmental. Of 
those audits completed during 2024/25, all resulted in either substantial or reasonable 
assurance opinions. It should be noted, however, that the audits of Procure to Pay and 
LCS/Controcc, due to be undertaken across quarters three and four, were cancelled due to 
the continued pressures on staff involved in the implementation of Oracle and the need for us 
to focus on assurance arrangements relating to this. Full audits of all key financial systems, 
the majority of which will be Oracle based, will be undertaken in 2025/26 in accordance with 
the agreed annual audit plan. 
 

Other Internal Audit Activity  
 
5.8 During 2024/25, Internal Audit has continued to provide advice, support and 
independent challenge to the organisation on risk, governance and internal control matters 
across a range of areas. These include:  
 

 Oracle implementation (where we reviewed arrangements relating to several areas 
associated with the implementation, including programme governance and risk 
management, key controls relating to key financial systems, testing arrangements, 
integrations, system security and administration, data cleansing and migration, and 
business continuity); 

 SAP Support Team costs; 

 New declaration of interest system; and  

 Transition of the Local Enterprise Partnership. 
 
And attendance at, and support to: 

 

 Oracle Programme Board 

 Statutory Officers’ Group 

 Finance Management Team 

 Departmental Management Teams 

 BSD Business Partners Group 

 Pension Board and Pension Committee 

 Joint Service Schools Risk Review Group 
 

5.9 As well as actively contributing to, and advising these groups, we utilise the intelligence 
gained from the discussions to inform our own current and future work programmes to help 
ensure our work continues to focus on the most important risk areas. 
 
 

Page 154



 4 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
 
5.10 During the year, the Internal Audit Counter Fraud Team continued to deliver both 
reactive and proactive fraud services across the organisation. Details of all counter fraud and 
investigatory activity, both proactive and reactive, have been summarised within our quarterly 
progress reports and a separate Counter Fraud Annual Report will be presented alongside 
this annual report. Where relevant, the outcomes from this work have also been used to inform 
our annual internal audit opinion and future audit plans. 
 

Amendments to the Audit Plan 
 
5.11 In accordance with proper professional practice, the Internal Audit plan for the year 
was kept under regular review to ensure that the service continued to focus its resources in 
the highest priority areas based on an assessment of risk. All audits added to, and removed 
from, the plan are provided in Appendix D.  
 
6. Internal Audit Performance 
 
6.1 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), replaced on 1 April 2025 by new 
Global Internal Audit Standards (GIAS), required the internal audit service to be reviewed 
annually against the Standards, supplemented with a full and independent external 
assessment at least every five years. The following paragraphs provide a summary of our 
performance during 2024/25, including the results of our latest independent PSIAS 
assessment, an update on our Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and the year 
end results against our agreed targets. 
 
6.2 Over the course of the year, we have continued to receive positive feedback on a range 
of completed audit assignments from management. The following ‘word-cloud’ identifies some 
of the key, positive phrases used to describe our service and that contributed to a 98% 
satisfaction rate being recorded in the year: 
 

 
 

PSIAS 
 
6.3 The Standards cover the following aspects of internal audit, all of which were 
independently assessed during late 2022 by the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors: 
 

 Purpose, authority and responsibility;  

 Independence and objectivity; 

 Proficiency and due professional care;  

 Quality assurance and improvement programme;  

Page 155



 5 

 Managing the internal audit activity;  

 Nature of work; 

 Engagement planning;  

 Performing the engagement;  

 Communicating results; 

 Monitoring progress; and 

 Communicating the acceptance of risks.  
 

6.4 As reported to Audit Committee in March 2023, Orbis Internal Audit was assessed as 
achieving the highest level of conformance available against professional standards, with no 
areas of non-compliance identified. Our most recent self-assessment against the standards in 
2023 found that this continued, with only minor areas for improvement identified. Work is 
currently underway to complete an updated self-assessment against the new global standards 
which will be reported to Committee in 2025/26.  
 

Key Service Targets 
 
6.5 Performance against our previously agreed service targets is set out in Appendix A.  
Overall, client satisfaction levels remain high, demonstrated through the results of our post 
audit questionnaires, discussions with key stakeholders throughout the year through service 
liaison and annual consultation meetings with senior officers.  
 
6.6 All high priority actions agreed with management as part of individual audit reviews are 
subject to action tracking, whereby we seek written confirmation from services that these have 
been implemented. As at the end of the year, it was confirmed that 14/15 (93.3%) of the high-
risk actions due to be implemented on a 12-month rolling basis had been actioned. The one 
outstanding action, relating to the need to introduce a declaration to the staff loan application 
process that requires staff to confirm that they have considered the affordability of the loan, 
has not yet been implemented. A revised implementation date has subsequently been agreed.  
 
6.7 Internal Audit will continue to liaise with the Council’s external auditors (Grant 
Thornton) to ensure that the Council obtains maximum value from the combined audit 
resources available. 
 
6.8 In addition to this annual summary, the Corporate Management Team (CMT) and the 
Audit Committee will continue to receive performance information on Internal Audit throughout 
the year as part of our quarterly progress reports and corporate performance monitoring 
arrangements. 
 

Page 156



 6 

Appendix A 

Internal Audit Performance Indicators 2024/25 
 

Aspect of 
Service 

Orbis IA 
Performance 

Indicator 

Target RAG 
Score 

Actual 
Performance 

Quality 
 

Annual Audit Plan 
agreed by Audit 
Committee 

By end 
April 

G 2025/26 Internal Audit 
Strategy and Plan 
formally approved by 
Audit Committee 28 
March 2025 

Annual Audit Report 
and Opinion 
 

By end 
July 

G 2023/24 Annual Report 
and Opinion presented 
to Audit Committee 5 
July 2024 

Customer 
Satisfaction Levels 

90% 
satisfied 
 

G 98% 

Productivity 
and Process 
Efficiency 

Audit Plan – 
completion to draft 
report stage 
 

90% G 95% 

 Percentage of audit 
plan days delivered 
 

90% G 101% 

Compliance 
with 
Professional 
Standards 

Public Sector 
Internal Audit 
Standards 

Conforms G 
 

Dec 2022 - External 
Quality Assurance 
completed by the 
Institute of Internal 
Auditors (IIA). Orbis 
Internal Audit assessed 
as achieving the highest 
level of conformance 
available against 
professional standards 
with no areas of non-
compliance identified, 
and therefore no formal 
recommendations for 
improvement arising. In 
summary the service 
was assessed as: 
• Excellent in: 
Reflection of the 
Standards 
Focus on performance, 
risk and adding value 
• Good in: 
Operating with efficiency 
Quality Assurance and 
Improvement 
Programme 
• Satisfactory in: 
Coordinating and 
maximising assurance 

Page 157



 7 

Aspect of 
Service 

Orbis IA 
Performance 

Indicator 

Target RAG 
Score 

Actual 
Performance 

November 2023 - 
Updated self-
assessment against the 
Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 
completed, the service 
was found to be fully 
complying with 319 of 
the standards and 
partially complying with 
2 of the standards, in 
both cases proportionate 
arrangements remain in 
place.  
  
November 2023 - 
Quality Review 
exercised completed, no 
major areas of non-
conformance identified.  
The need to ensure 
consistency in the 
quality of the evidence 
contained within a small 
number of audit working 
papers was identified; 
this will be addressed at 
auditor development 
days during 2024/25.  
 

 Relevant legislation 
such as the Police 
and Criminal 
Evidence Act, 
Criminal Procedures 
and Investigations 
Act  

Conforms G 
 

No evidence of non-
compliance identified. 

Outcome 
and degree 
of influence 

Implementation of 
management actions 
agreed in response 
to audit findings 

97% for 
high 
priority 
agreed 
actions 

A 93.3% - see 6.6 above. 

Our staff Professionally 
Qualified/Accredited 
 
 

80% G 90%2 

 
 

  

                                            
2 Includes part-qualified staff and those undertaking professional training 

Page 158



 8 

Appendix B 
 
Summary of opinions for Internal Audit final reports issued during 2024/25  
 
Substantial Assurance: 
(Explanation of assurance levels provided at the bottom of this document) 
 

Audit Title Department 

Pension Fund - Cash Management 23/24 BSD 

Pension Fund - Investments and Accounting 23/24 BSD 

Pension Fund - Financial Controls 24/25 BSD 

Pension Fund - Administration of Benefits 24/25 BSD 

Alfriston School Follow-Up CSD 

Supplier Failure Follow-Up Corporate 

Ukraine Funding Follow-Up ASC 

Contract Management Follow-Up Corporate 

Waivers to Procurement and Contract Standing Orders Corporate 

Microsoft Teams Governance BSD 

 
Reasonable Assurance: 
 

Audit Title Department 

Pension Fund – Administration of Pension Benefits 23/24 BSD 

Supplier Change Control and Release Management BSD 

Climate Change Follow-Up Corporate 

Adult Social Care Liquidlogic (LAS) and Controcc ASC 

ASC Debt Management and Recovery ASC 

Greenwood Establishment Review ASC 

Grangemead Establishment Review ASC 

Highways Maintenance Contract – Contract Management CET 

Contract Management Group Cultural Compliance Follow-Up CET 

Parking – Procurement and Management of External Service Providers CET 

Payroll BSD 

Accounts Receivable BSD 

Cyber Security Response and Resilience BSD 

Domestic Violence and Abuse Refuge Contract – Contract Management  ASC 

Health Visiting Contract – Contract Management ASC 

Registration Service CET 

Ashdown Primary School CSD 

Claverham Community College CSD 

Procurement Data Analytics Follow-Up Corporate 

Civica Property Management Application Controls Follow-Up BSD 

Civica Property Management Payment Controls BSD 

Health and Safety Compliance Property Management BSD 

Appointee and Deputyship Process Follow-Up ASC 

PAX (Passenger Transport System) Application Controls Audit CET 

St Richard’s Catholic College Follow-Up CSD 

IT Asset Records Management BSD 

Transition of Young People into Adult Social Care CSD/ASC 

 
Partial Assurance: 
 

Audit Title Department 

Frant Church of England Primary School CSD 

Vehicle Use Follow-Up CET 

Page 159



 9 

Minimal Assurance: 
 

Audit Title Department 

None  

 
Non-Opinion: 
 

Audit Title Department 

Oracle General Advice and Support Corporate 

Oracle Programme Governance and Risk Management Arrangements Corporate 

Oracle Key Financial Systems (Key Controls) Corporate 

Oracle Testing Arrangements Corporate 

Oracle Integrations Corporate 

Oracle System Security and Administration Corporate 

Oracle Data Cleansing and Migration Corporate 

Oracle Business Continuity Arrangements  Corporate 

SAP Support Costs BSD 

Supporting Families Grant (Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4) CSD 

Childcare Expansion Capital Grant CSD 

Local Authority Bus Subsidy Grant CET 

Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and 
Highways Maintenance) Grant 

CET 

New Declaration of Interests System Corporate 

Transition of Local Enterprise Partnership CET 

Traffic Signals and Green Light Fund CET 

Covid Outbreak Management Fund ASC 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



 10 

Appendix C 
2024/25 Audit Plan - Audits in Progress at Year-End  
 

Audit Title Planned/ 
Unplanned 

Department Status 

Home Care Contract Management Planned ASC Draft Report 

Surveillance Cameras Planned BSD Draft Report 

Home to School Transport Unplanned CSD/CET Draft Report 

Pension Fund – Investments and 
Accounting 

Planned BSD Audit 
Fieldwork 

Pension Fund – Compliance with 
Regulatory Requirements 

Planned BSD Audit 
Fieldwork 

Direct Payments Planned ASC Audit 
Fieldwork 

IT&D Project Management  Planned  BSD Audit 
Fieldwork 

Risk Management Planned Corporate Audit 
Fieldwork 

Mobile Phone Application Management Planned BSD Audit 
Fieldwork 

Emergency Planning Unplanned CET Audit 
Fieldwork 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 161



 11 

Appendix D 
Audits added to, and removed from, the plan during 2024/25  
 
Audits Added: 
 

Review Rationale for Addition 

Registration Service Identified as an area for review after the audit plan had 
been agreed (reported in our Q2 progress report). 

Declaration of Interest System 
Upgrade Project 

Advice on risk and control in relation to the upgraded 
declaration of interest system (reported in our Q3 
progress report). 

SAP Support Costs Requested by IT&D management to investigate the 
implications of removing the SAP security and access 
role (reported in our Q1 progress report). 

Civica Property Management 
(CPM) system - Payment 
Controls 

To review internal controls in the system following the 
identification of potential duplicate payments (reported in 
our Q3 progress report). 

Early Years Childcare 
Expansion Grant 

New grant requiring certification (reported in our Q1 
progress report). 

Home to School Transport Audit requested by the Corporate Management Team 
due to the continued financial challenge in this area. 
Currently at draft report stage. 

Traffic Signal Obsolescence 
and DfT Green Light Fund 

New grant requiring certification (reported in our Q3 
progress report). 

Oracle Programme 
Governance and Risk 
Management Arrangements 

To review programme governance and risk management 
arrangements (reported in our Q3 progress report). 

Oracle Procure to Pay  Assessment of the ‘to-be’ controls prior to the proposed 
Oracle go-live date of April 2025 (see Q4 progress report 
for summary of work completed in relation to Oracle). 

Oracle Accounts Receivable  As above. 

Oracle General Ledger  As above. 

Oracle HR Recruitment  As above. 

Oracle Testing Arrangements Assessment of the testing arrangements for Oracle 
implementation, prior to proposed go-live of April 2025 
(see Q4 progress report for summary of work completed 
in relation to Oracle). 

Oracle Interfaces and 
Reconciliation 

Assessment of the interfaces and reconciliation 
arrangements for Oracle implementation, prior to the 
proposed go-live of April 2025 (see Q4 progress report 
for summary of work completed in relation to Oracle). 

Oracle Data Cleansing and 
Migration 

Assessment of the data cleansing and migration 
arrangements for Oracle implementation, prior to the 
proposed Oracle go-live of April 2025 (see Q4 progress 
report for summary of work completed in relation to 
Oracle). 

Oracle System Security and 
Administration 

Assessment of the system security and administration 
arrangements for Oracle implementation, prior to the 
proposed Oracle go-live of April 2025 (see Q4 progress 
report for summary of work completed in relation to 
Oracle). 

Page 162



 12 

Review Rationale for Addition 

Oracle Business Continuity Assessment of the business continuity arrangements for 
Oracle implementation, prior to the proposed go-live of 
April 2025 (see Q4 progress report for summary of work 
completed in relation to Oracle). 

 
Audits Removed/Deferred:  
 

Review Rationale for Removing/Deferral 

Capital Budgetary Control In-year reduction in audit plan days to generate required 
budget savings, as reported in the quarter 2 progress 
report. 

Alternative Education 
Provision Commissioning for 
Children 

Cancelled due to delays (external factors) in transferring 
the Pupil Referral Unit (a key part of alternative 
education provision) to a new trust. The cancellation of 
this audit has contributed to the required budget savings 
above. 

Broadband Grant Cancelled as no grant certification required this year. 
The cancellation of this audit has contributed to the 
required budget savings above. 

Financial and Benefit 
Assessments 

Cancelled due to new process changes being 
implemented in this area. The cancellation of this audit 
has contributed to the required budget savings above. 

Accounts Payable (Procure to 
Pay) 

Started, but cancelled once it was proposed in late 2024 
that Phase 2 of Oracle would go-live April 2025, with 
significant pressures on staff involved in the 
implementation of Oracle. Audit resources diverted to 
Oracle pre-implementation audit work. 

Implementation of Impower 
Recommendations 

Audit resources diverted to Oracle pre-implementation 
work.  

Children’s Liquidlogic (LCS) 
and Controcc Systems 

Significant pressures on staff involved in the 
implementation of Oracle. Audit resources diverted to 
Oracle pre-implementation work. 

Organisational Response to 
Financial Challenges 

Replaced with Home to School Transport review (see 
table above). 

Volunteers Audit resources diverted to Oracle pre-implementation 
work. 

Accountable Body Status Audit resources diverted to Oracle pre-implementation 
work. 

Unaccompanied Asylum-
Seeking Children 

Audit resources diverted to Oracle pre-implementation 
work. 

Artificial Intelligence Audit resources diverted to Oracle pre-implementation 
work. 

External Funding Follow-Up Audit resources diverted to Oracle pre-implementation 
work. 

Supply Chain Cyber Security Audit resources diverted to Oracle pre-implementation 
work. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



 13 

Appendix E 
 
Audit Opinions and Definitions 

Opinion Definition 

Substantial 
Assurance 

Controls are in place and are operating as expected to manage key 
risks to the achievement of system or service objectives. 

Reasonable 
Assurance 

Most controls are in place and are operating as expected to manage 
key risks to the achievement of system or service objectives. 

Partial 
Assurance 

There are weaknesses in the system of control and/or the level of non-
compliance is such as to put the achievement of the system or service 
objectives at risk. 

Minimal 
Assurance 

Controls are generally weak or non-existent, leaving the system open to 
the risk of significant error or fraud.  There is a high risk to the ability of 
the system/service to meet its objectives. 

 
 

Page 164


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 24 June 2025
	5 Linden Court Day Service for people with a learning disability
	Appendix 1 - Linden Court Cabinet Papers 250225..
	Appendix 2 - People Scrutiny summary of comments for Cabinet 25022025.
	Appendix 3 - Report of the People Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix 4 - EqIA
	Appendix 5 - The Linden Court Community Appendix to submission made for May 20th 2025 Full Council meeting
	Appendix 6 - Linden Court Community alternative projected scheme and costs
	Appendix 7 - Linden Court Parent Carer Meeting Presentation 17 June 2025
	Slide 1: Agenda for the meeting
	Slide 2: Parent/Carer Survey 
	Slide 3: Questions/Discussion
	Slide 4: Financial Options – Family Proposal
	Slide 5: Financial Options
	Slide 6: Financial Options – Family proposal
	Slide 7: Questions / Discussion
	Slide 8: Alternative Day Opportunities
	Slide 9: Average Mileage single journey to Day Opportunities
	Slide 10
	Slide 11: Personal Assistants (PA’s)
	Slide 12: Other Provision
	Slide 13: Questions / Discussion
	Slide 14: Transport
	Slide 15: Questions / Discussion
	Slide 16: Consultation
	Slide 17: Potential Impact on Health and Care System
	Slide 18: Potential Impact on Health and Care System
	Slide 19: Education
	Slide 20: Questions / Discussion
	Slide 21: Next Steps


	6 Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2024/25
	Annex A - ESCC IA Annual Report and Opinion 2024-25 Final


